
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING • JANUARY 20, 2011 • Page 1 of 4 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE  
 

TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
 

2 NORTH MAIN STREET  
 

3rd FLOOR - CONFERENCE ROOM 
 

THURSDAY, JANUARY 20, 2011 
 

4:00 P.M. 
 

 WORKSHOP AGENDA 
 

1. Discuss, as may be needed, Regular Meeting agenda items for the meeting posted for 
Thursday, January 20, 2011. 
 

2. Discuss mowing right-of-ways. 
 

3. Discuss proposed amendment to the contract with Waste Management for the operation of the 
City’s landfill. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING • JANUARY 20, 2011 • Page 2 of 4 
 

 
5:00 P.M. 

 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 
2 NORTH MAIN STREET 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2ND FLOOR 
 

TEMPLE, TX 
 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
1. Invocation 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 
II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may sign up to do so prior to this meeting.  
Public comments will be received during this portion of the meeting.  Please limit comments to 3 
minutes.  No discussion or final action will be taken by the City Council. 
 
 
III. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
All items listed under this section, Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine by the City Council 
and may be enacted by one motion.  If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda at the request of any Councilmember and will be considered 
separately. 
 
3. Consider adopting a resolution approving the Consent Agenda items and the appropriate 

resolutions for each of the following: 
 
Minutes: 

  
(A) January 6, 2011 Special Called and Regular Meeting 
(B) January 7, 2011 Special Called Meeting 
 
Contracts, Leases & Bids 
 

 



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING • JANUARY 20, 2011 • Page 3 of 4 
 

(C) 2011-6221-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with 
Matous Construction of Belton for the Replacement of Mixed Media in Filters #7 and #8 
at the Water Treatment Plant in the amount of $110,200. 

 
(D) 2011-6222-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with 

TMI Coatings, Inc., of St. Paul, Minnesota, for the Water Treatment Plant Clarifier #4 
Rehabilitation Project, which includes painting, repair, and rehabilitation of one of the 
main clarifiers at the Water Treatment Plant in the amount of $89,750. 

 
(E) 2011-6223-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of three (3) 

replacement Sideloading Refuse Trucks from Temple Freightliner in the amount of 
$550,209. 

 
(F) 2011-6224-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing approval of a professional 

services agreement with BSP Engineers, Inc. (Beach-Sulak Partnership) for engineering 
services for the Safe Routes to School Projects in amounts not to exceed $90,100 
(Lakewood Elementary) and $87,400 (Bonham Middle School). 

 
 
Ordinances – Second and Final Reading 
 
(G) 2011-4419: SECOND READING – Consider adopting an ordinance amending the City 

of Temple Code of Ordinances, Chapter 7, “Buildings”, to reflect changes to the 
definition of a “health hazard” as it relates to irrigation systems, and adding new 
language to Section 7-84 of the International Plumbing Code exempting certain 
irrigation systems from annual testing.   

 
  

Misc. 
 
(H) 2011-6225-R: Consider adopting a resolution accepting the annual Child Care 

Standards report from the Parks and Leisure Services Department.   
 
(I) 2011-6226-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal 

year 2010-2011. 
 
V. REGULAR AGENDA 
 
 
ORDINANCES 
 
 
4. 2011-4420: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-08:  Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a zoning change from multiple zoning district classifications to Temple 
Medical and Education District (TMED) zones being T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-h, SD-v and SD-
c on approximately 849+/- acres.   

 
5. 2011-4421: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-09: Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a Conditional Use Permit allowing minor vehicle servicing on Lot 5, 
Block 1, Bird Creek Crossing Subdivision, at 3450 South General Bruce Drive.   

 



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING • JANUARY 20, 2011 • Page 4 of 4 
 

6. 2011-4422: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-10: Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing an amendment to Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from Planned Development 
Single Family One District (PD-SF1) to Planned Development General Retail District (PD-GR) 
for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition. 

 
7. 2011-4423: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Consider adopting an ordinance 

amending the City’s Economic Development Policy ordinance to authorize the City Manager to 
execute certain types of Chapter 380 agreements in any of the City’s Strategic Investment 
Zones. 

 
 
BOND ITEMS 
 
8. 2011-4424: FIRST & FINAL READING-PUBLIC HEARING- Consideration and action with 

respect to an Ordinance authorizing the issuance of City of Temple, Texas General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2011; approving an Official Statement, a Paying Agent/Registrar 
Agreement, a Bond Purchase Agreement and an Escrow Agreement; Establishing the 
procedures for selling and delivering the bonds; and authorizing other matters relating to the 
bonds. 

 
BOARD APPOINTMENTS
 
9. 2011-6227-R: Consider adopting a resolution appointing one member to the Planning and 

Zoning Commission to fill an unexpired term through September 1, 2011. 
 
  
 

The City Council reserves the right to discuss any items in executive (closed) session 
Whenever permitted by the Texas Open Meetings Act. 

 
I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of this Notice of Meeting was posted in a public place at  
10:00 AM, on January 14, 2010. 
 

 
 
I certify that this Notice of Meeting Agenda was removed by me from the outside bulletin board in front of the City 
Municipal Building at _________on the _________day of __________2011. _______________ 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item # 3(A)-(B) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Clydette Entzminger, City Secretary   
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Approve Minutes: 
 

(A) January 6, 2011 Special Called and Regular Meeting 
(B) January 7, 2011 Special Called Meeting 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve minutes as presented in item description. 
 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Copies of minutes are enclosed for Council review. 
 
 
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
January 6, 2011 Special Called and Regular Meeting 
January 7, 2011 Special Called Meeting 
 

 



TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL  
  

JANUARY 6, 2011  
  

The City Council of the City of Temple, Texas conducted a Special Meeting on Thursday, 
January 6, 2011, at 2:30 P.M., in the Conference Room, 2nd Floor, New Central Fire 
Station, 210 North 3rd Street. 
 
Present:  
 
Councilmember Danny Dunn 
Councilmember Marty Janczak 
Mayor Pro Tem Patsy E. Luna 
Councilmember Russell Schneider 
Mayor William A. Jones, III  
 

 
Regular agenda item #5 - Service plan for possible annexation area: David 
Blackburn, City Manager, reminded Council no action is required for this item.  The 
second public hearing will take tomorrow morning, 8:00 a.m., City Council Chambers.   
 

 
Mayor Jones stated the Council would enter into executive session at this time, 
approximately 2:45 p.m., with no action to be taken.  
 
Mayor Jones adjourned the executive session at approximately 4:00 p.m. to allow the 
City Council to participate in the Ribbon Cutting Ceremony and tour the New Central 
Fire Station and Administrative Offices.   
 

The City Council of the City of Temple, Texas conducted a Regular Meeting on Thursday, 
January 6, 2011 at 5:00 PM in the Council Chambers, Municipal Building, 2nd Floor, 2 
North Main Street.   
 
Present:  

 

 

 
Rev. Shelton Rhodes, Greater Zion Church of God in Christ, voiced the 
Invocation.  

1. Discuss, as may be needed, Regular Meeting agenda items for the meeting 
posted for Thursday, January 6, 2011.  

2. Executive Session:  Chapter 551, Government Code, §551.074 - Personnel 
Matter - The City Council will meet in executive session to discuss the
employment, evaluation, duties and work plan of the City Manager.  No final 
action will be taken.  

Councilmember Marty Janczak  
Mayor Pro Tem Patsy E. Luna  
Councilmember Russell Schneider  
Mayor William A. Jones, III  
Councilmember Danny Dunn  

I. CALL TO ORDER 

1. Invocation

City Council

Page 1 of 6



 

 
Fire Chief Lonzo Wallace led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 

 
There were no public comments made at this meeting.  
 

 

 
(A) December 16, 2010 Special Called and Regular Meeting  
 
(B) 2011-6212-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a contract 
with Controls International of Dallas for the replacement of lagoon 
actuators at the Conventional Water Treatment Plant in the amount of 
$44,250.  
 
(C) 2011-6213-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase 
of 30 upgrade telemetry chips and repair parts for Self-Contained 
Breathing Apparatus (SCBA) from Casco Industries, Inc. of Shreveport, 
Louisiana, the sole source provider, for the total amount of $28,857.  
 
(D) 2011-6214-R: Consider adopting a resolution approving a farm lease 
with Albert Brenek for approximately 40 acres located to the west of 
Hilliard Road.  
 
(E) 2011-6215-R: Consider adopting a resolution approving a farm lease 
with Ray Davis for approximately 170 acres at Pegasus Drive and Moores 
Mill Road.  
 
(F) Consider adopting a resolution approving the following farm leases 
with Carl Grisham:  
 

 

 
(G) 2011-6218-R: Consider adopting a resolution approving a farm lease 
with Monique Rincones for approximately 3.7 acres at the southeast 
corner of the Service Center property on East Avenue H.  
 
(H) 2010-4415: SECOND READING - Z-FY-11-13: Consider adopting an 
ordinance amending Ordinance No. 2010-4413, the City of Temple Unified 
Development Code, to amend Article 2; Development Review Bodies, to 
establish the TMED Review Committee; amend Article 3, Development 
Review Procedures, to establish the TMED Site Plan Review procedure; 
amend Article 6, Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts, to 

2. Pledge of Allegiance

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

III. CONSENT AGENDA

3. Consider adopting a resolution approving the Consent Agenda items and
the appropriate resolutions for each of the following:  

1. 2011-6216-R: 164 acres located on Old Howard Road, and

2. 2011-6217-R: 191 acres located at McLane Blvd and Old Howard 
Road.  

City Council

Page 2 of 6



establish Section 6.3 TMED, Temple Medical and Education Districts; and 
amend Article 11, Definitions, to add applicable definitions for the TMED 
zoning district.  
 
(I) 1. 2010-4416: SECOND READING - Consider adopting an ordinance 
designating a certain area as City of Temple Tax Abatement Reinvestment 
Zone Number Seventeen for commercial/industrial tax abatement.  
 

 
(J) 1.  2010-4417: SECOND READING - Consider adopting an ordinance 
designating North 3rd Street Strategic Investment Zone as Tax Abatement 
Reinvestment Zone Numbers Eighteen and Nineteen for 
Commercial/Industrial Tax Abatement and authorizing a number of other 
SIZ economic development incentives for property redevelopment.  
 

 
(K) 2011-6220-R: P-FY-11-06: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing 
the Final Plat for Hicks-Milligan Estates, a 2.97± acre, three-lot residential 
subdivision on the west side of Bendle Road, north of Luther Curtis Road 
in Temple’s northern ETJ with developer requested exceptions to Sec. 
8.2.7.E of the Unified Development Code requiring hydrants to comply 
with the City’s Fire Code and Sec. 8.3.2 of the Unified Development Code 
requiring a payment of $225 per dwelling unit in lieu of park land 
dedication.  
 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Patsy E. Luna to adopt resolution approving the 
Consent Agenda, seconded by Councilmember Marty Janczak. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

 
ORDINANCES  
 

 
Nicole Torralva, Director of Public Works, presented this item to the City 

2. 2011-6219-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a tax 
abatement agreement with Fikes Wholesale, Inc., for a tract of 
land located at 6261 Central Pointe Parkway.  

2. 2010-4418: SECOND READING - Consider adopting an 
ordinance amending the City’s Economic Development Policy 
ordinance to establish new criteria and guidelines for tax 
abatement in the North 3rd Street Strategic Investment Zone to 
promote local economic development and to stimulate 
business and commercial activity.  

IV. REGULAR AGENDA

4. 2011-4419: FIRST READING - PUBLIC HEARING - Consider adopting 
an ordinance amending the City of Temple Code of Ordinances,
Chapter 7, "Buildings", to reflect changes to the definition of a
"health hazard" as it relates to irrigation systems, and adding new
language to Section 7-84 of the International Plumbing Code
exempting certain irrigation systems from annual testing.  

City Council

Page 3 of 6



Council.  This is a proposed modification to the City’s existing landscape 
irrigation ordinance.  When the existing ordinance was adopted in 2008, 
the City defined all irrigation systems as health hazards.  This required the 
installation of RPZ’s (reduced pressure zone) or PVB’s (pressure vacuum 
breaker) devices on all new irrigation systems, as well as annual 
inspections.  Mrs. Torralva showed photos of these devices.  This 
amendment will modify the definition of a health hazard to be irrigation 
systems that utilize chemicals or are served by a septic system.  This 
action would reduce the number of systems that require annual 
inspections but still maintain the annual testing requirement for defined 
health hazard systems.   
 
Councilmember Janczak asked how many instances have been recorded 
of groundwater going back into our water system.   
 
Mrs. Torralva stated she is aware of no specific instances but it could have 
a widespread potential.   
 
Councilmember Janczak asked how many existing systems have injection 
capability. 
 
Mrs. Torralva replied an inventory of systems is currently underway but 
they estimate there are between 8,000 and 10,000 irrigation systems, with 
only a very small number that are chemical fed. This modification is 
proposed by staff but the original requirement for these types of devices 
was initiated by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.  
 
Mayor Jones declared the public hearing open with regard to agenda item 
4 and asked if anyone wished to address this item.   
 
There being no comments, Mayor Jones closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion by Councilmember Danny Dunn to adopt ordinance, with second 
reading and final adoption set for January 20, 2011, seconded by 
Councilmember Russell Schneider. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 

 
Brian Mabry, Planning Director, presented this item to the City Council.  
The second public hearing will be conducted January 7th, 8:00 a.m., in the 
City Council Chambers.  The property is located west of the existing city 
limits, has no residents, and includes a portion of Lake Belton and Corps 
of Engineers property. The City would gain platting review authority for 
non-Federal land in the new ETJ area.  There will be no impact on the 

5. PUBLIC HEARING - Receive Municipal Service Plan and conduct a 
public hearing to receive comments on the possible annexation of
approximately 3,394.9 acres located in the City’s western 
extraterritorial jurisdiction including a portion of Lake Belton and
surrounding property.  

City Council

Page 4 of 6



U.S. Corps of Engineers or Fort Hood property operations if this 
annexation is approved. 
 
Mr. Mabry showed a map of the property proposed for annexation.  The 
municipal service plan was presented and will become part of the 
ordinance that approves the annexation.  There will be no change in 
service providers for police, fire or other public services. There is no 
proposal to extend or upgrade water or wastewater services or any other 
new physical facilities to serve this property. Following tomorrow’s public 
hearing, the first reading of the ordinance will occur on February 2, 8:00 
a.m., with second and final reading on February 3, 5:00 p.m.   
 
Mayor Jones declared the public hearing open with regard to agenda item 
5 and asked if anyone wished to address this item.   
 
Mr. Mark McCarley, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, stated they have 
worked with the City of Temple in past annexations to the benefit of all.  
Part of Temple Lake Park is currently outside the City of Temple and this 
annexation would eliminate that confusion.  There has been some concern 
expressed about annexation of property that abuts Fort Hood property.  
Fort Hood has permits to use Corps property adjacent to Fort Hood for 
training purposes.  There has been some question about whether these 
activities will be able to continue if the property is annexed by the City of 
Temple.   
 
City Manager David Blackburn stated he has had discussions with both 
the Corps of Engineers and Fort Hood personnel.  The City is very 
sensitive to concerns raised by all.  Nothing is being proposed with this 
annexation that will modify the current arrangements and activities on this 
property.  Mr. Blackburn indicated he would be meeting with both parties 
to reiterate these comments. 
 
Sgt. C.J. Grisham addressed the Council, asking questions about the 
reason for the annexation and the cost associated with this proposed 
action.  
 
Mr. Blackburn stated these questions will be addressed over the coming 
weeks.  The area will not require any municipal services so there will be a 
very low or no cost for annexing this property.  The main reason to annex 
property in this area is because of the long term strategic value to the City 
for areas in our extraterritorial jurisdiction, primarily areas to the north and 
west of Temple Lake Park.  Bringing all of the property around Temple 
Lake Park into the City will help eliminate any possible confusion.     
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Jones declared the public 
hearing closed, stating no action is required for this item. 
 

 
________________________ 
 
William A. Jones, III, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

City Council

Page 5 of 6



                                               

  

 
____________________
 
Clydette Entzminger  
City Secretary  

 

City Council

Page 6 of 6



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL  
  

JANUARY 7, 2011  
 
 
The City Council of the City of Temple, Texas conducted a Special Meeting on Friday, 
January 7, 2011, at 8:00 a.m. in the Council Chambers, Municipal Building, 2nd Floor, 2 
North Main Street.  
 
Present:  

 

 

 
Councilmember Russell Schneider voiced the Invocation.  
 

 
Mayor Jones led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 

 

 
Brian Mabry, Planning Director, made himself available to present the municipal 
service plan or answer questions from the Council. 
 
Councilmember Schneider asked to see a map showing Temple’s ETJ if the 
proposed annexation is approved. 
 
Maps were displayed of both the current ETJ and the proposed ETJ if 
the annexation is approved.  The proposed annexation would bring in the 
remainder of Temple Lake Park. 
 
Mayor Jones noted this annexation would also close the gap and leave only a 
very small portion not encompassed by ETJ. 
 
David Blackburn, City Manager, stated it is not a matter of "if" but "when" and by 
"whom" an area will be brought into someone’s ETJ.  This proposed annexation 
would bring into Temple’s ETJ areas north and west that are strategic for the 
City’s long term growth management strategy.  
 
Mayor Jones declared the public hearing open with regard to agenda item 3 and 

Councilmember Marty Janczak  
Councilmember Tony Jeter  
Mayor William A. Jones, III  
Mayor Pro Tem Patsy E. Luna  
Councilmember Russell Schneider  

I. CALL TO ORDER 

1. Invocation

2. Pledge of Allegiance

II. PUBLIC HEARINGS

3. PUBLIC HEARING - Receive Municipal Service Plan and conduct a public 
hearing to receive comments on the possible annexation of approximately
3,394.9 acres located in the City’s western extraterritorial jurisdiction 
including a portion of Lake Belton and surrounding property.  

Special Meetings

Page 1 of 2



asked if anyone wished to address this item.   
 
There being no comments, Mayor Jones closed the public hearing. 
 

                                               

  

 
________________________ 
 
William A. Jones, III, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 
____________________
 
Clydette Entzminger  
City Secretary  

 

Special Meetings

Page 2 of 2



 
 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(C) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Director of Public Works 
Johnnie Reisner Superintendent of Water Production Services 
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with Matous 
Construction of Belton for the Replacement of Mixed Media in Filters #7 and #8 at the Water Treatment 
Plant in the amount of $110,200. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Treatment processes at the Conventional Water Treatment Plant include eight 
filters, whose primary purpose is to filter the water after it is processed by the clarifiers, and before it 
is disinfected and placed into the clearwells for distribution.  Two of these existing filters (#7 and #8) 
are in need of media replacement.  This project will provide for the removal and replacement of 18” of 
anthracite coal and 12” of silica sand.  Media replacement will restore the co-efficiency of the media 
and provide for more effective operations of the filters, thereby removing suspended particulates and 
meeting established TCEQ requirements.  
 
On January 11, 2011, three (3) bids were received.  Matous Construction submitted the low bid on 
the project, in the amount of $110,200.  Staff recommends award of this project to the low bidder, 
Matous Construction, in the amount of $110,200. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding in the amount of $120,000 is appropriated in account 520-5100-535-63-
10, project #100662 for fiscal year 2010-2011, for replacement of media in these two filters. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Bid Tabulation 
Resolution 
 

 

 



Tabulation of Bids Received
on January 11, 20110 at 10:00 a.m.
Replacement of Mixed Media Filters

Bidders
J.S. Haren Company Eagle-SWS Matous Construction 

Athens, TN Panama City Beach, FL Belton, TX
Description

Total Bid Price $111,000.00 $174,955.00 $110,200.00
Completion within 30 days Yes Yes Yes
Exceptions No Yes No
Local Preference No No Yes
Bid Bond (required at bid opening) 5% 10% 5%

Insurance Affidavit Yes Yes Yes
Bond Affidavit Yes Yes Yes
Credit Check Authorization Yes No Yes

I hereby certify that this is a correct and true tabulation of all bids received.

Belinda Mattke 11-Jan-11
Belinda Mattke, Director of Purchasing Date



RESOLUTION NO. ___________________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT WITH MATOUS CONSTRUCTION OF BELTON, 
TEXAS, FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF MIXED MEDIA IN 
FILTERS #7 AND #8 AT THE WATER TREATMENT PLANT, IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $110,200; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, on January 11, 2011, the City received 3 bids for the replacement of 
mixed media in Filters #7 and #8 at the Water Treatment Plant; 
 
 Whereas, the Staff recommends accepting a bid ($110,200) submitted by 
Matous Construction of Belton, Texas; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for this project in Account No. 520-5100-535-
6310, Project #100662; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to 
execute a construction contract, in the amount of $110,200, with Matous Construction 
of Belton, Texas, after approval as to form by the City Attorney, for the replacement 
of mixed media in Filters #7 and #8 at the Water Treatment Plant. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 
this Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of  
the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2011. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              

    WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
              
Clydette Entzminger    Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(D) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Director of Public Works 
Johnnie Reisner Superintendent of Water Production Services 
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with TMI 
Coatings, Inc., of St. Paul, Minnesota, for the Water Treatment Plant Clarifier #4 Rehabilitation Project, 
which includes painting, repair, and rehabilitation of one of the main clarifiers at the Water Treatment 
Plant in the amount of $89,750. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Treatment processes at the Conventional Water Treatment Plant include four 
clarifiers, whose primary purpose is to mix, coagulate and settle solids from the raw water stream 
prior to filtration and disinfection.  Clarifier #4 is currently in need of rehabilitation and requires sand 
blasting of all metal surfaces, welding repairs of the structure, and replacement of bolts, as needed, 
prior to priming of the unit.  A final coat of paint and curing time is necessary in this type of 
application, as it is submerged while the unit is in operation.  Cleanup and disposal of sandblasting 
material will be hauled off site as a part of the work.  Each of these steps is necessary to assure the 
proper operation of this primary unit for the primary treatment of raw water, meeting TCEQ 
requirements. 
 
On January 11, 2011, three (3) bids were received.  TMI Coatings, Inc., submitted the low bid on the 
project, in the amount of $89,750.  Staff recommends award of this project to the low bidder, TMI 
Coatings, Inc., in the amount of $89,750. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding in the amount of $130,000 is appropriated in account 520-5100-535-63-
10, project #100662 for fiscal year 2010-2011, for the complete rehabilitation of Clarifier #4. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Bid Tabulation 
Resolution 

 



Tabulation of Bids Received
on January 11, 20110 at 10:00 a.m.

Rehabilitation of Clarifier #4

Bidders
TMI Coatings Inc J.S. Haren Company Matous Construction LTD
Saint Paul, MN Athens, TN Belton, TX

Description
Total Bid Price $89,750.00 $118,500.00 $121,800.00
Completion within 150 days Yes Yes Yes
Exceptions No No No
Local Preference No No Yes
Bid Bond (required at bid opening) 5% 5% 5%

Insurance Affidavit Yes Yes Yes
Bond Affidavit Yes Yes Yes
Credit Check Authorization Yes Yes Yes

I hereby certify that this is a correct and true tabulation of all bids received.

Belinda Mattke 11-Jan-11
Belinda Mattke, Director of Purchasing Date



RESOLUTION NO. ___________________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT WITH TMI COATINGS, INC., OF ST. PAUL, 
MINNESOTA, FOR THE WATER TREATMENT PLANT 
CLARIFIER #4 REHABILITATION PROJECT, WHICH INCLUDES 
PAINTING, REPAIR, AND REHABILITATION OF ONE OF THE 
MAIN CLARIFIERS AT THE WATER TREATMENT PLANT, IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $89,750; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, on January 11, 2011, the City received 3 bids for the Water 
Treatment Plant Clarifier #4 Rehabilitation Project, which includes painting, repair, 
and rehabilitation of one of the main clarifiers at the Water Treatment Plant; 
 
 Whereas, the Staff recommends accepting a bid ($89,750) submitted by TMI 
Coatings, Inc., of St. Paul, Minnesota, for this project; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for this project in Account No. 520-5100-535-
6310, Project #100662; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to 
execute a construction contract, in the amount of $89,750, with TMI Coatings, Inc., of 
St. Paul, Minnesota, after approval as to form by the City Attorney, for the Water 
Treatment Plant Clarifier #4 Rehabilitation Project, which includes painting, repair, 
and rehabilitation of one of the main clarifiers at the Water Treatment Plant. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 
this Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of  
the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2011. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              

    WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 



ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger    Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(E) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Director of Public Works 
Lisa Sebek, Superintendent of Solid Waste Services 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of three (3) 
replacement Sideloading Refuse Trucks from Temple Freightliner in the amount of $550,209. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  On November 23, 2010, the City received two (2) bids for purchasing three (3) 
replacement side loading residential refuse trucks.  The bids are shown on the attached tabulation 
sheet. 
 
Both bids were from Temple Freightliner.  Each bid is for a Freightliner cab & chassis, but with 
separate vendors for the packer body.  The low bid took exception to our specifications for the 
packing mechanism.  Our specifications called for “the packing mechanism shall be activated by two 
(2) single acting, single stage, 5-inch bore hydraulic cylinders mounted under the body and connected 
to the packing platen using 1-1/4 inch thick steel bars and 1-1/2 inch pins”.  The low bidder took 
exception in that their cylinders are mounted behind the packer rather than under the body, exposing 
the cylinders to everything that is being disposed of in the homeowner’s garbage, thereby increasing 
maintenance required and downtime.  To insure our knowledge and experience regarding these 
cylinders, the City’s Superintendent of Fleet Services made several calls to other cities and waste 
haulers who use similar equipment.  Though there was a mixed review of satisfaction, maintenance 
issues identified as a point of concern to our staff were also expressed by some of the other haulers, 
confirming our decision to not accept an exception to the specification regarding these trucks. 
 
The second bid took no exceptions to our specifications. 
 
The bid package also solicited prices for three (3) separate options, as follows: 

1) An additional 2-camera system with a 7” monitor; 
2) A Telma Driveline Brake Retarder System; and 
3) A Heavy Duty Overlay Package. 

 
The additional 2-camera system will provide capabilities to the driver to monitor container placement 
and any obstructions in the area.  The system will also assist in the event of any accident.  Existing 
trucks are already specified and equipped with a rear camera system for backing safety.  An 
additional 2 camera system (one for photographing from the front and one from the side) will enhance  

 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #3(E) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
route monitoring and safety and provide documentation in the event of an accident. 
 
The Telma Driveline Brake Retarder System will apply more evenly applied braking to the residential 
trucks, potentially eliminating up to 8 times the number of brake repairs made to life of the residential 
fleet.  This option, at a cost of $14,100 per truck, is fairly significant, and therefore staff recommends 
including this option on only one truck at this time, allowing for an evaluation of the effectiveness of 
the system. 
 
The Heavy Duty Overlay Package provides for heavier steel applied to the packer body floor, making 
the body more durable for a longer period of time.  Fleet Services has compiled documentation over 
the years related to replacement of floors in these vehicles, and the additional cost in securing the 
heavy duty overlay package up front ($6,450 for all trucks) will offset the cost of future floor 
replacements. 
 
The recommended purchase of these trucks, as described above, is as follows: 

• Base bid for the three (3) residential sideloading refuse trucks is $521,559 
• Additional 2-camera system option applied to all three (3) trucks will add $8,100  
• Heavy Duty Overlay Package option applied to all three (3) trucks will add $6,450 
• Telma Driveline Brake Retarder to one (1) of the three (3) trucks will add $14,100 

 
Total cost for the purchase of these three trucks, with options identified, is $550,209. 
 
The City has done business with Temple Freightliner in the past and finds them to be a responsible 
vendor. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Funding in the amount of $555,000 has been appropriated in the accounts listed 
below. 
 

Description Account # Budget Proposed 
Expenditure 

Machinery & 
Equipment 

110-5900-540-6222, 
project 100642 

110-2330-540-6222, 
project 100642 

             $506,600 
 
               $48,400 

             $501,809 
 
               $48,400 

TOTALS             $555,000              $550,209 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Bid Tabulation 
Resolution 

 



Tabulation of Bids Received
on November 23, 2010 at 2:30 p.m.

Sideloading Refuse Trucks

Bidders
Temple Freightliner (Heil body) Temple Freightliner (Bridgeport Body)

Temple Temple  
Description Qty Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price

Sideloading Refuse Trucks 3 $173,853.00 $521,559.00 $168,442.67 $505,328.01

 2 Camera with 7" Monitor 3 $2,700.00 $8,100.00

Telma Driveline Brake Retarder 3 $14,100.00 $42,300.00

Heavy Duty Overlay Package 3 $2,150.00 $6,450.00 $1,250.00 $3,750.00

Total Bid Price W/Options $578,409.00 $509,078.01

Delivery Yes Yes

Exceptions None Yes

Credit Check Authorization Yes Yes

I hereby certify that this is a correct and true tabulation of all bids received.

Belinda Mattke 23-Nov-10
Belinda Mattke, Director of Purchasing  Date

Note: Highlighted bid is recommended for Council's 
Approval 



 
RESOLUTION NO. _____________________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF 3 SIDE-LOADING REFUSE 
TRUCKS FROM TEMPLE FREIGHTLINER OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $550,209.00; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Whereas, on November 23, 2010, the City received 2 bids for the purchase of 3 side-
loading residential refuse trucks for the Solid Waste Department; 
 
 Whereas, the Staff recommends accepting the bid ($550,209.00) received from Temple 
Freightliner of Temple, Texas, for this purchase; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for this purchase in Account Nos. 110-5900-540-6222, 
project #100642, and 110-2330-540-6222, project # 100642; and  
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the purchase of 3 side-loading residential refuse 
trucks from Temple Freightliner of Temple, Texas, in the amount of $550,209.00, for the Solid 
Waste Department. 
 
 Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to execute any 
documents, after approval as to form by the City Attorney, that are necessary for this purchase. 
 
 Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2010. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              

    WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger     Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(F)  

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
 
Kim Foutz, Assistant City Manager   
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing approval of a professional services 
agreement with BSP Engineers, Inc. (Beach-Sulak Partnership) for engineering services for the Safe 
Routes to School Projects in amounts not to exceed $90,100 (Lakewood Elementary) and $87,400 
(Bonham Middle School). 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description.                              
 
ITEM SUMMARY: The City sought and received funding for Safe Routes to School Trails from the 
Texas Department of Transportation.  The Safe Routes to School Program is a 100% federally 
funded cost-reimbursement program, with no matching funds required, and managed by TxDOT.  The 
trails will be located at Lakewood Elementary School along FM 2305 from St. Andrews to FM 2271 
and Bonham Middle School along Midway Drive from Las Moras Drive to the school (see attached 
maps).   
 
Per requirements of the grant, a qualification solicitation process was required to procure these 
engineering services.  On November 16, 2010, six (6) firms submitted qualifications for this project.  A 
4-member staff evaluation committee was formed to evaluate the proposals.  It was the committee's 
unanimous recommendation to proceed with negotiations with the highest rated firm, BSP Engineers, 
Inc.  
 
The proposed resolution authorizes the City to engage the services of BSP Engineers (Beach-Sulak 
Partnership) for the completion of full design and construction services for both projects.  All services 
will be performed for a lump sum maximum professional fee not to exceed $90,100 for the trail at 
Lakewood Elementary and $87,400 for the trail at Bonham Middle School,  Consultant services 
authorized under this resolution include the following tasks (to include all TxDOT requirements): 
 

• Prepare Environmental Assessment Document (per NEPA) 
• Citizen Participation: Information Gathering 
• Topography Design Surveys and Base Control 
• Preparation of Construction Documents 
• Prepare SWPPP Plan 
• Construction Opinion of Probable Cost 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #3(F)  

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
• Project Implementation and Register with TDLR 
• Construction Administration 

o Pre-construction Meeting 
o Additional (3) Meetings as required for project coordination 
o Pay request Review and Certification 
o Preparation of Change Orders 
o Final Walk-through 

• Construction Staking 
o Calculation and Preparation of all Construction Layout points 
o Provide a one-time construction stake-out of improvements 

• On-Site Representation 
o Daily Inspections 
o Daily Construction Reports 
o Photos taken during the Construction Process 
o Pay Request Review and Quantity Verification 
o Construction Progress Meetings with Contractor as required 

 
Staff is recommending utilizing BSP Engineers to complete design and construction documents, 
provide project management services, and meet all necessary requirements, including surveys and 
studies, required by TxDOT. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: This contract is funded through the Safe Routes to School Program, which is a 
100% cost-reimbursement program. Funds are available in account 260-3400-531-63-15 with 
$602,070 available in project #100690 for the project at Lakewood Elementary and $604,779 
available in project #100691 for the project at Bonham Middle School. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:    
Proposal 
Maps 
Resolution 

 
 

  



15 West Central Avenue 
Temple, Texas  76501 
Phone: 254.774.9611 
Fax:     254.774.9676 

www.bspengineers.com 
 

 
 

 

 

© Copyright 2008 BSP Engineers, Inc. (dba Beach Sulak Partners) All rights reserved. 

 

January 10, 2011 
 
City of Temple     City of Temple 
Department of Public Works   Department of Parks and Leisure 
Kenny Henderson     Val Roming 
3210 E. Ave. H, Bldg. A    1909 Curtis B. Elliot Dr. 
Temple, TX  76501     Temple, TX 76503 
 
 
RE:  REVISED - City of Temple, 2010 Safe Routes to Schools Project, Lakewood  
             Elementary School and Bonham Middle School 
  
Dear Mr. Henderson, Mr. Roming, 
 
As per your request, we have prepared our professional services fee proposal for 
Engineering Services required for the above referenced project.  Scope of work to 
conform to the attached Proposed Safe Routes to Schools, Bonham Middle School 
and Lakewood Elementary School Layout:  

BASIC SERVICES (LAKEWOOD ELEMENTARY SRTS):  

The BASIC SERVICES shall include Professional Engineering and Survey Topography 
Surveys, as required to prepare the design and construction drawings, and all other 
information as required to supplement project Bid manual.   
 
We propose to complete all services within BASIC SERVICES for a lump sum 
maximum Professional Fee of $90,100.00 Lakewood Elementary School.  This 
amount shall be invoiced monthly based upon the percent complete through invoice 
date. 

- Prepare Environmental Assessment Document (per NEPA)  $  6,000.00 
- Citizen Participation: Information Gathering     $     500.00 
- Topography Design Surveys and Base Control    $11,500.00 
- Preparation of Construction Documents     $37,000.00 
- Prepare SWPPP Plan        $  1,000.00 
- Construction Opinion of Probable Cost     $  1,000.00 
- Project Implementation and Register with TDLR    $  6,800.00 
- Construction Administration       $  6,800.00  

 Pre-construction Meeting  
 Additional (3) Meetings as required for project coordination 



Professional Services Proposal for 
City of Temple, 2010 Safe Routes to Schools, Lakewood & Bonham Schools  Page 2 of 3 
 

 Pay request Review and Certification 
 Preparation of Change Orders 
 Final Walk-through 
 

- Construction Staking        $  7,800.00 
 Calculation and Preparation of all Construction Layout points 
 Provide a one-time construction stake-out of improvements 

 
 - On-Site Representation        $11,700.00 

 Daily Inspections (Estimated at 2 hours per day x 130 days) 
 Daily Construction Reports 
 Photos taken during the Construction Process 
 Pay Request Review and Quantity Verification 
 Construction Progress Meetings with Contractor as required  

 
BASIC SERVICES (BONHAM MIDDLE SCHOOL SRTS):  

The BASIC SERVICES shall include Professional Engineering and Survey Topography 
Surveys, as required to prepare the design and construction drawings, and all other 
information as required to supplement project Bid manual.   
 
We propose to complete all services within BASIC SERVICES for a lump sum 
maximum Professional Fee of $87,400.00 Bonham Middle School.  This amount 
shall be invoiced monthly based upon the percent complete through invoice date. 

- Prepare Environmental Assessment Document (per NEPA)  $  6,000.00 
- Citizen Participation: Information Gathering     $     500.00 
- Topography Design Surveys and Base Control    $11,200.00 
- Preparation of Construction Documents     $35,800.00 
- Preparation of SWPPP Plan       $  1,000.00 
- Construction Opinion of Probable Cost     $  1,000.00 
- Project Implementation and Register with TDLR    $  6,600.00 
- Construction Administration       $  6,600.00  

 Pre-construction Meeting  
 Additional (3) Meetings as required for project coordination 
 Pay request Review and Certification 
 Preparation of Change Orders 
 Final Walk-through 
 

- Construction Staking        $  7,400.00 
 Calculation and Preparation of all Construction Layout points 
 Provide a one-time construction stake-out of improvements 

 
 - On-Site Representation        $11,300.00 

 Daily Inspections (Estimated at 2 hours per day x 130 days) 
 Daily Construction Reports 
 Photos taken during the Construction Process 
 Pay Request Review and Quantity Verification 
 Construction Progress Meetings with Contractor as required  



Professional Services Proposal for 
City of Temple, 2010 Safe Routes to Schools, Lakewood & Bonham Schools  Page 3 of 3 
 

 
PROJECT DELIVERABLES: 

 (3) 30% Review Plans (11x17 Format) and Specifications 
 (3) 75% Review Plans (11x17 Format) and Specifications 
 (3) 95% Review Plans (11x17 Format) and Specifications 
 (3) Final Review Plans (11x17 Format) and Specifications 
 (25) – 100% Complete hardcopy sets 11x17 Contract Drawings and Specs 
 (1) – City Construction Plan Set (22x34 Format) 
 (1) Mylar set 11x17 
 Final Opinion of Probable Cost 
 Bid Exhibit including itemized Bid Items 
 Bid Tabulation including review and Contractor recommendation 
 Record Drawings prepared on Mylar and electronic files on CD 

 
PROJECT SCHEDULE:       Time Required   
 
Design Topography Survey    30 Cal Days 
Preparation of Documents (30% Complete)  30 Cal Days 
Preparation of Documents (75% Complete)  30 Cal Days 
Preparation of Documents (95% Complete)  20 Cal Days 
Preparation of Documents (Final Review)  15 Cal Days 
Final Approval of Plans and Specs by TxDOT  120 Cal Days** 
Contract Bidding Phase     30 Cal Days  
Construction Phase      130 Cal Days 
 
**The NEPA environmental review shall be complete and approved prior to the final 
acceptance by TxDOT.  
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES:  
 
(None Anticipated)  $ Hourly 
 
After you have had the opportunity to review this proposal, we will be pleased to 
meet with you to discuss the specifics of the outlined services and fees. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Anthony D. Beach, P.E.  
BSP Engineers, Inc. 
 
 



CITY OF TEMPLE

SPORTSMAN CLUB ROAD

WATER MAIN EXTENSION

W

E

S

T

 

A

D

A

M

S

LEGEND

PROPOSED SAFE

ROUTES

BELTON ISD

Lakewood Elementary School

Proposed Safe Routes

L

A

K

E

W

O

O

D

C

Y

P

R

E

S

S

 
S

P

R

I
N

G

S

W

A

T

E

R

F

O

R

D

 

D

R

I

V

E

F

A

I
R

F

I
E

L

D

 
C

O

U

R

T

P

A

R

K

D

A

L

E

 

D

R

I

V

E

S

T

.

ANDREW
S

F

M

 
2

2

7

1

LAKEWOOD

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL



B

O

N

H

A

M

 

A

V

E

.

M

I
D

W

A

Y

 
R

O

A

D

LEGEND

PROPOSED SAFE

ROUTES

TEMPLE ISD

Bonham Middle School

Proposed Safe Routes

P

E

C

A

N

 

A

L

L

E

Y

O

A

K

R

I
D

G

E

 
D

R

I
V

E

M

O

N

T

A

N

A

 
D

R

I
V

E

A

N

A

C

A

C

H

O

 
D

R

I
V

E

E

L

 
C

A

P

I
T

A

N

 
D

R

I
V

E

L

A

S

 
M

O

R

A

S

 
D

R

I
V

E

C

O

R

D

O

V

A

 
D

R

I
V

E

S

I
E

R

R

A

 
B

L
A

N

C

A

 
B

L
V

D

.

BONHAM

MIDDLE

SCHOOL



RESOLUTION NO. ________________________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH BSP ENGINEERS, INC., (BEACH-SULAK PARTNERSHIP) FOR 
ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR THE SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL 
PROJECTS IN AMOUNTS NOT TO EXCEED $90,100 (LAKEWOOD 
ELEMENTARY) AND $87,400 (BONHAM MIDDLE SCHOOL); AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the City sought and received funding for Safe Routes to School Trails from 
the Texas Department of Transportation – the Safe Routes to School Program is a 100% 
federally funded cost-reimbursement program, with no matching funds required and 
managed by TxDOT; 
 
 Whereas, per requirements of the grant, a qualification solicitation process was 
required to procure these engineering services – on November 16, 2010, 6 firms submitted 
qualifications for this project and were evaluated by a staff evaluation committee; 
 
 Whereas, the committee recommends entering into a professional services agreement 
with BSP Engineers, Inc. (Beach-Sulak Partnership) for the completion and full design and 
construction services for the Lakewood Elementary and the Bonham Middle School trail 
projects;  
 
 Whereas, the Lakewood Elementary project will not exceed $90,100 and the Bonham 
Middle School project will not exceed $87,400 – funds are available in Account No. 260-
3400-531-6315, project #100690 and #100691, for these projects; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to execute a 
professional services agreement with BSP Engineers, Inc., (Beach-Sulak Partnership), after 
approval as to form by the City Attorney, for engineering services for the Safe Routes to 
School Project, in amounts not to exceed $90,100 (Lakewood Elementary) and $87,400 
(Bonham Middle School). 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2011. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              

    WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 



ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger     Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(G)  

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, PE, Director of Public Works 
Jonathan Graham, City Attorney 
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   SECOND READING –  Consider adopting an ordinance amending the City of 
Temple Code of Ordinances, Chapter 7, “Buildings”, to reflect changes to the definition of a “health 
hazard” as it relates to irrigation systems, and adding new language to Section 7-84 of the 
International Plumbing Code exempting certain irrigation systems from annual testing.   
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt ordinance as presented in item description, on second and final 
reading. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: To protect potable water supply systems from contamination, the Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) requires that certain protections be placed upon 
various components of the water distribution system.  This particular ordinance modification relates to 
backflow devices required to be installed on irrigation systems. 
 
In December 2008, the TCEQ mandated that cities enact regulations addressing landscape irrigation 
systems.  At that time, the City of Temple adopted the current ordinance which defines all irrigation 
systems as health hazards, requiring installation of reduced pressure zone (RPZ) or pressure vacuum 
breaker (PVB) devices on all new irrigation systems.  These devices require that property owners 
have these devices inspected annually, with necessary paperwork submitted to the City for review 
and filing.  In this manner, City staff can ensure protection of the potable water supply through proper 
management activities. 
 
This ordinance modification redefines irrigation systems as health hazards that utilize chemicals or 
serve a property that is also served by a septic system.  Refinement of this definition will exclude 
irrigation systems that utilize potable water serving properties tied into the City’s wastewater 
collection system.  While installation of RPZ’s and PVB’s will still be required for all new irrigation 
systems, or systems undergoing major modifications, the number of irrigation systems that will 
require annual inspections will be greatly reduced.  Annual testing requirements remain in place for 
systems continuing to meet the definition of a defined health hazard (chemical feed or septic tank 
properties). 
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #3(G) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 
Staff recommends modification of this definition, as it will ease the financial burden to property 
owners of these lower hazard systems.  City staff reserves the right to perform inspections as 
necessary at any facility at any time to ensure that the potable water system is protected from 
contamination. 
 
A workshop presentation was presented for Council discussion on December 16, 2010.  The City 
Council is the final authority to approve language changes to ordinances. 
  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  No fiscal impact to City funds.  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Proposed Article VII – Landscape Irrigation Standards 
Proposed International Plumbing Code - Revisions 
Ordinance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ARTICLE VII. LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION STANDARDS 
 
Section 7-100. Definitions. 
 

The following words and terms, when used in this ordinance, have the following 
meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 
(1) Air gap--A complete physical separation between the free flowing discharge end of a 
potable water supply pipeline and an open or non-pressure receiving vessel. 
 
(2) Backflow prevention--The mechanical prevention of reverse flow, or back 
siphonage, of nonpotable water from an irrigation system into the potable water source. 
 
(3) Backflow prevention assembly--Any assembly used to prevent backflow into a 
potable water system. The type of assembly used is based on the existing or potential 
degree of health hazard and backflow condition. 
 
(4) Completion of irrigation system installation--When the landscape irrigation system 
has been installed, all minimum standards met, all tests performed, and the irrigator is 
satisfied that the system is operating correctly. 
 
(5) Consulting--The act of providing advice, guidance, review or recommendations 
related to landscape irrigation systems. 
 
(6) Cross-connection--An actual or potential connection between a potable water source 
and an irrigation system that may contain contaminates or pollutants or any source of 
water that has been treated to a lesser degree in the treatment process. 
 
(7) Design--The act of determining the various elements of a landscape irrigation system 
that will include, but not be limited to, elements such as collecting site specific 
information, defining the scope of the project, defining plant watering needs, selecting 
and laying out emission devices, locating system components, conducting hydraulics 
calculations, identifying any local regulatory requirements, or scheduling irrigation work 
at a site. Completion of the various components will result in an irrigation plan. 
 
(8) Design pressure--The pressure that is required for an emission device to operate 
properly. Design pressure is calculated by adding the operating pressure necessary at an 
emission device to the total of all pressure losses accumulated from an emission device to 
the water source. 
 
(9) Emission device--Any device that is contained within an irrigation system and that is 
used to apply water. Common emission devices in an irrigation system include, but are 
not limited to, spray and rotary sprinkler heads, and drip irrigation emitters. 
 
(10) Employed--Engaged or hired to provide consulting services or perform any activity 
relating to the sale, design, installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service to 
irrigation systems. A person is employed if that person is in an employer-employee 
relationship as defined by Internal Revenue Code, 26 United States Code Service, 



 

  

§3212(d) based on the behavioral control, financial control, and the type of relationship 
involved in performing employment related tasks. 
 
(11) Head-to-head spacing--The spacing of spray or rotary heads equal to the 
manufacturers published radius of the head.   
 
(12) Health hazard--A cross-connection or potential cross-connection with an irrigation 
system that involves any substancechemical additives that may, if introduced into the 
potable water supply, cause death or illness, spread disease, or have a high probability of 
causing such effects., or when irrigation system services property that is also served by an 
on-site sewage facility (septic system). 
 
(13) Hydraulics--The science of dynamic and static water; the mathematical computation 
of determining pressure losses and pressure requirements of an irrigation system. 
 
(14) Inspector--A licensed plumbing inspector, water district operator, other 
governmental entity, or irrigation inspector who inspects irrigation systems and performs 
other enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a 
contractor. 
 
(15(14) Installer--A person who actually connects an irrigation system to a private or 
public raw or potable water supply system or any water supply, who is licensed according 
to Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses 
and Registrations). 
 
(1615) Irrigation inspector--A person who inspects irrigation systems and performs 
other enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a 
contractor and is required to be licensed under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations). 
 
(1716) Irrigation plan--A scaled drawing of a landscape irrigation system which lists 
required information, the scope of the project, and represents the changes made in the 
installation of the irrigation system. 
 
(1817) Irrigation services--Selling, designing, installing, maintaining, altering, 
repairing, servicing, permitting, providing consulting services regarding, or connecting an 
irrigation system to a water supply. 
 
(1918) Irrigation system--An assembly of component parts that is permanently installed 
for the controlled distribution and conservation of water to irrigate any type of landscape 
vegetation in any location, and/or to reduce dust or control erosion. This term does not 
include a system that is used on or by an agricultural operation as defined by Texas 
Agricultural Code, §251.002. 
 
(2019) Irrigation technician--A person who works under the supervision of a licensed 
irrigator to install, maintain, alter, repair, service or supervise installation of an irrigation 
system, including the connection of such system in or to a private or public, raw or 

Formatted: Left, Add space between
paragraphs of the same style



 

  

potable water supply system or any water supply, and who is required to be licensed 
under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational 
Licenses and Registrations). 
 
(2120) Irrigation zone--A subdivision of an irrigation system with a matched 
precipitation rate based on plant material type (such as turf, shrubs, or trees), 
microclimate factors (such as sun/shade ratio), topographic features (such as slope) and 
soil conditions (such as sand, loam, clay, or combination) or for hydrological control. 
 
(2221) Irrigator--A person who sells, designs, offers consultations regarding, installs, 
maintains, alters, repairs, services or supervises the installation of an irrigation system, 
including the connection of such system to a private or public, raw or potable water 
supply system or any water supply, and who is required to be licensed under Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30. 
 
(23) Irrigator-in-Charge--The irrigator responsible for all irrigation work performed by 
an exempt business owner, including, but not limited to obtaining permits, developing 
design plans, supervising the work of other irrigators or irrigation technicians, and 
installing, selling, maintaining, altering, repairing, or servicing a landscape irrigation 
system. 
 
(24(22) Landscape Irrigation – The science of applying the necessary amount of 
water to promote or sustain healthy growth of plant material or turf. 
 
 (2523) License--An occupational license that is issued by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 to an 
individual that authorizes the individual to engage in an activity that is covered by Title 
30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30. 
 
(2624) Mainline--A pipe within an irrigation system that delivers water from the water 
source to the individual zone valves. 
 
(2725) Maintenance checklist--A document made available to the irrigation system's 
owner or owner's representative that contains information regarding the operation and 
maintenance of the irrigation system, including, but not limited to: checking and repairing 
the irrigation system, setting the automatic controller, checking the rain or moisture 
sensor, cleaning filters, pruning grass and plants away from irrigation emitters, using and 
operating the irrigation system, the precipitation rates of each irrigation zone within the 
system, any water conservation measures currently in effect from the water purveyor, the 
name of the water purveyor, a suggested seasonal or monthly watering schedule based on 
current evapotranspiration data for the geographic region, and the minimum water 
requirements for the plant material in each zone based on the soil type and plant material 
where the system is installed. 
 
(2826) Major maintenance, alteration, repair, or service--Any activity that involves 
opening to the atmosphere the irrigation main line at any point prior to the discharge side 
of any irrigation zone control valve. This includes, but is not limited to, repairing or 



 

  

connecting into a main supply pipe, replacing a zone control valve, or repairing a zone 
control valve in a manner that opens the system to the atmosphere. 
 
(2927) Master valve--A remote control valve located after the backflow prevention 
device that controls the flow of water to the irrigation system mainline. 
 
(3028) Matched precipitation rate--The condition in which all sprinkler heads within an 
irrigation zone apply water at the same rate. 
 
(3129) New installation--An irrigation system installed at a location where one did not 
previously exist . 
 
(3230) Pass-through contract--A written contract between a contractor or builder and a 
licensed irrigator or exempt business owner to perform part or all of the irrigation 
services relating to an irrigation system. 
 
(3331) Potable water--Water that is suitable for human consumption. 
 
(34) 32) Pressure Vacuum Breaker—An assembly containing an independently 
operating internally loaded check valve and an independently operating loaded air inlet 
valve located on the discharge side of the check valve. Also known as a Pressure Vacuum 
Breaker Back-siphonage Prevention Assembly. 
 
(3533) Reclaimed water--Domestic or municipal wastewater which has been treated to a 
quality suitable for beneficial use, such as landscape irrigation. 
 
(3634) Records of landscape irrigation activities—The irrigation plans, contracts, 
warranty information, invoices, copies of permits, and other documents that relate to the 
installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of a landscape irrigation system. 
 
(3735) Reduced Pressure Principle Backflow Prevention Assembly--An assembly 
containing two independently acting approved check valves together with a hydraulically 
operating mechanically independent pressure differential relief valve located between the 
two check valves and below the first check valve. 
 
(3836) Static water pressure--The pressure of water when it is not moving. 
 
(3937) Supervision--The on-the-job oversight and direction by a licensed irrigator who is 
fulfilling his or her professional responsibility to the client and/or employer in 
compliance with local or state requirements. Also a licensed installer working under the 
direction of a licensed irrigator or beginning January 1, 2009, an irrigation technician 
who is working under the direction of a licensed irrigator to install, maintain, alter, repair 
or service an irrigation system. 
 
(4038) Water conservation--The design, installation, service, and operation of an 
irrigation system in a manner that prevents the waste of water, promotes the most 



 

  

efficient use of water, and applies the least amount of water that is required to maintain 
healthy individual plant material or turf, reduce dust, and control erosion. 
 
(4139) Zone flow--A measurement, in gallons per minute or gallons per hour, of the 
actual flow of water through a zone valve, calculated by individually opening each zone 
valve and obtaining a valid reading after the pressure has stabilized. For design purposes, 
the zone flow is the total flow of all nozzles in the zone at a specific pressure. 
 
(4240) Zone valve--An automatic valve that controls a single zone of a landscape 
irrigation system. 
 
Section 7-101. Valid License Required. 
 

Any person who connects an irrigation system to the water supply within the City or 
the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction, commonly referred to as the ETJ, must hold a valid 
license, as defined by Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 and required by 
Chapter 1903 of the Texas Occupations Code, or as defined by Chapter 365, Title 22 of 
the Texas Administrative Code and required by Chapter 1301 of the Texas Occupations 
Code. 
 
Exemptions 

A property owner is not required to be licensed in accordance with Texas Occupations 
Code, Title 12, §1903.002(c)(1) if he or she is performing irrigation work in a 
building or on a premises owned or occupied by the person as the person’s home.  A 
home or property owner who installs an irrigation system must meet the standards 
contained in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 344 regarding spacing, 
water pressure, spraying water over impervious materials, rain or moisture shut-off 
devices or other technology, backflow prevention and isolation valves. A home or 
property owner must obtain a permit from the City, submit an irrigation plan, use an 
individual with a valid license to install backflow prevention devices, and submit test 
results of the backflow prevention device to the City. The City may, at any point, 
adopt more stringent requirements for a home or property owner who installs an 
irrigation system.  See Texas Occupations Code §1903.002 for other exemptions to 
the licensing requirement. 

 
Section 7-102. Permit Required. 
 

Any person installing an irrigation system within the territorial limits or 
extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City is required to obtain a permit from the City.  Any 
applicant must submit a plan with the application demonstrating that the plan and 
irrigation system meet the requirements of this chapter.  Any plan approved for a permit 
must be in compliance with the requirements of this chapter.  Construction Safety 
administers the permit program in conjunction with the Water Department’s approval of 
tested systems.  Permit formats and processes are amended from time to time by the 
Construction Safety Department. 
 
Exemptions 



 

  

(1)  An irrigation system that is an on-site sewage disposal system, as defined by Section 
355.002, Health and Safety Code; or 
(2)  An irrigation system used on or by an agricultural operation as defined by Section 
251.002, Agriculture Code; or 
(3)  An irrigation system connected to a groundwater well used by the property owner for 
domestic use. 
 
 
 
Section 7-103. Backflow Prevention Methods and Devices. 

(a) Any irrigation system that is connected to the potable water supply must be 
connected through a backflow prevention method approved by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ). The backflow prevention device must be approved by 
the American Society of Sanitary Engineers; or the Foundation for Cross-Connection 
Control and Hydraulic Research, University of Southern California; or the Uniform 
Plumbing Code; or any other laboratory that has equivalent capabilities for both the 
laboratory and field evaluation of backflow prevention assemblies. The backflow 
prevention device must be installed in accordance with the laboratory approval standards 
or if the approval does not include specific installation information, the manufacturer's 
current published recommendations.  
 

(b) If conditions that present a health hazard exist,In new installations of landscape 
irrigation systems one of the following methods must be used to prevent backflow;  

 
(1) An air gap may be used if:  
 

a. there is an unobstructed physical separation; and 
 
b. the distance from the lowest point of the water supply outlet to the 
flood rim of the fixture or assembly into which the outlet discharges 
is at least one inch or twice the diameter of the water supply outlet, 
whichever is greater.  
 

 (2 (1) Reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assemblies may 
be used if:  

a. the device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above ground in 
a location that will ensure that the assembly will not be submerged; 
and  
 
b. drainage is provided for any water that may be discharged through 
the assembly relief valve.  
 

 (32) Pressure vacuum breakers may be used if: 
 
  a. no back-pressure condition will occur; and 
  



 

  

b. the device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above any 
sprinklers are measured from the retracted position from the top of 
the sprinkler. 

 
(c(c) Exisiting irrigation systems which are not of the type listed in 7-103(b) may 

remain, however upon replacement, homeowner must comply with the required devices 
listed in 7-103(b). 

 
(d) Backflow prevention devices used in applications designated as health hazards 

must be tested upon installation and annually thereafter.  The following situations have 
been deemed by the City to create a health hazard: 
 

(d 
(1)  When chemicals are added to an irrigation system which is connected 

to the potable water supply; and 
 
(2)  When an irrigation system services property that is also served by an 

on-site sewage facility (septic system). 
 

(e) If an irrigation system is connected to a potable water supply through a 
pressure vacuum breaker or reduced pressure principle backflow assembly and includes 
an automatic master valve on the system, the automatic master valve must be installed on 
the discharge side of the backflow prevention assembly. 
 

(ef) The irrigator shall ensure the backflow prevention device is tested by a 
licensed Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester prior to being placed in service and the 
test results provided to the local water purveyor and the irrigation system's owner or 
owner's representative within ten business days of testing of the backflow prevention 
device. 
 
Section 7-104. Specific Conditions and Cross-Connection Control. 
 

(a) Before any chemical is added to an irrigation system connected to the potable 
water supply, the irrigation system must be connected through a reduced pressure 
principle backflow prevention assembly or air gap.  

 
(b) Connection of any additional water source to an irrigation system that is 

connected to the potable water supply can only be done if the irrigation system is 
connected to the potable water supply through a reduced-pressure principle backflow 
prevention assembly or an air gap..  

 
(c) Irrigation system components with chemical additives induced by aspiration, 

injection, or emission system connected to any potable water supply must be connected 
through a reduced pressure principle backflow device.  

 



 

  

(d) If an new irrigation system is designed or installed on a property that is served 
by an on-site sewage facility, as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 
285, then:  

 
(1) all irrigation piping and valves must meet the separation distances from 

the On-Site Sewage Facilities system as required for a private water line in Title 
30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 285.91(10);  

 
(2) any connections using a private or public potable water source that is 

not the City’s potable water system must be connected to the water source through 
a reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assembly as defined in Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.50; and  

 
(3) any water from the irrigation system that is applied to the surface of the 

area utilized by the On-Site Sewage Facility system must be controlled on a 
separate irrigation zone or zones so as to allow complete control of any irrigation 
to that area so that there will not be excess water that would prevent the On-Site 
Sewage Facilities system from operating effectively.  

 

Section 7-105. Water Conservation. 
 

All irrigation systems shall be designed, installed, maintained, altered, repaired, 
serviced, and operated in a manner that will promote water conservation as defined in the 
Definitions section of this ordinance. 
 
Section 7-106. Irrigation Plan Design:  Minimum Standards. 
 

(a) An irrigator shall prepare an irrigation plan for each site where a new irrigation 
system will be installed. A paper or electronic copy of the irrigation plan must be on the 
job site at all times during the installation of the irrigation system. A drawing showing the 
actual installation of the system is due to each irrigation system owner after all new 
irrigation system installations. During the installation of the irrigation system, variances 
from the original plan may be authorized by the licensed irrigator if the variance from the 
plan does not: 

 
(1) diminish the operational integrity of the irrigation system; 

 
(2) violate any requirements of this ordinance; and 

 
(3) go unnoted in red on the irrigation plan. 

 
(b) The irrigation plan must include complete coverage of the area to be irrigated. If a 

system does not provide complete coverage of the area to be irrigated, it must be noted on 
the irrigation plan.  
 



 

  

(c) All irrigation plans used for construction must be drawn to scale. The plan must 
include, at a minimum, the following information: 

 
(1) the irrigator's seal, signature, and date of signing; 

 
(2) all major physical features and the boundaries of the areas to be watered; 

 
(3) a North arrow; 

 
(4) a legend; 

 
(5) the zone flow measurement for each zone; 

 
(6) location and type of each: 

 
a. controller; and 
 
b. sensor (for example, but not limited to, rain, moisture, wind, flow, or 
freeze); 
 

 (7) location, type, and size of each: 
 

a. water source, such as, but not limited to a water meter and point(s) of 
connection; 
 
b. backflow prevention device; 
 
c. water emission device, including, but not limited to, spray heads, rotary 
sprinkler heads, quick-couplers, bubblers, drip, or micro-sprays; 
 
d. valve, including but not limited to, zone valves, master valves, and 
isolation valves; 
 
e. pressure regulation component; and 
 
f. main line and lateral piping.  
 

(8) the scale used; and  
 
(9) the design pressure. 

 
Section 7-107. Design and Installation:  Minimum Requirements. 
 

(a) No irrigation design or installation shall require the use of any component, 
including the water meter, in a way which exceeds the manufacturer's published 
performance limitations for the component. 
 



 

  

(b) Spacing. 
 

(1) The maximum spacing between emission devices must not exceed the 
manufacturer's published radius or spacing of the device(s). The radius or spacing 
is determined by referring to the manufacturer's published specifications for a 
specific emission device at a specific operating pressure. 

 
(2) New irrigation systems shall not utilize above-ground spray emission 

devices in landscapes that are less than 48 inches not including the impervious 
surfaces in either length or width and which contain impervious pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic surfaces along two or more perimeters. If pop-up sprays or rotary 
sprinkler heads are used in a new irrigation system, the sprinkler heads must direct 
flow away from any adjacent surface and shall not be installed closer than four 
inches from a hardscape, such as, but not limited to, a building foundation, fence, 
concrete, asphalt, pavers, or stones set with mortar. 

 
(3) Narrow paved walkways, jogging paths, golf cart paths or other small areas 

located in cemeteries, parks, golf courses or other public areas may be exempted 
from this requirement if the runoff drains into a landscaped area. 

 
(c) Water pressure. Emission devices must be installed to operate at the minimum 

and not above the maximum sprinkler head pressure as published by the manufacturer for 
the nozzle and head spacing that is used. Methods to achieve the water pressure 
requirements include, but are not limited to, flow control valves, a pressure regulator, or 
pressure compensating spray heads. 
 

(d) Piping. Piping in irrigation systems must be designed and installed so that the 
flow of water in the pipe will not exceed a velocity of five feet per second for polyvinyl 
chloride (PVC) pipe. 
 

(e) Irrigation Zones. Irrigation systems shall have separate zones based on plant 
material type, microclimate factors, topographic features, soil conditions, and 
hydrological requirements. 
 

(f) Matched precipitation rate. Zones must be designed and installed so that all of 
the emission devices in that zone irrigate at the same precipitation rate. 
 

(g) Irrigation systems shall not spray water over surfaces made of concrete, 
asphalt, brick, wood, stones set with mortar, or any other impervious material, such as, 
but not limited to, walls, fences, sidewalks, streets, etc. 
 

(h) Master valve. When provided, a master valve shall be installed on the 
discharge side of the backflow prevention device on all new installations. 
 

(i) PVC pipe primer solvent. All new irrigation systems that are installed using 
PVC pipe and fittings shall be primed with a colored primer prior to applying the PVC 



 

  

cement in accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the International 
Plumbing Code (Section 605). 
 

(j) Rain or moisture shut-off devices or other technology. All new automatically 
controlled irrigation systems must include sensors or other technology designed to inhibit 
or interrupt operation of the irrigation system during periods of moisture or rainfall. Rain 
or moisture shut-off technology must be installed according to the manufacturer's 
published recommendations. Repairs to existing automatic irrigation systems that require 
replacement of an existing controller must include a sensor or other technology designed 
to inhibit or interrupt operation of the irrigation system during periods of moisture or 
rainfall. 
 

(k) Isolation valve. All new irrigation systems must include an isolation valve 
between the water meter and the backflow prevention device. 
 

(l) Depth coverage of piping. Piping in all irrigation systems must be installed 
according to the manufacturer's published specifications for depth coverage of piping. 

 
(1) If the manufacturer has not published specifications for depth coverage of 

piping, the piping must be installed to provide minimum depth coverage of six 
inches of select backfill, between the top of the pipe and the natural grade of the 
topsoil. All portions of the irrigation system that fail to meet this standard must be 
noted on the irrigation plan. If the area being irrigated has rock at a depth of six 
inches or less, select backfill may be mounded over the pipe. Mounding must be 
noted on the irrigation plan and discussed with the irrigation system owner or 
owner's representative to address any safety issues. 

 
(2) If a utility, man-made structure, or roots create an unavoidable obstacle, 

which makes the six-inch depth coverage requirement impractical, the piping shall 
be installed to provide a minimum of two inches of select backfill between the top 
of the pipe and the natural grade of the topsoil. 

 
(3) All trenches and holes created during installation of an irrigation system 

must be backfilled and compacted to the original grade. 
 
(m) Wiring irrigation systems. 
 

 (1) Underground electrical wiring used to connect an automatic controller to 
any electrical component of the irrigation system must be listed by Underwriters 
Laboratories as acceptable for burial underground. 
 

 (2) Electrical wiring that connects any electrical components of an irrigation 
system must be sized according to the manufacturer's recommendation. 
 
 (3) Electrical wire splices which may be exposed to moisture must be 
waterproof as certified by the wire splice manufacturer. 
 



 

  

 (4) Underground electrical wiring that connects an automatic controller to any 
electrical component of the irrigation system must be buried with a minimum of six 
inches of select backfill. 
 
(n) Water contained within the piping of an irrigation system is deemed to be non-

potable. No drinking or domestic water usage, such as, but not limited to, filling 
swimming pools or decorative fountains, shall be connected to an irrigation system. If a 
hose bib (an outdoor water faucet that has hose threads on the spout) is connected to an 
irrigation system for the purpose of providing supplemental water to an area, the hose bib 
must be installed using a quick coupler key on a quick coupler installed in a covered 
purple valve box and the hose bib and any hoses connected to the bib must be labeled 
"non potable, not safe for drinking." An isolation valve must be installed upstream of a 
quick coupler connecting a hose bib to an irrigation system. 
 

(o) Beginning January 1, 2010, either a licensed irrigator or a licensed irrigation 
technician shall be on-site at all times while the landscape irrigation system is being 
installed. When an irrigator is not onsite, the irrigator shall be responsible for ensuring 
that a licensed irrigation technician is on-site to supervise the installation of the irrigation 
system. 
 
Section 7-108. Completion of Irrigation System Installation. 
 

Upon completion of the irrigation system, the irrigator or irrigation technician who 
provided supervision for the on-site installation shall be required to complete four items: 

 
(1) a final "walk through" with the irrigation system's owner or the owner's 

representative to explain the operation of the system; 
 
(2) The maintenance checklist on which the irrigator or irrigation technician 

shall obtain the signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
and shall sign, date, and seal the checklist. If the irrigation system's owner or 
owner's representative is unwilling or unable to sign the maintenance checklist, the 
irrigator shall note the time and date of the refusal on the irrigation system's owner 
or owner's representative's signature line. The irrigation system owner or owner's 
representative will be given the original maintenance checklist and a duplicate 
copy of the maintenance checklist shall be maintained by the irrigator. The items 
on the maintenance checklist shall include but are not limited to: 

 
  a. the manufacturer's manual for the automatic controller, if the  
  system is automatic; 
 

b. a seasonal (spring, summer, fall, winter) watering schedule based 
on either current/real time evapotranspiration or monthly historical 
reference evapotranspiration (historical ET) data, monthly effective 
rainfall estimates, plant landscape coefficient factors, and site 
factors; 
 



 

  

c. a list of components, such as the nozzle, or pump filters, and other 
such components that require maintenance and the recommended 
frequency for the service; and 
 
d. the statement, "This irrigation system has been installed in 
accordance with all applicable state and local laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations or orders. I have tested the system and determined 
that it has been installed according to the Irrigation Plan and is 
properly adjusted for the most efficient application of water at this 
time." 
 

 (3) A permanent sticker which contains the irrigator's name, license number, 
company name, telephone number and the dates of the warranty period shall be 
affixed to each automatic controller installed by the irrigator or irrigation technician. 
If the irrigation system is manual, the sticker shall be affixed to the original 
maintenance checklist. The information contained on the sticker must be printed with 
waterproof ink and include: 
 
 (4) The irrigation plan indicating the actual installation of the system must be 
provided to the irrigation system's owner or owner representative. 

 
Section 7-109. Maintenance, Alteration, Repair, or Service of Irrigation Systems. 
 

(a) The licensed irrigator is responsible for all work that the irrigator performed 
during the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an irrigation system during the 
warranty period. The irrigator or business owner is not responsible for the professional 
negligence of any other irrigator who subsequently conducts any irrigation service on the 
same irrigation system. 
 

(b) All trenches and holes created during the maintenance, alteration, repair, or 
service of an irrigation system must be returned to the original grade with compacted 
select backfill. 
 

(c) Colored PVC pipe primer solvent must be used on all pipes and fittings used in 
the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an irrigation system in accordance with 
the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the International Plumbing Code (Section 
605). 
 

(d) When maintenance, alteration, repair or service of an irrigation system 
involves excavation work at the water meter or backflow prevention device, an isolation 
valve shall be installed, if an isolation valve is not present. 
 
Section 7-110. Reclaimed Water. 
 
Reclaimed water may be utilized in landscape irrigation systems if: 
(1) there is no direct contact with edible crops, unless the crop is pasteurized before 
consumption; 



 

  

(2) the irrigation system does not spray water across property lines that do not belong to 
the irrigation system's owner; 
(3) the irrigation system is installed using purple components; 
(4) the domestic potable water line is connected using an air gap or a reduced pressure 
principle backflow prevention device, in accordance with Title 30, Texas Administrative 
Code, Section 290.47(i) (relating to Appendices); 
(5) a minimum of an eight inch by eight inch sign, in English and Spanish, is prominently 
posted on/in the area that is being irrigated, that reads, "RECLAIMED WATER – DO 
NOT DRINK" and "AGUA DE RECUPERACIÓN – NO BEBER"; and  
(6) backflow prevention on the reclaimed water supply line shall be in accordance with 
the regulations of the City’s water provider. 
 

Section 7-111. Advertisement Requirements. 
 

(a) All vehicles used in the performance of irrigation installation, maintenance, 
alteration, repair, or service must display the irrigator's license number in the form of 
"LI________" in a contrasting color of block letters at least two inches high, on both 
sides of the vehicle.  
 

(b) All forms of written and electronic advertisements for irrigation services must 
display the irrigator's license number in the form of "LI___________." Any form of 
advertisement, including business cards, and estimates which displays an entity's or 
individual's name other than that of the licensed irrigator must also display the name of 
the licensed irrigator and the licensed irrigator's license number. Trailers that advertise 
irrigation services must display the irrigator's license number.  
 

(c) The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the commission must be 
prominently displayed on a legible sign and displayed in plain view for the purpose of 
addressing complaints at the permanent structure where irrigation business is primarily 
conducted and irrigation records are kept.  
 
Section 7-112. Contracts. 
 

(a) All contracts to install an irrigation system must be in writing and signed by 
each party and must specify the irrigator's name, license number, business address, 
current business telephone numbers, the date that each party signed the agreement, the 
total agreed price, and must contain the statement, "Irrigation in Texas is regulated by the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), MC-178, P.O. Box 13087, 
Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's website is: www. tceq.state.tx.us." All contracts must 
include the irrigator's seal, signature, and date.  
 

(b) All written estimates, proposals, bids, and invoices relating to the installation 
or repair of an irrigation system(s) must include the irrigator's name, license number, 
business address, current business telephone number(s), and the statement: "Irrigation in 
Texas is regulated by the Texas Commission On Environmental Quality (TCEQ) (MC-



 

  

178), P.O. Box 13087, Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's web site is: 
www.tceq.state.tx.us."  
 

(c) An individual who agrees by contract to provide irrigation services as defined 
in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.30 (relating to License Required) 
shall hold an irrigator license issued under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 
30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations) unless the contract is a pass-
through contract as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.1(36) 
(relating to Definitions). If a pass-through contract includes irrigation services, then the 
irrigation portion of the contract can only be performed by a licensed irrigator. If an 
irrigator installs a system pursuant to a pass-through contract, the irrigator shall still be 
responsible for providing the irrigation system's owner or through contract, the irrigator 
shall still be responsible for providing the irrigation system's owner or owner's 
representative a copy of the warranty and all other documents required under this chapter. 
A pass-through contract must identify by name and license number the irrigator that will 
perform the work and must provide a mechanism for contacting the irrigator for irrigation 
system warranty work.  
 

(d) The contract must include the dates that the warranty is valid.  
 
Section 7-113. Warranties for Systems. 
 

(a) On all installations of new irrigation systems, an irrigator shall present the 
irrigation system's owner or owner's representative with a written warranty covering 
materials and labor furnished in the new installation of the irrigation system. The irrigator 
shall be responsible for adhering to terms of the warranty. If the irrigator's warranty is 
less than the manufacturer's warranty for the system components, then the irrigator shall 
provide the irrigation system's owner or the owner's representative with applicable 
information regarding the manufacturer's warranty period. The warranty must include the 
irrigator's seal, signature, and date. If the warranty is part of an irrigator's contract, a 
separate warranty document is not required.  
 

(b) An irrigator's written warranty on new irrigation systems must specify the 
irrigator's name, business address, and business telephone number(s), must contain the 
signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative confirming receipt of 
the warranty and must include the statement: "Irrigation in Texas is regulated by the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), MC-178, P.O. Box 130897, 
Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's website is: www.tceq.state.tx.us."  

 
(c) On all maintenance, alterations, repairs, or service to existing irrigation 

systems, an irrigator shall present the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
a written document that identifies the materials furnished in the maintenance, alteration, 
repair, or service. If a warranty is provided, the irrigator shall abide by the terms. The 
warranty document must include the irrigator's name and business contact information.  

 
Section 7-114. Duties and Responsibilities of City Irrigation Inspectors. 
 



 

  

A licensed irrigation inspector shall enforce the ordinance of the City, and shall be 
responsible for: 

 
(1) verifying that the appropriate permits have been obtained for an 

irrigation system and that the irrigator and installer or irrigation technician, if 
applicable, are licensed; 

 
(2) inspecting the irrigation system; 
 
(3) determining that the irrigation system complies with the requirements of 

this chapter; 
 
(4) determining that the appropriate backflow prevention device was 

installed, tested, and test results provided to the City; 
 
(5) investigating complaints related to irrigation system installation, 

maintenance, alteration, repairs, or service of an irrigation system and 
advertisement of irrigation services; and 

 
(6) maintaining records according to this chapter. 
 

Section 7-115.  Items not covered by this ordinance. 
 

Any item not covered by their ordinance and required by law shall be governed by 
the Texas Occupations Code, the Texas Water Code, Title 30 of the Texas Administrative 
Code, and any other applicable state statute or Texas Commission on Environmental 
Quality rule. 
 
Section 7-116. Fees. 
 

The City Council may create a schedule of fees for obtaining and renewing an 
irrigation permit.  These fees will be in amounts sufficient to cover the City’s costs in 
issuing and renewing the permits, including, but not limited to, staff time and other 
overhead costs.  The City Council shall adopt by resolution a schedule of the permit fees 
required or authorized.  This schedule of fees is entitled Construction Permit Fees and is 
updated from time to time by Resolution.  It is kept at City offices and also available 
online. 
 
 
 
Section 7-117. Enforcement. 
 

(a)  The City shall have the power to administer and enforce the provisions of this 
chapter as may be required by governing law. Any person, firm, corporation or agent who 
shall violate a provision of this code, or fails to comply therewith, or with any of the 
requirements thereof, is subject to suit for injunctive relief as well as prosecution for 



 

  

criminal violations. Any violation of the ordinance codified in this chapter is declared to 
be a nuisance. 
 

(b)  Any person violating any provision of chapter shall, upon conviction, be fined 
a sum not exceeding $2000.00. Each day that a provision of this chapter is violated shall 
constitute a separate offense. An offense under this chapter is a Class C misdemeanor, 
punishable by a fine of up to $2000.00. 

 
(c)  Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s right to 

bring a civil action to enforce the provisions of this chapter and to seek remedies as 
allowed by law, including, but not limited to the following: 
 
 (1)   Injunctive relief to prevent specific conduct that violates the ordinance or to 

require specific conduct that is necessary for compliance with the ordinance; and 
 

(2) Other available relief. 
 

 
 



ALL NEW LANGUAGE  

Sec. 7-?. Inspection of backflow prevention assemblies. 
 
 International Plumbing Code, Section 312.9, “Inspection and testing of backflow 
prevention assemblies” is amended to include the following language: 
 
312.9.3. Landscape irrigation systems are exempted from the annual testing and 
inspection requirement except where the following occurs: 
 

(1)  When chemicals are added to an irrigation system which is 
connected to the potable water supply; and 

 
(2)  When an irrigation system services property that is also served 

by an on-site sewage facility (septic system). 
 



  1

           Added Text 
           Deleted Text 
 

ORDINANCE NO._____________________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, AMENDING CHAPTER 7, “BUILDINGS,” OF THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING ARTICLE VII, ENTITLED, 
“LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION STANDARDS,” TO REFLECT 
CHANGES TO THE DEFINITION OF A “HEALTH HAZARD” AS IT 
RELATES TO IRRIGATION SYSTEMS; AMENDING ARTICLE V, 
ENTITLED, “PLUMBING CODE,” BY ADDING A NEW SECTION 7-
84, ENTITLED, “INSPECTION OF BACKFLOW PREVENTION 
ASSEMBLIES;”  PROVIDING FOR A CRIMINAL PENALTY, CLASS 
C MISDEMEANOR NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2,000.00) FOR VIOLATION OF THE CODE; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT:  
 

Part 1:  The City Council amends Chapter 7, “Buildings,” of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas, by modifying Article VII, entitled, “Landscape 
Irrigation Standards,” to reflect changes to the definition of a “health hazard,” as it relates 
to irrigation systems, to read as follows: 
 

ARTICLE VII. LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION STANDARDS 
 
Section 7-100. Definitions. 
 

The following words and terms, when used in this ordinance, have the following 
meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 
(1) Air gap--A complete physical separation between the free flowing discharge end of a 
potable water supply pipeline and an open or non-pressure receiving vessel. 
 
(2) Backflow prevention--The mechanical prevention of reverse flow, or back 
siphonage, of nonpotable water from an irrigation system into the potable water source. 
 
(3) Backflow prevention assembly--Any assembly used to prevent backflow into a 
potable water system. The type of assembly used is based on the existing or potential 
degree of health hazard and backflow condition. 



  2

 
(4) Completion of irrigation system installation--When the landscape irrigation system 
has been installed, all minimum standards met, all tests performed, and the irrigator is 
satisfied that the system is operating correctly. 
 
(5) Consulting--The act of providing advice, guidance, review or recommendations 
related to landscape irrigation systems. 
 
(6) Cross-connection--An actual or potential connection between a potable water source 
and an irrigation system that may contain contaminates or pollutants or any source of 
water that has been treated to a lesser degree in the treatment process. 
 
(7) Design--The act of determining the various elements of a landscape irrigation system 
that will include, but not be limited to, elements such as collecting site specific 
information, defining the scope of the project, defining plant watering needs, selecting 
and laying out emission devices, locating system components, conducting hydraulics 
calculations, identifying any local regulatory requirements, or scheduling irrigation work 
at a site. Completion of the various components will result in an irrigation plan. 
 
(8) Design pressure--The pressure that is required for an emission device to operate 
properly. Design pressure is calculated by adding the operating pressure necessary at an 
emission device to the total of all pressure losses accumulated from an emission device to 
the water source. 
 
(9) Emission device--Any device that is contained within an irrigation system and that is 
used to apply water. Common emission devices in an irrigation system include, but are 
not limited to, spray and rotary sprinkler heads, and drip irrigation emitters. 
 
(10) Employed--Engaged or hired to provide consulting services or perform any activity 
relating to the sale, design, installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service to 
irrigation systems. A person is employed if that person is in an employer-employee 
relationship as defined by Internal Revenue Code, 26 United States Code Service, 
§3212(d) based on the behavioral control, financial control, and the type of relationship 
involved in performing employment related tasks. 
 
(11) Head-to-head spacing--The spacing of spray or rotary heads equal to the 
manufacturers published radius of the head.   
 
(12) Health hazard--A cross-connection or potential cross-connection with an irrigation 
system that involves any substancechemical additives that may, if introduced into the 



  3

potable water supply, cause death or illness, spread disease, or have a high probability of 
causing such effects., or when irrigation system services property that is also served by an 
on-site sewage facility (septic system). 

 
(13) Hydraulics--The science of dynamic and static water; the mathematical computation 
of determining pressure losses and pressure requirements of an irrigation system. 
 
(14) Inspector--A licensed plumbing inspector, water district operator, other 
governmental entity, or irrigation inspector who inspects irrigation systems and performs 
other enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a 
contractor. 
 
(15(14) Installer--A person who actually connects an irrigation system to a private or 
public raw or potable water supply system or any water supply, who is licensed according 
to Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses 
and Registrations). 
 
(1615) Irrigation inspector--A person who inspects irrigation systems and performs 
other enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a 
contractor and is required to be licensed under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations). 
 
(1716) Irrigation plan--A scaled drawing of a landscape irrigation system which lists 
required information, the scope of the project, and represents the changes made in the 
installation of the irrigation system. 
 
(1817) Irrigation services--Selling, designing, installing, maintaining, altering, 
repairing, servicing, permitting, providing consulting services regarding, or connecting an 
irrigation system to a water supply. 
 
(1918) Irrigation system--An assembly of component parts that is permanently installed 
for the controlled distribution and conservation of water to irrigate any type of landscape 
vegetation in any location, and/or to reduce dust or control erosion. This term does not 
include a system that is used on or by an agricultural operation as defined by Texas 
Agricultural Code, §251.002. 
 
(2019) Irrigation technician--A person who works under the supervision of a licensed 
irrigator to install, maintain, alter, repair, service or supervise installation of an irrigation 
system, including the connection of such system in or to a private or public, raw or 



  4

potable water supply system or any water supply, and who is required to be licensed 
under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational 
Licenses and Registrations). 
 
(2120) Irrigation zone--A subdivision of an irrigation system with a matched 
precipitation rate based on plant material type (such as turf, shrubs, or trees), 
microclimate factors (such as sun/shade ratio), topographic features (such as slope) and 
soil conditions (such as sand, loam, clay, or combination) or for hydrological control. 
 
(2221) Irrigator--A person who sells, designs, offers consultations regarding, installs, 
maintains, alters, repairs, services or supervises the installation of an irrigation system, 
including the connection of such system to a private or public, raw or potable water 
supply system or any water supply, and who is required to be licensed under Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30. 
 
(23) Irrigator-in-Charge--The irrigator responsible for all irrigation work performed by 
an exempt business owner, including, but not limited to obtaining permits, developing 
design plans, supervising the work of other irrigators or irrigation technicians, and 
installing, selling, maintaining, altering, repairing, or servicing a landscape irrigation 
system. 
 
(24(22) Landscape Irrigation – The science of applying the necessary amount of water 
to promote or sustain healthy growth of plant material or turf. 
 
 (2523) License--An occupational license that is issued by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 to an 
individual that authorizes the individual to engage in an activity that is covered by Title 
30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30. 
 
(2624) Mainline--A pipe within an irrigation system that delivers water from the water 
source to the individual zone valves. 
 
(2725) Maintenance checklist--A document made available to the irrigation system's 
owner or owner's representative that contains information regarding the operation and 
maintenance of the irrigation system, including, but not limited to: checking and repairing 
the irrigation system, setting the automatic controller, checking the rain or moisture 
sensor, cleaning filters, pruning grass and plants away from irrigation emitters, using and 
operating the irrigation system, the precipitation rates of each irrigation zone within the 
system, any water conservation measures currently in effect from the water purveyor, the 
name of the water purveyor, a suggested seasonal or monthly watering schedule based on 



  5

current evapotranspiration data for the geographic region, and the minimum water 
requirements for the plant material in each zone based on the soil type and plant material 
where the system is installed. 
 
(2826) Major maintenance, alteration, repair, or service--Any activity that involves 
opening to the atmosphere the irrigation main line at any point prior to the discharge side 
of any irrigation zone control valve. This includes, but is not limited to, repairing or 
connecting into a main supply pipe, replacing a zone control valve, or repairing a zone 
control valve in a manner that opens the system to the atmosphere. 
 
(2927) Master valve--A remote control valve located after the backflow prevention 
device that controls the flow of water to the irrigation system mainline. 
 
(3028) Matched precipitation rate--The condition in which all sprinkler heads within an 
irrigation zone apply water at the same rate. 
 
(3129) New installation--An irrigation system installed at a location where one did not 
previously exist . 
 
(3230) Pass-through contract--A written contract between a contractor or builder and a 
licensed irrigator or exempt business owner to perform part or all of the irrigation 
services relating to an irrigation system. 
 
(3331) Potable water--Water that is suitable for human consumption. 
 
(34) 32) Pressure Vacuum Breaker—An assembly containing an independently 
operating internally loaded check valve and an independently operating loaded air inlet 
valve located on the discharge side of the check valve. Also known as a Pressure Vacuum 
Breaker Back-siphonage Prevention Assembly. 

(3533) Reclaimed water--Domestic or municipal wastewater which has been treated to a 
quality suitable for beneficial use, such as landscape irrigation. 
 
(3634) Records of landscape irrigation activities—The irrigation plans, contracts, 
warranty information, invoices, copies of permits, and other documents that relate to the 
installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of a landscape irrigation system. 
 
(3735) Reduced Pressure Principle Backflow Prevention Assembly--An assembly 
containing two independently acting approved check valves together with a hydraulically 



  6

operating mechanically independent pressure differential relief valve located between the 
two check valves and below the first check valve. 
 
(3836) Static water pressure--The pressure of water when it is not moving. 
 
(3937) Supervision--The on-the-job oversight and direction by a licensed irrigator who is 
fulfilling his or her professional responsibility to the client and/or employer in 
compliance with local or state requirements. Also a licensed installer working under the 
direction of a licensed irrigator or beginning January 1, 2009, an irrigation technician 
who is working under the direction of a licensed irrigator to install, maintain, alter, repair 
or service an irrigation system. 
 
(4038) Water conservation--The design, installation, service, and operation of an 
irrigation system in a manner that prevents the waste of water, promotes the most 
efficient use of water, and applies the least amount of water that is required to maintain 
healthy individual plant material or turf, reduce dust, and control erosion. 
 
(4139) Zone flow--A measurement, in gallons per minute or gallons per hour, of the 
actual flow of water through a zone valve, calculated by individually opening each zone 
valve and obtaining a valid reading after the pressure has stabilized. For design purposes, 
the zone flow is the total flow of all nozzles in the zone at a specific pressure. 
 
(4240) Zone valve--An automatic valve that controls a single zone of a landscape 
irrigation system. 
 
Section 7-101. Valid License Required. 
 

Any person who connects an irrigation system to the water supply within the City or 
the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction, commonly referred to as the ETJ, must hold a valid 
license, as defined by Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 and required by 
Chapter 1903 of the Texas Occupations Code, or as defined by Chapter 365, Title 22 of 
the Texas Administrative Code and required by Chapter 1301 of the Texas Occupations 
Code. 
 
Exemptions 

A property owner is not required to be licensed in accordance with Texas Occupations 
Code, Title 12, §1903.002(c)(1) if he or she is performing irrigation work in a 
building or on a premises owned or occupied by the person as the person’s home.  A 
home or property owner who installs an irrigation system must meet the standards 
contained in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 344 regarding spacing, 



  7

water pressure, spraying water over impervious materials, rain or moisture shut-off 
devices or other technology, backflow prevention and isolation valves. A home or 
property owner must obtain a permit from the City, submit an irrigation plan, use an 
individual with a valid license to install backflow prevention devices, and submit test 
results of the backflow prevention device to the City. The City may, at any point, 
adopt more stringent requirements for a home or property owner who installs an 
irrigation system.  See Texas Occupations Code §1903.002 for other exemptions to 
the licensing requirement. 

 
Section 7-102. Permit Required. 
 

Any person installing an irrigation system within the territorial limits or 
extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City is required to obtain a permit from the City.  Any 
applicant must submit a plan with the application demonstrating that the plan and 
irrigation system meet the requirements of this chapter.  Any plan approved for a permit 
must be in compliance with the requirements of this chapter.  Construction Safety 
administers the permit program in conjunction with the Water Department’s approval of 
tested systems.  Permit formats and processes are amended from time to time by the 
Construction Safety Department. 
 
Exemptions 
(1)  An irrigation system that is an on-site sewage disposal system, as defined by Section 
355.002, Health and Safety Code; or 
(2)  An irrigation system used on or by an agricultural operation as defined by Section 
251.002, Agriculture Code; or 
(3)  An irrigation system connected to a groundwater well used by the property owner for 
domestic use. 
 
Section 7-103. Backflow Prevention Methods and Devices. 

(a) Any irrigation system that is connected to the potable water supply must be 
connected through a backflow prevention method approved by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ). The backflow prevention device must be approved by 
the American Society of Sanitary Engineers; or the Foundation for Cross-Connection 
Control and Hydraulic Research, University of Southern California; or the Uniform 
Plumbing Code; or any other laboratory that has equivalent capabilities for both the 
laboratory and field evaluation of backflow prevention assemblies. The backflow 
prevention device must be installed in accordance with the laboratory approval standards 
or if the approval does not include specific installation information, the manufacturer's 
current published recommendations.  
 



  8

(b) If conditions that present a health hazard exist,In new installations of landscape 
irrigation systems one of the following methods must be used to prevent backflow;  

 
(1) An air gap may be used if:  
 

a. there is an unobstructed physical separation; and 
 
b. the distance from the lowest point of the water supply outlet to the 
flood rim of the fixture or assembly into which the outlet discharges 
is at least one inch or twice the diameter of the water supply outlet, 
whichever is greater.  
 

 (2 (1) Reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assemblies may 
be used if:  

a. the device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above ground in 
a location that will ensure that the assembly will not be submerged; 
and  
 
b. drainage is provided for any water that may be discharged through 
the assembly relief valve.  
 

 (32) Pressure vacuum breakers may be used if: 
 
  a. no back-pressure condition will occur; and 
  

b. the device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above any 
sprinklers are measured from the retracted position from the top of 
the sprinkler. 

 
(c(c) Exisiting irrigation systems which are not of the type listed in 7-103(b) may 

remain, however upon replacement, homeowner must comply with the required devices 
listed in 7-103(b). 

 
(d) Backflow prevention devices used in applications designated as health hazards 

must be tested upon installation and annually thereafter.  The following situations have 
been deemed by the City to create a health hazard: 
 

(d 
(1)  When chemicals are added to an irrigation system which is connected 

to the potable water supply; and 
 
(2)  When an irrigation system services property that is also served by an 

on-site sewage facility (septic system). 
 

(e) If an irrigation system is connected to a potable water supply through a 
pressure vacuum breaker or reduced pressure principle backflow assembly and includes 



  9

an automatic master valve on the system, the automatic master valve must be installed on 
the discharge side of the backflow prevention assembly. 
 

(ef) The irrigator shall ensure the backflow prevention device is tested by a 
licensed Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester prior to being placed in service and the 
test results provided to the local water purveyor and the irrigation system's owner or 
owner's representative within ten business days of testing of the backflow prevention 
device. 

 
Section 7-104. Specific Conditions and Cross-Connection Control. 
 

(a) Before any chemical is added to an irrigation system connected to the potable 
water supply, the irrigation system must be connected through a reduced pressure 
principle backflow prevention assembly or air gap.  

 
(b) Connection of any additional water source to an irrigation system that is 

connected to the potable water supply can only be done if the irrigation system is 
connected to the potable water supply through a reduced-pressure principle backflow 
prevention assembly or an air gap..  

 
(c) Irrigation system components with chemical additives induced by aspiration, 

injection, or emission system connected to any potable water supply must be connected 
through a reduced pressure principle backflow device.  

 
(d) If an new irrigation system is designed or installed on a property that is served 

by an on-site sewage facility, as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 
285, then:  

 
(1) all irrigation piping and valves must meet the separation distances from 

the On-Site Sewage Facilities system as required for a private water line in Title 
30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 285.91(10);  

 
(2) any connections using a private or public potable water source that is 

not the City’s potable water system must be connected to the water source through 
a reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assembly as defined in Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.50; and  

 
(3) any water from the irrigation system that is applied to the surface of the 

area utilized by the On-Site Sewage Facility system must be controlled on a 
separate irrigation zone or zones so as to allow complete control of any irrigation 
to that area so that there will not be excess water that would prevent the On-Site 
Sewage Facilities system from operating effectively.  

 



  10

Section 7-105. Water Conservation. 
 

All irrigation systems shall be designed, installed, maintained, altered, repaired, 
serviced, and operated in a manner that will promote water conservation as defined in the 
Definitions section of this ordinance. 
 
Section 7-106. Irrigation Plan Design:  Minimum Standards. 
 

(a) An irrigator shall prepare an irrigation plan for each site where a new irrigation 
system will be installed. A paper or electronic copy of the irrigation plan must be on the 
job site at all times during the installation of the irrigation system. A drawing showing the 
actual installation of the system is due to each irrigation system owner after all new 
irrigation system installations. During the installation of the irrigation system, variances 
from the original plan may be authorized by the licensed irrigator if the variance from the 
plan does not: 

 
(1) diminish the operational integrity of the irrigation system; 

 
(2) violate any requirements of this ordinance; and 

 
(3) go unnoted in red on the irrigation plan. 

 
(b) The irrigation plan must include complete coverage of the area to be irrigated. If a 

system does not provide complete coverage of the area to be irrigated, it must be noted on 
the irrigation plan.  
 

(c) All irrigation plans used for construction must be drawn to scale. The plan must 
include, at a minimum, the following information: 

 
(1) the irrigator's seal, signature, and date of signing; 

 
(2) all major physical features and the boundaries of the areas to be watered; 

 
(3) a North arrow; 

 
(4) a legend; 

 
(5) the zone flow measurement for each zone; 

 
(6) location and type of each: 



  11

 
a. controller; and 
 
b. sensor (for example, but not limited to, rain, moisture, wind, flow, or 
freeze); 
 

 (7) location, type, and size of each: 
 

a. water source, such as, but not limited to a water meter and point(s) of 
connection; 
 
b. backflow prevention device; 
 
c. water emission device, including, but not limited to, spray heads, rotary 
sprinkler heads, quick-couplers, bubblers, drip, or micro-sprays; 
 
d. valve, including but not limited to, zone valves, master valves, and 
isolation valves; 
 
e. pressure regulation component; and 
 
f. main line and lateral piping.  
 

(8) the scale used; and  
 
(9) the design pressure. 

 
Section 7-107. Design and Installation:  Minimum Requirements. 
 

(a) No irrigation design or installation shall require the use of any component, 
including the water meter, in a way which exceeds the manufacturer's published 
performance limitations for the component. 
 

(b) Spacing. 
 

(1) The maximum spacing between emission devices must not exceed the 
manufacturer's published radius or spacing of the device(s). The radius or spacing 
is determined by referring to the manufacturer's published specifications for a 
specific emission device at a specific operating pressure. 

 



  12

(2) New irrigation systems shall not utilize above-ground spray emission 
devices in landscapes that are less than 48 inches not including the impervious 
surfaces in either length or width and which contain impervious pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic surfaces along two or more perimeters. If pop-up sprays or rotary 
sprinkler heads are used in a new irrigation system, the sprinkler heads must direct 
flow away from any adjacent surface and shall not be installed closer than four 
inches from a hardscape, such as, but not limited to, a building foundation, fence, 
concrete, asphalt, pavers, or stones set with mortar. 

 
(3) Narrow paved walkways, jogging paths, golf cart paths or other small areas 

located in cemeteries, parks, golf courses or other public areas may be exempted 
from this requirement if the runoff drains into a landscaped area. 

 
(c) Water pressure. Emission devices must be installed to operate at the minimum 

and not above the maximum sprinkler head pressure as published by the manufacturer for 
the nozzle and head spacing that is used. Methods to achieve the water pressure 
requirements include, but are not limited to, flow control valves, a pressure regulator, or 
pressure compensating spray heads. 
 

(d) Piping. Piping in irrigation systems must be designed and installed so that the 
flow of water in the pipe will not exceed a velocity of five feet per second for polyvinyl 
chloride (PVC) pipe. 
 

(e) Irrigation Zones. Irrigation systems shall have separate zones based on plant 
material type, microclimate factors, topographic features, soil conditions, and 
hydrological requirements. 
 

(f) Matched precipitation rate. Zones must be designed and installed so that all of 
the emission devices in that zone irrigate at the same precipitation rate. 
 

(g) Irrigation systems shall not spray water over surfaces made of concrete, 
asphalt, brick, wood, stones set with mortar, or any other impervious material, such as, 
but not limited to, walls, fences, sidewalks, streets, etc. 
 

(h) Master valve. When provided, a master valve shall be installed on the 
discharge side of the backflow prevention device on all new installations. 
 

(i) PVC pipe primer solvent. All new irrigation systems that are installed using 
PVC pipe and fittings shall be primed with a colored primer prior to applying the PVC 



  13

cement in accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the International 
Plumbing Code (Section 605). 
 

(j) Rain or moisture shut-off devices or other technology. All new automatically 
controlled irrigation systems must include sensors or other technology designed to inhibit 
or interrupt operation of the irrigation system during periods of moisture or rainfall. Rain 
or moisture shut-off technology must be installed according to the manufacturer's 
published recommendations. Repairs to existing automatic irrigation systems that require 
replacement of an existing controller must include a sensor or other technology designed 
to inhibit or interrupt operation of the irrigation system during periods of moisture or 
rainfall. 
 

(k) Isolation valve. All new irrigation systems must include an isolation valve 
between the water meter and the backflow prevention device. 
 

(l) Depth coverage of piping. Piping in all irrigation systems must be installed 
according to the manufacturer's published specifications for depth coverage of piping. 

 
(1) If the manufacturer has not published specifications for depth coverage of 

piping, the piping must be installed to provide minimum depth coverage of six 
inches of select backfill, between the top of the pipe and the natural grade of the 
topsoil. All portions of the irrigation system that fail to meet this standard must be 
noted on the irrigation plan. If the area being irrigated has rock at a depth of six 
inches or less, select backfill may be mounded over the pipe. Mounding must be 
noted on the irrigation plan and discussed with the irrigation system owner or 
owner's representative to address any safety issues. 

 
(2) If a utility, man-made structure, or roots create an unavoidable obstacle, 

which makes the six-inch depth coverage requirement impractical, the piping shall 
be installed to provide a minimum of two inches of select backfill between the top 
of the pipe and the natural grade of the topsoil. 

 
(3) All trenches and holes created during installation of an irrigation system 

must be backfilled and compacted to the original grade. 
 
(m) Wiring irrigation systems. 
 

 (1) Underground electrical wiring used to connect an automatic controller to 
any electrical component of the irrigation system must be listed by Underwriters 
Laboratories as acceptable for burial underground. 



  14

 
 (2) Electrical wiring that connects any electrical components of an irrigation 
system must be sized according to the manufacturer's recommendation. 
 
 (3) Electrical wire splices which may be exposed to moisture must be 
waterproof as certified by the wire splice manufacturer. 
 
 (4) Underground electrical wiring that connects an automatic controller to any 
electrical component of the irrigation system must be buried with a minimum of six 
inches of select backfill. 
 
(n) Water contained within the piping of an irrigation system is deemed to be non-

potable. No drinking or domestic water usage, such as, but not limited to, filling 
swimming pools or decorative fountains, shall be connected to an irrigation system. If a 
hose bib (an outdoor water faucet that has hose threads on the spout) is connected to an 
irrigation system for the purpose of providing supplemental water to an area, the hose bib 
must be installed using a quick coupler key on a quick coupler installed in a covered 
purple valve box and the hose bib and any hoses connected to the bib must be labeled 
"non potable, not safe for drinking." An isolation valve must be installed upstream of a 
quick coupler connecting a hose bib to an irrigation system. 
 

(o) Beginning January 1, 2010, either a licensed irrigator or a licensed irrigation 
technician shall be on-site at all times while the landscape irrigation system is being 
installed. When an irrigator is not onsite, the irrigator shall be responsible for ensuring 
that a licensed irrigation technician is on-site to supervise the installation of the irrigation 
system. 
 
Section 7-108. Completion of Irrigation System Installation. 
 

Upon completion of the irrigation system, the irrigator or irrigation technician who 
provided supervision for the on-site installation shall be required to complete four items: 

 
(1) a final "walk through" with the irrigation system's owner or the owner's 

representative to explain the operation of the system; 
 
(2) The maintenance checklist on which the irrigator or irrigation technician 

shall obtain the signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
and shall sign, date, and seal the checklist. If the irrigation system's owner or 
owner's representative is unwilling or unable to sign the maintenance checklist, the 
irrigator shall note the time and date of the refusal on the irrigation system's owner 



  15

or owner's representative's signature line. The irrigation system owner or owner's 
representative will be given the original maintenance checklist and a duplicate 
copy of the maintenance checklist shall be maintained by the irrigator. The items 
on the maintenance checklist shall include but are not limited to: 

 
  a. the manufacturer's manual for the automatic controller, if the  
  system is automatic; 
 

b. a seasonal (spring, summer, fall, winter) watering schedule based 
on either current/real time evapotranspiration or monthly historical 
reference evapotranspiration (historical ET) data, monthly effective 
rainfall estimates, plant landscape coefficient factors, and site 
factors; 
 
c. a list of components, such as the nozzle, or pump filters, and other 
such components that require maintenance and the recommended 
frequency for the service; and 
 
d. the statement, "This irrigation system has been installed in 
accordance with all applicable state and local laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations or orders. I have tested the system and determined 
that it has been installed according to the Irrigation Plan and is 
properly adjusted for the most efficient application of water at this 
time." 
 

 (3) A permanent sticker which contains the irrigator's name, license number, 
company name, telephone number and the dates of the warranty period shall be 
affixed to each automatic controller installed by the irrigator or irrigation technician. 
If the irrigation system is manual, the sticker shall be affixed to the original 
maintenance checklist. The information contained on the sticker must be printed with 
waterproof ink and include: 
 
 (4) The irrigation plan indicating the actual installation of the system must be 
provided to the irrigation system's owner or owner representative. 

 
Section 7-109. Maintenance, Alteration, Repair, or Service of Irrigation Systems. 
 

(a) The licensed irrigator is responsible for all work that the irrigator performed 
during the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an irrigation system during the 
warranty period. The irrigator or business owner is not responsible for the professional 



  16

negligence of any other irrigator who subsequently conducts any irrigation service on the 
same irrigation system. 
 

(b) All trenches and holes created during the maintenance, alteration, repair, or 
service of an irrigation system must be returned to the original grade with compacted 
select backfill. 
 

(c) Colored PVC pipe primer solvent must be used on all pipes and fittings used in 
the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an irrigation system in accordance with 
the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the International Plumbing Code (Section 
605). 
 

(d) When maintenance, alteration, repair or service of an irrigation system 
involves excavation work at the water meter or backflow prevention device, an isolation 
valve shall be installed, if an isolation valve is not present. 
 
Section 7-110. Reclaimed Water. 
 
Reclaimed water may be utilized in landscape irrigation systems if: 
(1) there is no direct contact with edible crops, unless the crop is pasteurized before 
consumption; 
(2) the irrigation system does not spray water across property lines that do not belong to 
the irrigation system's owner; 
(3) the irrigation system is installed using purple components; 
(4) the domestic potable water line is connected using an air gap or a reduced pressure 
principle backflow prevention device, in accordance with Title 30, Texas Administrative 
Code, Section 290.47(i) (relating to Appendices); 
(5) a minimum of an eight inch by eight inch sign, in English and Spanish, is prominently 
posted on/in the area that is being irrigated, that reads, "RECLAIMED WATER – DO 
NOT DRINK" and "AGUA DE RECUPERACIÓN – NO BEBER"; and  
(6) backflow prevention on the reclaimed water supply line shall be in accordance with 
the regulations of the City’s water provider. 

Section 7-111. Advertisement Requirements. 
 

(a) All vehicles used in the performance of irrigation installation, maintenance, 
alteration, repair, or service must display the irrigator's license number in the form of 
"LI________" in a contrasting color of block letters at least two inches high, on both 
sides of the vehicle.  
 



  17

(b) All forms of written and electronic advertisements for irrigation services must 
display the irrigator's license number in the form of "LI___________." Any form of 
advertisement, including business cards, and estimates which displays an entity's or 
individual's name other than that of the licensed irrigator must also display the name of 
the licensed irrigator and the licensed irrigator's license number. Trailers that advertise 
irrigation services must display the irrigator's license number.  
 

(c) The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the commission must be 
prominently displayed on a legible sign and displayed in plain view for the purpose of 
addressing complaints at the permanent structure where irrigation business is primarily 
conducted and irrigation records are kept.  
 
Section 7-112. Contracts. 
 

(a) All contracts to install an irrigation system must be in writing and signed by 
each party and must specify the irrigator's name, license number, business address, 
current business telephone numbers, the date that each party signed the agreement, the 
total agreed price, and must contain the statement, "Irrigation in Texas is regulated by the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), MC-178, P.O. Box 13087, 
Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's website is: www. tceq.state.tx.us." All contracts must 
include the irrigator's seal, signature, and date.  
 

(b) All written estimates, proposals, bids, and invoices relating to the installation 
or repair of an irrigation system(s) must include the irrigator's name, license number, 
business address, current business telephone number(s), and the statement: "Irrigation in 
Texas is regulated by the Texas Commission On Environmental Quality (TCEQ) (MC-
178), P.O. Box 13087, Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's web site is: 
www.tceq.state.tx.us."  
 

(c) An individual who agrees by contract to provide irrigation services as defined 
in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.30 (relating to License Required) 
shall hold an irrigator license issued under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 
30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations) unless the contract is a pass-
through contract as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.1(36) 
(relating to Definitions). If a pass-through contract includes irrigation services, then the 
irrigation portion of the contract can only be performed by a licensed irrigator. If an 
irrigator installs a system pursuant to a pass-through contract, the irrigator shall still be 
responsible for providing the irrigation system's owner or through contract, the irrigator 
shall still be responsible for providing the irrigation system's owner or owner's 
representative a copy of the warranty and all other documents required under this chapter. 
A pass-through contract must identify by name and license number the irrigator that will 
perform the work and must provide a mechanism for contacting the irrigator for irrigation 
system warranty work.  
 

(d) The contract must include the dates that the warranty is valid.  
 



  18

Section 7-113. Warranties for Systems. 
 

(a) On all installations of new irrigation systems, an irrigator shall present the 
irrigation system's owner or owner's representative with a written warranty covering 
materials and labor furnished in the new installation of the irrigation system. The irrigator 
shall be responsible for adhering to terms of the warranty. If the irrigator's warranty is 
less than the manufacturer's warranty for the system components, then the irrigator shall 
provide the irrigation system's owner or the owner's representative with applicable 
information regarding the manufacturer's warranty period. The warranty must include the 
irrigator's seal, signature, and date. If the warranty is part of an irrigator's contract, a 
separate warranty document is not required.  
 

(b) An irrigator's written warranty on new irrigation systems must specify the 
irrigator's name, business address, and business telephone number(s), must contain the 
signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative confirming receipt of 
the warranty and must include the statement: "Irrigation in Texas is regulated by the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), MC-178, P.O. Box 130897, 
Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's website is: www.tceq.state.tx.us."  

 
(c) On all maintenance, alterations, repairs, or service to existing irrigation 

systems, an irrigator shall present the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
a written document that identifies the materials furnished in the maintenance, alteration, 
repair, or service. If a warranty is provided, the irrigator shall abide by the terms. The 
warranty document must include the irrigator's name and business contact information.  

 
Section 7-114. Duties and Responsibilities of City Irrigation Inspectors. 
 

A licensed irrigation inspector shall enforce the ordinance of the City, and shall be 
responsible for: 

 
(1) verifying that the appropriate permits have been obtained for an 

irrigation system and that the irrigator and installer or irrigation technician, if 
applicable, are licensed; 

 
(2) inspecting the irrigation system; 
 
(3) determining that the irrigation system complies with the requirements of 

this chapter; 
 
(4) determining that the appropriate backflow prevention device was 

installed, tested, and test results provided to the City; 
 
(5) investigating complaints related to irrigation system installation, 

maintenance, alteration, repairs, or service of an irrigation system and 
advertisement of irrigation services; and 

 



  19

(6) maintaining records according to this chapter. 
 

Section 7-115.  Items not covered by this ordinance. 
 
Any item not covered by their ordinance and required by law shall be governed by 

the Texas Occupations Code, the Texas Water Code, Title 30 of the Texas Administrative 
Code, and any other applicable state statute or Texas Commission on Environmental 
Quality rule. 
 
Section 7-116. Fees. 
 

The City Council may create a schedule of fees for obtaining and renewing an 
irrigation permit.  These fees will be in amounts sufficient to cover the City’s costs in 
issuing and renewing the permits, including, but not limited to, staff time and other 
overhead costs.  The City Council shall adopt by resolution a schedule of the permit fees 
required or authorized.  This schedule of fees is entitled Construction Permit Fees and is 
updated from time to time by Resolution.  It is kept at City offices and also available 
online. 
 
Section 7-117. Enforcement. 
 

(a)  The City shall have the power to administer and enforce the provisions of this 
chapter as may be required by governing law. Any person, firm, corporation or agent who 
shall violate a provision of this code, or fails to comply therewith, or with any of the 
requirements thereof, is subject to suit for injunctive relief as well as prosecution for 
criminal violations. Any violation of the ordinance codified in this chapter is declared to 
be a nuisance. 
 

(b)  Any person violating any provision of chapter shall, upon conviction, be fined 
a sum not exceeding $2000.00. Each day that a provision of this chapter is violated shall 
constitute a separate offense. An offense under this chapter is a Class C misdemeanor, 
punishable by a fine of up to $2000.00. 

 
(c)  Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s right to 

bring a civil action to enforce the provisions of this chapter and to seek remedies as 
allowed by law, including, but not limited to the following: 
 
 (1)   Injunctive relief to prevent specific conduct that violates the ordinance or to 

require specific conduct that is necessary for compliance with the ordinance; and 
 



  20

(2) Other available relief. 
 
 

Part 2: The City Council amends Chapter 7, “Buildings,” of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas, by modifying Article V, entitled, “Plumbing 
Code,” by adding a new Section 7-84, entitled, “Inspection of Backflow Prevention 
Assemblies,” exempting certain irrigation systems from annual testing, to read as 
follows: 
 
Sec. 7-84. Inspection of backflow prevention assemblies. 

 International Plumbing Code, Section 312.9, “Inspection and testing of backflow 
prevention assemblies” is amended to include the following language: 

312.9.3. Landscape irrigation systems are exempted from the annual testing and 
inspection requirement except where the following occurs: 

(1)  When chemicals are added to an irrigation system which is connected 
to the potable water supply; and 

 
(2)  When an irrigation system services property that is also served by an 

on-site sewage facility (septic system). 
 

 
Part 3:  If any provision of this ordinance or the application of any provision to 

any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions 
or applications of the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision 
or application, and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be 
severable. 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

Part 5: The Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas, as amended, shall 
remain in full force and effect, save and except as amended by this ordinance. 

Part 6:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 6th day of 
January, 2011. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 20th day of January, 2011. 



  21

             THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
             _______________________________  
             WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:           APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________  ______________________________   
Clydette Entzminger Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary City Attorney 



 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #3(H) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:     
 
Ken Cicora, Parks and Leisure Services Director 
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   Consider adopting a resolution accepting the annual Child Care Standards 
report from the Parks and Leisure Services Department.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  On August 19, 2004, City Council adopted the Standards of Care for youth 
programs sponsored by the Parks and Leisure Services Department.  The standards were developed 
after the department was contacted by the Texas Department of Protective and Regulatory Services 
(TDPRS).   
 
One of the requirements of the TDPRS is for cities that conduct youth programs to adopt a Standards 
of Care policy.  The purpose of the policy is to assure the community that when they place their 
child/children in one of our programs our facilities are safe, a background check has been conducted 
on our staff and that they are properly trained for the program they will be conducting.   
 
Some of the key elements of the Temple policy include: 
 

• Defining a participant as a youth, ages 5-13, whose parent(s) have completed all required 
registration procedures and determined to be eligible for a Temple Youth Program. 

• Ensuring that criminal background checks will be conducted on prospective Youth Program 
employees.  

• Stating that as soon as possible after employment all appropriate staff will complete a course 
in first aid and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR). 

• Stating that the Parks and Leisure Services Department will provide training and orientation to 
program employees and that staff will be provided with a program manual specific to each 
Youth Program. 

• Indicating that in a Temple youth recreation program, the number of participants may not 
exceed leaders by a minimum ratio of 1 Leader per 20 participants for children 5 years to 13 
years of age.   

 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #3(H) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 
• Assuring parents that they will be notified immediately if a: 

(1) participant is injured; 
(2) participant has a sign or symptom requiring exclusion from the site (i.e. 

communicable disease, fever, illness); or    
(3) if there is an outbreak of any communicable disease that is reportable to the State 

Department of Health.   
• Confirming that all program site(s) will have an annual fire inspection by the City Fire Marshal 

prior to September 1 of each year. 
• Requiring the Parks and Leisure Services Director to make an annual report to the City Council 

on the overall status of the Youth Programs and their operation relative to compliance with the 
adopted Standards of Care. 

 
Texas Department of Protective and Regulatory Services also requires that the plan be reviewed, and 
updated if necessary, and approved by City Council.  We are not recommending any changes this 
year.  
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  None  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
2010 Child Care Standards Report 
Child Care Standards  
Resolution 
 
  



 1

    
Parks and Leisure Services Department  

Child Care Standards Annual Report 
2010 

 
Throughout the 2010 year, the City of Temple Parks and Leisure Services Department 
provided after-school programs for boys and girls ages 5-13 at four Temple I.S.D 
campuses and three Belton I.S.D campuses and St. Mary’s Catholic School. The 
department also organized three summer camps, a spring break camp (Camp Adventure), 
and a holiday camp (Camp Holidaze) for children ranging from 5 to 13 at the Wilson 
Recreation Center. 
 
After School Programs 
The after-school programs run concurrent with the Temple I.S.D and Belton I.S.D. 
calendar, including holidays and teacher workdays. Children attended the programs from 
3:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.  On teacher workdays and holidays, the 
schedule adjusted to a full day.   
 
The children are provided with a quality recreation program that includes such activities 
as arts and crafts, athletics, tutoring, etc.  The children are also provided a healthy snack.  
The after school programs are staffed with part-time employees but supervised by a full 
time Recreation Coordinator and Recreation Specialist. 
 
Location      Attendance (daily average) 
        2009  2010 
Thornton Elementary      33  40 
Western Hills       25  16 
Kennedy Powell      51  47 
Cater        15  11 
Lakewood       33  45 
Pirtle         40  45 
Tarver        30  40 
St. Mary’s       No Program 26 
 
Camps 
In addition to Camp Heatwave, which took place at the Wilson Recreation Center, two 
summer camps were held, Camp Quest at Thornton Elementary school and Camp 
Horizon at Tarver Elementary School. All three were 12 week programs that were staffed 
with part-time recreation leaders and a full-time Recreation Specialist. They were 
supervised by a Recreation Coordinator.  The same staffing format also occurred with 
Camp Holidaze and Camp Adventure 
 
The summer camp’s schedule was 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday at 
Camp Heatwave and 7:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. at Horizon and Quest. The children 
participated in a variety of activities including arts and crafts, athletics, swimming, field 
trips, hiking, disc golf, archery, outdoor adventure programs, etc. The children were 
provided a lunch and an afternoon snack from the Temple I.S.D. and Belton I.S.D. 
summer lunch programs. 
 
Through a partnership with the Temple Independent School District’s A.C.E program was 
able to scholarship 30 children for the summer program at Camp Heatwave.   
 



 2

 
Each participant must submit a signed waiver, registration form and emergency contact 
information. 
   
Camp Name      Attendance (daily average) 
        2009  2010 
Camp Holidaze (Christmas Break)*    75  78 
Camp Adventure (Spring Break)    80  87 
Camp Heatwave (Summer Camp)    195  253 
Camp Horizon       28  65 
Camp Quest       30  47 
 
Scholarships 
Parents who are in need of financial support are provided the opportunity to apply for 
assistance. Based upon the guidelines adopted by The Parks and Leisure Services 
Advisory Board, 38 participants received aid in the form of reduced fees. 
 After School Program 
  19 – 80% (Parents paid $7 per child, weekly) 
  10 – 60% (Parents paid $14 per child, weekly) 
 Camp Holidaze 
  4 – 80% (Parents paid $16 per child, 2 weeks)   
 Camp Adventure 
  7 – 80% (Parents paid $10 per child per week) 
 Camp Heatwave, Quest, Horizon 
  29 – 80% (Parents paid $12 per child, weekly) 
  6 – 60% (Parents paid $24 per child, weekly)) 
   
Inspection Schedule   
 
The Wilson Recreation Center was inspected in January and May 2010 for any hazards or 
potential problems by the Recreation Superintendent.  None were noted. 
 
The Wilson Recreation Center passed the annual fire inspection in June 2010. 
 
All school sites were inspected by the Fire Marshall. 
 
To comply with the guidelines, the Health Department was contacted twice by staff, once 
in May and once in July to do an inspection.  No inspections were conducted. 
 
Training  
Per the adopted Childcare Standards, all staff are CPR/First trained within one year of 
their hire date. Training is twice a year. 
 
All staff who worked with children were given at least 10 hours of training pertinent to 
their programming responsibilities. 
 
All staff were given quarterly safety training. 
 
All training requirements were met. 
 
Recommendations  
 
No recommendations are requested at this time 



 
 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TEMPLE YOUTH PROGRAMS’ 
 STANDARDS OF CARE 
 

The following Standards of Care have been adopted by the City Council of the City of Temple, 
Texas to pursuant to with Texas Human Resources Code Section 42.041(14).  The Standards of Care 
are the minimum standards by which the City of Temple Parks and Leisure Department will operate 
the City’s Youth Programs.   
 
General Administration 
 
1.   Organization 
 
      A. The governing body of the City of Temple youth programs is the Temple City Council. 
 
      B. Implementation of the Youth Program Standards of Care is the responsibility of the 

Superintendent of Recreation. 
 
      C. Youth Programs (“Program”) to which these Standards will apply are the programs held at the 

Wilson Recreation Center and other “Outreach” programs currently operated by the City of 
Temple. Other programs may be subsequently designated by the City of Temple.     

 
      D. Each Youth Program site will have available for public and staff review a current copy of the 

Standards of Care. 
 
      E. Standards of Care will be made available on the Parks and Leisure Services Website 

www.Temple-Parks.net. 
 
      F. Criminal background checks will be conducted on prospective Youth Program employees.  If 

results of that criminal check indicate that an applicant has been convicted of any of the 
following offenses, he or she will not be considered for employment: 

 
(1) felony or a misdemeanor classified as an offense against a person or family; 

 
(2) felony or misdemeanor classified as public indecency; 

 
(3) felony or misdemeanor violation of any law intended to control the possession 

or distribution of any controlled substance; 
 
(4) offense involving moral turpitude; 

 
(5) offense that would potentially put the City of Temple at risk. 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

2

 
2.  Definitions 
 
     A. City: City of Temple 
 
     B. City Council: City Council of the City of Temple 
 
     C. Department: Recreation Division of the Parks and Leisure Services Department of the city of 

Temple 
 
     D. Youth Programs or Program:  City of Temple youth programs held at the Wilson Recreation 

Center, and “Outreach” programs currently operated by the City of Temple.  Other programs 
may be subsequently designated by the City of Temple.   

 
     E. Program Manual: Notebook of policies, procedures, required forms, and organizational and 

programming information relevant to Temple Youth Programs 
 

F. Director: City of Temple Director of Parks and Leisure Services or his or her designee 
 
     G. Recreation Superintendent: person responsible for the overall oversight of the Parks and 

Leisure Services  
 

H. Program Coordinator or Coordinator: City of Temple,  Parks and Leisure Services Department 
full-time recreation staff person  who has been assigned administrative responsibility for a 
Temple Youth Program 

 
I. Recreation Specialist: City of Temple, Parks and Leisure Services Department full-time 

recreation staff person who has been assigned day to day responsibilities to implement the 
City’s Youth Program. 

 
J. Recreation Leader or Leaders:  City of Temple, Parks and  Leisure Services Department part-

time employee who has been assigned responsibility to conduct the City’s Youth Programs 
 

K. Program Site: Any area or facility where Temple Youth Programs are held    
 

L. Participant: A youth, ages 5-13, whose parent(s) have completed all required registration 
procedures and determined to be eligible for a Temple Youth Program 

 
M. Parent(s): This term will be used to represent one or both parent(s) or guardian(s) who have 

legal custody and authority to enroll their child(ren) in Temple Youth Programs 
 

N. Employee(s): Term used to describe people who have been hired to work for the City of 
Temple, Parks and Leisure Services Department and have been assigned responsibility for 
managing, administering, implementing or conducting some portions of the Temple Youth 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

3

Programs. 
 
3.  Inspections/Monitoring/Enforcement 
 
     A. A bi-annual inspection report will be initiated by the Recreation Superintendent to confirm the 

Standards of Care are being adhered to. 
 

(1) Inspection reports will be sent to the Director for review and kept on record for 
at least two years. 

 
(2) The Director will review the report and establish deadlines and criteria for 

compliance with the Standards of Care. 
 
     B. The Recreation Superintendent will make visual inspections of the facilities based on the 

following schedule: 
 

(1)      pre-summer check in May of each year 
 
(2)      winter check in January 

 
     C. Complaints regarding enforcement of the Standards of Care will be directed to the 

Coordinator. The Coordinator will be responsible to take the necessary steps to resolve the 
problems.  All complaints regarding enforcement of the Standards of Care and their resolution 
will be recorded by the Coordinator.  Unresolved complaints regarding enforcement of the 
Standards of Care will be addressed by the Recreation Superintendent, and should they still 
not be resolved, by the Director.  The complaint and the resolution will be documented. 

 
     D. The Director will make an annual report to the City Council on the overall status of the Youth 

Programs and their operation relative to compliance with the adopted Standards of Care. 
 
4.  Enrollment 
 
     A. All children participating in the program must be 5 years of age. Before a child can be 

enrolled, the parents must sign registration forms that contain the child’s: 
 

(1) name, address, home telephone number; 
 
(2) name and address of parents and telephone during program hours; 
 
(3) names and telephone numbers of people to whom the child can be 

released; 
 
(4) statement of the child’s special problems or needs; 
 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

4

(5) proof of residency when appropriate; 
 
(6)  liability waiver which also includes permission for field trips and emergency medical 

authorization.  
 
(7) any medicines the child may be taking  

 
 
5.  Suspected Abuse 
 

Program employees will report suspected child abuse in accordance with the Texas Family 
Code. 
 
 
Staffing-Responsibilities and Training 
 
6.  Youth Program Coordinator Qualifications 
 
     A. Coordinators will be full-time, employees of the Temple Parks and Leisure Services 

Department and will be required to have all Program Leader qualifications as outlined in 
Section 8 of this document. 

 
     B. Coordinators must be at least 21 years old. 
 
     C. Coordinators must have two years experience planning and implementing recreation activities. 
 
     D. Coordinators must be able to pass a background investigation including testing for illegal 

substances. 
 
     E. As soon as possible after employment with the City of Temple , but within one year, 

Coordinators must successfully complete a course in first aid and Cardiopulmonary 
Resuscitation (CPR) offered by either: the City of Temple, American Red Cross, American 
Heart Association, Medic First-Aid Training Program of America, National Safety Council, 
any agency of the State of Texas authorized to provide Emergency Medical Technician or 
Emergency Care Attendant certification, or any other agency recognized by any agency of the 
U.S. Department of Labor to provide certification.   

 
     F. Coordinators must be able to furnish proof of a clear tuberculosis test within 12 months prior 

to their employment date. 
 
7.  Coordinator’s Responsibilities 
 
     A. Coordinators are responsible to administer the Programs’ daily operations in compliance with 

the adopted Standards of Care. 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

5

 
     B. Coordinators are responsible to recommend for hire, supervise, and evaluate Leaders. 
 
     C. Coordinators are responsible to plan, implement, and evaluate programs. 
 
 
8.  Recreation Leader (“Leader”) Qualifications 
 
     A. Leaders will be full-time, part-time or temporary employees of the Parks and  Leisure Services 

Department. 
 

     B. Leaders working with children must be age sixteen (16) or older.   
 
     C. Leaders should be able to consistently exhibit competency, good judgment, and self-control 

when working with children. 
 
     D. Leaders must relate to children with courtesy, respect, tolerance, and patience. 
 
     E. As soon as possible, but within one year of hiring, all of the Leaders at each site must have 

successfully completed a course in first aid and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) offered 
by either: the City of Temple, American Red Cross, American Heart Association, Medic First-
Aid Training Program of America, National Safety Council, any agency of the State of Texas 
authorized to provide Emergency Medical Technician or Emergency Care Attendant 
certification, or any other agency recognized by any agency of the U.S. Department of Labor 
to provide certification.    

 
     F. Each Leader applicant must be able to furnish proof of a clear tuberculosis test within the 12 

months prior to their employment date. 
 
     G. Leader must pass a background investigation including testing for illegal substances. 
 
9.  Leader Responsibilities 
 
     A. Leaders will be responsible to provide participants with an environment in which they can feel 

safe, can enjoy wholesome recreation activities, and can participate in appropriate social 
opportunities with their peers. 

 
     B. Leaders will be responsible to know and follow all City, Departmental, and Program 

standards, policies, and procedures that apply to Temple Youth Programs. 
 
     C. Leaders will ensure that participants are released only to a parent or an adult designated by the 

parent.  All Program sites will have a copy of the Department approved plan to verify the 
identity of a person authorized to pick up a participant if that person is not known to the 
Leader. 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

6

 
      D.  A leader must be with participants at all times or aware of the participants location.    
 
10. Training/Orientation 
 
     A. The Department is responsible to provide training and orientation to Program employees in 

working with children and for specific job responsibilities.  Coordinators will provide each 
Leader with a Program manual specific to each Youth Program. 

 
     B. Leaders must be familiar with the Standards of Care for Youth Program operation as adopted 

by the City Council. 
 
     C. Program employees must be familiar with the Program’s policies including discipline, 

guidance, and release of participants as outlined in the Program Manual. 
 
     D. Program employees will be trained in appropriate procedures to handle emergencies. 
 
     E. Program employees will be trained in areas including City, Departmental, and Program 

policies and procedures; provision of recreation activities; safety issues; and organization. 
 
     F. All program employees will receive 10 hours of training annually. 
 
     G. Program employees will be required to sign an acknowledgment that they received the 

required training. 
 
Operations 
 
11. Staff-Participant Ratio 
 
     A. In a Temple Youth Program, the number of participants may not exceed leaders by a minimum 

ratio of 1 Leader per 20 participants for children 5 years to 13 years of age.   
 
     B. Each participant should have a Program employee who is responsible for him or her and who 

is aware of details of the participant’s habits, interests, and any special problems as identified 
by the participant’s parents during the registration process. 

 
12. Notification 
 

A. Parents must be notified immediately if: 
 

(1) Participant is injured; or 
 
(2) Participant has a sign or symptom requiring exclusion from the site (i.e. communicable 

disease, fever, illness).   



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

7

 
      B. All parents must be notified if there is an outbreak of any communicable disease that is 

reportable to the State Department of Health.   
 

 
13. Discipline 
 
      A. Program employees will implement discipline and guidance in a consistent manner based on 

the best interests of Program participants. 
 
      B. There will be no cruel or harsh punishment or treatment. 
 
      C. Program employees may use brief, supervised separation from the group if necessary. 
 
      D. As necessary, Program employees will initiate discipline reports to the parent(s) of 

participants. Parents will be asked to sign participant discipline reports to indicate they have 
been advised about a specific problem or incident. 

 
      E. A sufficient number and/or severe nature of discipline reports as detailed in the Program 

manual may result in a participant being suspended from the Program. 
 
      F. In instances where there is a danger to participants or staff, offending participants will be 

removed from the Program site as soon as possible. 
 
14. Programming 
 
     A. Program employees will attempt to provide activities for each group according to the 

participants’ ages, interests, and abilities.  The activities must be appropriate to participants’ 
health, safety, and well-being.  The activities also will be flexible and promote the 
participants’ emotional, social, and mental growth. 

 
     B. Program employees will attempt to provide indoor and outdoor time periods to include: 
 

(1) alternating active and passive activities, 
 

(2) opportunity for individual and group activities, and 
 

(3) outdoor time each day weather permits. 
 
     C. Program employees will be attentive and considerate of the participants’ safety on field trips 

and during any transportation provided by the Program. 
 

(1) During trips, Program employees supervising participants must have 
immediate access to emergency medical forms and emergency contact 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

8

information for each participant. 
 

(2) Program employees must have a written list of the participants in the 
group and must check the roll frequently. 

 
(3) Program employees must have first aid supplies and a guide to first aid 

and emergency care available on field trips. 
 

(4) Notice of any field trips will be displayed at a prominent place at each site. 
 
15. Communication 
 
     A. Each Program site will have access to a telephone for use in contacting the Recreation Center 

or making emergency calls. 
 
 
     B. The Coordinator will post the following telephone numbers adjacent to a telephone accessible 

to all Program employees at each site: 
 

(1) Temple ambulance or emergency medical services.  
 

(2) Temple Police Department. 
 

(3) Temple Fire Department. 
 

(4) Poison Control. 
 

(5) The telephone number for the site itself. 
 

(6) Numbers at which parents may be reached. 
  

16. Transportation 
 
     A. First aid supplies and a first aid and emergency care guide will be available in all Program 

vehicles that transport children. 
 
     B. All Program vehicles used for transporting participants must have available a 6-BC portable 

fire extinguisher which will be installed in the passenger compartment of the vehicle and 
which must be accessible to the adult occupants. 

 
     C. A notebook containing the names and telephone numbers of Parents and Physicians shall be 

available in all Program vehicles that transport Participants. 
 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

9

Facility Standards 
 
17. Safety 
 
     A. Program employees will inspect Youth Program sites daily to detect sanitation and safety 

concerns that might affect the health and safety of the participants.  A daily inspection report 
will be completed by the Program staff and kept on file by the Program Coordinator. 

 
     B. Buildings, grounds, and equipment on the Program site will be inspected, cleaned, repaired, 

and maintained to protect the health of the participants. 
 
     C. Program equipment and supplies must be safe for the participant’s use. 
 
     D. Program employees must have first aid supplies available at each site, during transportation, 

and for the duration of any off-site activity. 
 
     E. Program air conditioners, electric fans, and heaters must be mounted out of participants’ reach 

or have safeguards that keep participants from being injured. 
 
     F. Program porches and platforms more than 30 inches above the ground must be equipped with 

railings participants can reach. 
 

G. All swing seats at Program sites must be constructed of durable, lightweight, relatively pliable 
material. 

 
     H. Program employees must have first aid supplies readily available to staff in a designated 

location.  Program employees must have an immediately accessible guide to first aid and 
emergency care. 

 
      I.  The list of Program sites will be provided to the Bell County Health District-   Environmental 

Health Division so that the Health Division can conduct health inspection (s).  
 
18. Fire 
 
     A. In case of fire, danger of fire, explosion, or other emergency, Program employees’ first 

priority is to evacuate the participants to a designated safe area. 
 
     B. The Program site(s) will have an annual fire inspection by the City Fire Marshall prior to 

September 1 of each year, and the resulting report will detail any safety concerns observed, the 
report will be forwarded to the Director who will review and establish deadlines and criteria 
for compliance.  Information from this report will be included in the Director’s annual report 
to the Council. 

 
     C. Each Program site must have at least one fire extinguisher approved by the Fire Marshall 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

10

readily available to all Program employees.  The fire extinguisher is to be inspected monthly 
by the Program Coordinator, and a monthly report will be forwarded to the Coordinator’s 
supervisor who will keep the report on file for a minimum of two years.  All Youth Program 
staff members will be trained in the proper use of fire extinguishers. 

 
19. Health 
 
     A. Illness or Injury 
 

(1) A participant who is considered to be a health or safety concern to 
other participants or staff will not be admitted to the Program. 

 
(2) Illnesses and injuries will be handled in a manner to protect the health 

of all participants and employees. 
 

(3) Program employees will follow plans to provide emergency care for 
injured participants or for participants with symptoms of an acute 
illness as specified in the Program manual. 

 
(4) Program employees will follow the recommendation of the Texas 

Department of Health concerning the admission or readmission of any 
participant after a communicable disease. 

 
     B. Program employees will administer medication only if: 
 

(1) Parent(s) or guardian(s) complete and sign a medication form that 
provides authorization for staff to dispense medication with details as 
to time and dosages.  The form will include a hold harmless clause to 
protect the City. 

 
(2) Prescription medications are in the original containers labeled with the 

child’s name, a date, directions, and the physician’s name.  Program 
staff members will administer the medication only as stated on the 
label.  Program staff will not administer medication after the expiration 
date. 

 
(3) Nonprescription medications are labeled with the child’s name and the 

date the medication was brought to the Program.  Nonprescription 
medication must be in the original container.  The Program staff will 
administer it only according to label direction. 

 
(4) Medications dispensed will be limited to routine oral ingestion not 

requiring special knowledge or skills on the part of Program 
employees.  No injections will be administered by the Program 



 
C:\Documents and Settings\lsteele\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\1O3RWV8I\10 Childcare Standards 
2011.doc 

11

employees. 
 

(5) Program employees must ensure medications are inaccessible to 
participants or, if it is necessary to keep medications in the refrigerator 
(when available), medications will be kept separate from food. 

 
     C. Toilet Facilities 
 

(1) The Program site will have inside toilets located and equipped so children can 
use them independently and program staff can supervise as needed. 

 
(2) There must be one flush toilet for every 30 children.  Urinals may be 

counted in the ratio of toilets to children, but must not exceed 50% of 
the total number of toilets. 

 
(3) An appropriate and adequate number of lavatories will be provided. 

 
     D. Sanitation  
 

(1) The Program site must have adequate light, ventilation, and heat. 
 

(2) The Program must have an adequate supply of water meeting the 
standards of the Texas Department of Health for drinking water and 
ensure that it will be supplied to the participants in a safe and sanitary 
manner. 

 
(3) Program employees must see that garbage is removed from sites daily. 
 

     E. The City will contact the Health Department and request an annual health inspection by the 
Health Department prior to September 1 of each year, and the resulting report will detail any 
safety concerns observed, the report will be forwarded to the Director who will review and 
establish deadlines and criteria for compliance.  Information from this report will be included 
in the Director’s annual report to the Council. 

 



 
RESOLUTION NO. ______________________ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, ACCEPTING THE ANNUAL CHILD CARE 
STANDARDS REPORT FROM THE PARKS AND LEISURE 
SERVICES DEPARTMENT; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, in accordance with the requirement of the Texas Department of 
Protective and Regulatory Services, on November 19, 2004, the City adopted a 
“Standards of Care” policy to be utilized with youth recreation programs; 
 
 Whereas, the purpose of the guidelines is to assure the community that when they 
place their children in one of the City’s recreation programs the facilities are safe, a 
background check has been done on staff, and that they are properly trained for the 
programs they will be conducting; 
 
 Whereas, Temple policy’s requires the Parks and Leisure Services Director to 
make an annual report to the City Council on the overall status of the Youth Programs 
and their operation relative to compliance with the adopted Standards of Care; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Council accepts the annual Child Care Standards report from the 
Parks and Leisure Services Department, attached here to as Exhibit A. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2011. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger     Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

01/20/11 
Item #3(I)  

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Traci Barnard, Director of Finance   
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal year 
2010-2011. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  This item is to recommend various budget amendments, based on the adopted 
FY 2010-2011 budget. The amendments will involve transfers of funds between contingency 
accounts, department and fund levels. 
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The total amount of budget amendments is $3,087,839. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Budget amendments 
Resolution  
 
  



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2011 BUDGET

January 20, 2011

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

110-2330-540-2516 Judgments & Damages (Solid Waste Residential) 5,577$             
110-1500-515-6531 Contingency - Judgments & Damages 5,577$            

Deductible reimbursements to the Texas Municipal League for: (1) expenses related to
an employee discrimination complaint filed against the City by a former employee
($2,426.60); and (2) settlement of a claim filed against the City in connection with an
accident that occurred on October 26, 2010, involving an employee driving a garbage
truck in the 1500 Block of Central Avenue ($3,150.00).

110-2210-522-2513 Special Services (Fire Department) 2,350$             
110-0000-442-1629 Fire Donations/Gifts 2,350$            

This budget adjustment recognizes cash donations from the Temple Fire & Rescue and
appropriates the funds to the Special Services account.  These funds will be used for
events such as the Temple Fire & Rescue Christmas banquet.

110-3293-551-2120 Education/Recreation (Recreation - Athletics) 3,160$             
110-0000-445-1590 Special Events/Classes 3,160$            

Additional funds are needed in Education/Recreation for the purchase of Jingle Bun
Run participant t-shirts.  Participant registrations were up by 166.  Additional revenue
was raised in special events/classes because the Jingle Bun Run exceeded revenue
expectations by $3,160.

110-3700-524-2516 Judgments & Damages (Construction Safety) 10,000$           
110-1500-515-6531 Contingency - Judgments & Damages 10,000$          

Transfer of funds from Contingency - Judgments & Damages to Code Enforcement -
Judgments & Damages

110-3700-524-2516 Judgments & Damages (Construction Safety) 190$                
110-1500-515-6531 Contingency - Judgments & Damages 190$              

Attorney fees for lawsuit filed against the City -- Centex Investments, Inc. v. City of
Temple

260-3400-531-6315 100690 Sidewalk/Curb/Gutter (Grant - Street Dept.) 602,070$         
260-3400-531-6315 100691 Sidewalk/Curb/Gutter 604,779$         
260-0000-431-0163 Federal Grants 1,206,849$     

Appropriate funds for the Safe Routes to School Grant through the Texas Department
of Public Safety.  The City was awarded two Safe Routes to School grants to construct
off-street 10 foot wide pedestrian and bicycle trails at Bonham Middle School and
Lakewood Elementary School.  The estimated cost of both projects is $1,206,849.

260-3500-552-6316 100629 Hike & Bike Trails (Grant - Parks) 1,804,400$      
260-0000-490-2582 Transfer In - General Fund 21,500$          
260-0000-431-0163 Federal Grants 1,782,900$     
110-9100-591-8160 Transfer Out - Grant Fund 21,500$           
110-0000-352-1345 Designated Capital Projects - STEP Grant Match 21,500$          

1



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2011 BUDGET

January 20, 2011

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

Appropriate funds for the Texas Department of Transportation, Surface Transportation
Enhancement Program (STEP).  The City was awarded a STEP Grant to construct a
lighted and landscaped linear trail and landscaped medians in the Temple Medical
Education District.  The project is estimated to cost $2,377,200.

260-6000-515-2110 Office Supplies (CDBG) 800$              
260-6000-515-2111 Computer Supplies 800$              
260-6000-515-2128 Postage 1,000$            
260-6000-515-2610 Telephone 486$              
260-6000-515-2616 Professional 5,370$             
260-6000-515-6532 Contingency 2,284$            
260-6100-571-6315 100623 Sidewalk/Curb Gutter - 1st Street 23,195$           
260-6100-571-6516 100485 Park Improvements - Jones Park 1$                    
260-6100-571-6532 Contingency 23,194$          
260-0000-431-0131 CDBG Grant Revenue 2$                  

Adjust the amounts carried forward for CDBG to reflect the approved annual action
plan.  Some funds were reallocated and program income from prior years (in the
Contingency account) was programmed.

520-5200-535-6357 100674 Water Line Improvement - Calhoun Ave (W&S) 5,247$             
520-5400-535-6359 100560 Sewer Line Replacement - S Main & S 1st St 5,247$            

To appropriate additional funds from completed project for change order #5 for
Central Fire Station #1.  The change order is for work required to lower the waterline
that was found 6 inches below the paving grade.

TOTAL AMENDMENTS 3,087,839$      3,087,839$    

GENERAL FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance -$                   
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -$                   
Carry forward from Prior Year -$                   
Taken From Contingency -$                   
Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                   

Beginning Judgments & Damages Contingency 80,000$          
Added to Contingency Judgments & Damages from Council Contingency -$                   
Taken From Judgments & Damages (34,115)$        
Net Balance of Judgments & Damages Contingency Account 45,885$          

Beginning Fuel Contingency 55,841$          
Added to Fuel Contingency -$                   
Taken From Fuel Contingency -$                   
Net Balance of Fuel Contingency Account 55,841$          

Beginning Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency 628,756$        
Added to Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency -$                   
Taken From Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency (628,756)$      
Net Balance of Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency Account -$                   

Net Balance Council Contingency 101,726$       

2



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2011 BUDGET

January 20, 2011

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

Beginning Balance Budget Sweep Contingency -$                   
Added to Budget Sweep Contingency -$                   
Taken From Budget Sweep -$                   
Net Balance of Budget Sweep Contingency Account -$                   

WATER & SEWER FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance 50,000$          
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -$                   
Taken From Contingency (19,433)$        
Net Balance of Contingency Account 30,567$          

Beginning Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency 100,365$        
Added to Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency -$                   
Taken From Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency (100,365)$      
Net Balance of Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency Account -$                   

Net Balance Water & Sewer Fund Contingency 30,567$         

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND
Beginning Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency 10,968$          
Added to Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency -$                   
Taken From Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency (10,968)$        
Net Balance of Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency Account -$                   

DRAINAGE FUND
Beginning Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency 9,911$            
Added to Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency -$                   
Taken From Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency (9,911)$          
Net Balance of Self Insurance Start Up Cost Contingency Account -$                   

FED/STATE GRANT FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance 2,284$            
Carry forward from Prior Year 25,229$          
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -$                   
Taken From Contingency (25,478)$        
Net Balance of Contingency Account 2,035$            

3



 RESOLUTION NO. ________________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, APPROVING  BUDGET AMENDMENTS TO THE 
2010-2011 CITY BUDGET; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 
  

 
Whereas, on the 2nd day of September, 2010, the City Council approved a 

budget for the 2010-2011 fiscal year; and 
 

Whereas, the City Council deems it in the public interest to make certain 
amendments to the 2010-2011 City Budget. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council approves amending the 2010-2011 City Budget by 
adopting the budget amendments which are more fully described in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 
this Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of 
the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of January, 2011. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

       
WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger    Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

    
 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

 
01/20/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 7 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Autumn Speer, Director of Community Services   
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-08:  Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a zoning change from multiple zoning district classifications to Temple Medical 
and Education District (TMED) zones being T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-h, SD-v and SD-c on 
approximately 849+/- acres.   
 
 
P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  At its January 3, 2011 meeting, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission voted 6/0 in accordance with staff recommendation to recommend approval of the 
proposed zoning change from multiple zoning district classifications to Temple Medical and Education 
District (TMED) zones being T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-h, SD-v and SD-c for approximately 849+/- 
acres.    
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinance as presented in item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for February 3, 2011.   
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  In February 2008, the City entered into a Letter of Understanding (LOU) with 
Scott & White Memorial Hospital, Central Texas Veterans Healthcare System, Temple Health & 
Bioscience Economic Development District, Texas A&M Health Science Center College of Medicine, 
and Temple College. The sponsoring entities entered into the LOU as a cooperative and collaborative 
relationship to jointly promote education and medical activities of Scott & White, the VA, Temple 
College, the Bioscience District, and Texas A&M Health Science Center and to advance the 
redevelopment of both residential and commercial neighborhoods surrounding the campuses. This 
community-wide redevelopment effort, entitled “TMED”, is aimed at ensuring the long term economic 
vitality of a critical area in our City.   
 
The vision for the TMED is to enhance and protect the existing opportunities for medical, educational, 
and research-related activity in the area, while identifying new public and private sector investment for 
the area. To accomplish these goals, the sponsoring entities are implementing redevelopment tools 
and funding sources to benefit the TMED.   
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 7 

 
One such tool is the creation of the TMED zoning district.  The purpose of the zoning district and 
related specifications is to assist the City of Temple and owners to create the unique environment for 
TMED by providing criteria that will coordinate the character and quality of the entire district. This 
coordination creates identity, quality of place and an enhanced value that will attract and retain a 
vibrant mixed use environment. It is a result of detailed attention to the form and the feel of buildings 
and landscape design that anchors a project in its local and regional environmental setting. These 
development plans assist in communicating the intent and requirements in implementing this vision of 
TMED. 
 
The creation of the TMED zoning district is a two step process.  The first part created the TMED 
Districts in the UDC framework.  This zoning change is the second part of the process to rezone the 
property in the TMED zoning district boundaries.   
 
COORDINATING GROUP: 
To carry out the purposes of the TMED, the sponsoring entities each have an appointed official to sit 
on a nine member Coordinating Group. In addition, the City Council appointed three residents who 
have or maintain a residence or commercial property interest within the boundaries of the TMED. 
 
The following activities led up to the creation of the TMED zoning district:   
 

• Kick-Off Meeting - 3/24/2010  
• Informational and Design Workshops - April 2010 

o Avenue M (31st - 1st)  4/7/2010  
o TISD Shared Facilities  4/7/2010 
o Bioscience District and S&W & Health Science Group  4/8/2010 
o Veterans Administration Group  4/8/2010 
o Temple College & Blackland Group  4/8/2010  
o East Side Group  4/8/2010 
o West Side Group  4/8/2010 
o TMED Coordinating Group  4/8/2010 

• Review of Detailed Ordinance (TMED Coordinating Group) - 5/5/2010 
• Review of Detailed Ordinance (General Public) - 5/5/2010  
• City Council Presentation - 7/1/2010  
• P&Z Presentation - 7/6/2010 
• Review - TMED Coordinating Group - 7/7/2010 
• P&Z Presentation – 11/15/2010 
• City Council Presentation – 11/18/2010 
• P&Z Public Hearing TMED Text Creation – 12/7/2010 
• City Council Public Hearing TMED Text Creation -   12/16/2010 
• P&Z Public Hearing Rezone – 1/3/2011 
• City Council Second Reading – 1/6/2011 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 7 

 
 
DISTRICT FORMAT: 
The TMED zoning district includes three transect zones and four special districts.  Each of the 
transect zones represent greater intensity of use and density permitted.  The four special districts 
include the land owned by Scott and White Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center, Central 
Texas Veterans Health Care System, Temple College and Temple ISD.  
 

T4 General Urban Zone: consists of a mixed-use but primarily residential urban fabric. It may 
have a wide range of building types: single, side yard and row houses. Setbacks and 
landscaping are variable. Streets with curbs and sidewalks define medium-sized blocks. 
 
T5-e Neighborhood Edge Zone: consists of a mid-density mixed-use but primarily 
commercial, retail and office urban fabric. It typically has a single row of teaser parking located 
in front of the principal building, with strong vehicular cross-connection among adjacent 
properties. It primarily has attached buildings with wide sidewalks, rhythmic street tree planting 
and buildings set close to the sidewalks. 
 
T5-c Urban Center Zone: consists of higher-density, mixed-use buildings that accommodate 
retail, offices, row houses and apartments. It has a tight network of streets with wide sidewalks, 
rhythmic street tree planting and buildings set close to the sidewalks. 
 
Special Districts: consist of institutions with buildings that by their current function, disposition 
or configuration cannot, or should not, conform to one or more of the normal Transect Zones. 
The referencing to a particular institution in a Special District is as follows: 

 
• S&W Memorial Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center (SD-h) 
• The Central Texas Veterans Health Care System (SD-v) 
• Temple College (SD-c) 
• Temple Independent School District (SD-t) 

 
The area proposed to be rezoned currently consists of several types of zoning districts including 
industrial, commercial, retail and residential districts.  The rezoning of these properties will 
consolidate the various existing zoning categories into the seven TMED zoning categories in 
accordance with the following table:  
 
 

Existing Zoning Current 
Zoning 

Proposed Zoning 

T4 T5-e T5-c SD-t SD-
h 

SD-
v SD-c 

Two -Family 101 53.5 34.5 11 2    
Multi-Family 1 15      12 3 
Multi-Family 2 10 5.5 .5 4     
Mixed Use 2      2  
Neighborhood Service 3 2  1     
Office 2 19 1.5 3 11  3.5   
General Retail 159 88 58 11  2   



 
 

 
 
 

        

Commercial 22 1 1 20     
Light Industrial 22 5 8     9 
Heavy Industrial 1 .5 .5      
Totals  354 157 105.5 58 2 5.5 14 12 

 
Existing buildings and use will not be affected by the proposed zoning changes until such time they 
seek to expand or change uses.  The applicability table below outlines when TMED requirements will 
come into effect: 
 

Development 
Type 

R
ev

ie
w

 P
ro

ce
ss

 

G
en

er
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

U
se

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

St
an

da
rd

s 
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
Lo

ad
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s

B
ic

yc
le

 
Fa

ci
lit

y 
St

an
da

rd
s

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
St

d
d

Sc
re

en
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Pu
bl

ic
 

Fr
on

ta
ge

 
St

an
da

rd
s

G
en

er
al

 
Pl

an
tin

g 
C

rit
er

ia
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 
St

an
da

rd
s

C
om

m
on

 A
re

a 

Si
gn

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Li
gh

tin
g 

St
an

da
rd

s 

U
til

ity
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 

New construction 
(all types)                

Increase in gross 
floor area of 50% or 
more or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to or 
greater than 50% of 
the assessed value 
of improvements 
per the current tax 
roll 

               

Increase in gross 
floor area of 25%-
49% or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to 25%-
49% of the 
assessed value of 
improvements per 
the current tax roll 

               

Increase in gross 
floor area of 10%-
24% or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to 10%-
24% of the 
assessed value of 
improvements per 

           

 

   



 
 

Development 
Type 

R
ev

ie
w

 P
ro

ce
ss

 

G
en

er
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

U
se

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

St
an

da
rd

s 
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
Lo

ad
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s

B
ic

yc
le

 
Fa

ci
lit

y 
St

an
da

rd
s

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
St

d
d

Sc
re

en
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Pu
bl

ic
 

Fr
on

ta
ge

 
St

an
da

rd
s

G
en

er
al

 
Pl

an
tin

g 
C

rit
er

ia
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 
St

an
da

rd
s

C
om

m
on

 A
re

a 

Si
gn

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Li
gh

tin
g 

St
an

da
rd

s 

U
til

ity
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 

the current tax roll 
Restoration or 
rehabilitation of 
existing structure 
with no increase in 
gross floor area 
(non-residential and 
multi-family) 

           

 

 

  

Interior only 
restoration or 
rehabilitation of 
existing structure 
with no increase in 
gross floor area 
(non-residential and 
multi-family) 

           

 

 

  

Restoration or 
rehabilitation of 
existing structure 
with no increase in 
gross floor area 
(single family 
residential only) 

           

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
  



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 6 of 7 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: 
The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan: 
 

• Goal 3.1 - Enhanced character and development guidance around Temple’s key economic 
assets. 

o The rezoning of this area establishes character based zoning for the TMED.  
 

• Goal 3.3 - Renewed vitality and development interest in Temple’s oldest neighborhoods. 
o The proposed rezoning targets an area identified for redevelopment potential.  

 
• Goal 3.4 - Better image and identity for Temple by setting a higher standard for public and 

private development practices. 
o The TMED districts have increased design standards and requirements. 

 
• Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should be consistent with the City’s infrastructure 

and public service capacities and desired community form and character. 
o The TMED zoning districts encourage new development in the area and allow for infill 

and higher density in exchange for increased design standards.  
 

• Goal 5.4 - A mobility system that is integrated with and complements neighborhood and 
community character. 

o A key element of the TMED zoning districts is the requirement for wider sidewalks and 
streetscape and pedestrian amenities.  

 
• Goal 6.1 - Neighborhood environments and residential living options that make Temple an 

inviting place to call home.  
o The TMED zoning districts include increased design standards for high-density 

residential and incorporate anti-monotony provisions for residential development. 
 

• Goal 6.2 - An expanding housing stock that offers local buyers and renters both affordability 
and value. 

o The TMED zoning districts include a wide variety of housing types permitted by right 
and decreased lot area requirements.   

 
• Goal 6.3 - A diverse mix of residential options to address both life-cycle needs and interests of 

various niche groups seeking new or existing housing in Temple. 
o The TMED zoning districts include a wide variety of housing types permitted by right 

and decreased lot area requirements.   
 

• Goal 7.1 - A vibrant and growing Healthcare and Bioscience economic cluster in Temple. 
o The proposed rezoning is a step towards revitalization for the area which promotes a 

dense, mixed-use environment.  
 

• Goal 7.4 - Excellence in Temple schools and higher education to assist in attracting employers 
and employees. 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 7 of 7 

 
o The creation of the TMED district aids in the development of a revitalization plan for the 

Temple College area.   
 

• Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character map identifies this area as the Temple Medical and 
Education District. 

 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE:  The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public 
hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance. Staff mailed 355 
notices to property owners within the TMED Districts and 523 courtesy notices to property owners 
within 200’ of the proposed zoning change.  Several calls have been received expressing concerns 
about increased taxes and potential impacts on individual properties. 
 
As of Friday January 7, 2011, the following responses have been received: 
 

Of 355 notices to property owners within the TMED Districts: 
24 in Favor, 11 Opposed 
 

Of 523 courtesy notices to property owners within 200’ of the proposed zoning change:  
44 in Favor, 18 Opposed, 1 Neutral 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  NA 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
Map 
Response Letters 
P&Z Staff Report 
P&Z Minutes (January 3, 2011) 
Ordinance 
 
  



























































        PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM       
 

 
1/03/11 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1  

 
 
APPLICANT: City of Temple 
 
CASE MANAGER:  Autumn Speer, Director of Community Services 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Z-FY-11-08  Hold a public hearing and recommend action on a proposed zone 
change from multiple zoning district classifications to Temple Medical and Education District (TMED) 
zones being T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-h, SD-v and SD-c for approximately 849+/- acres. 
 
BACKGROUND:   
In February 2008, the City entered into a Letter of Understanding (LOU) with Scott & White Memorial 
Hospital, Central Texas Veterans Healthcare System, Temple Health & Bioscience Economic 
Development District, Texas A&M Health Science Center College of Medicine, and Temple College. 
The sponsoring entities entered into the LOU as a cooperative and collaborative relationship to jointly 
promote education and medical activities of Scott & White, the VA, Temple College, the Bioscience 
District, and Texas A&M Health Science Center and to advance the redevelopment of both residential 
and commercial neighborhoods surrounding the campuses. This community-wide redevelopment 
effort, entitled “TMED”, is aimed at ensuring the long term economic vitality of a critical area in our 
City.   
 
The vision for the TMED is to enhance and protect the existing opportunities for medical, educational, 
research-related activity in the area, while identifying new public and private sector investment for the 
area. To accomplish these goals, the sponsoring entities are implementing redevelopment tools and 
funding sources to benefit the TMED.   
 
One such tool is the creation of the TMED zoning district.  The purpose of the zoning district and 
related specifications is to assist the City of Temple and owners to create the unique environment for 
TMED by providing criteria that will coordinate the character and quality of the entire district. This 
coordination creates identity, quality of place and an enhanced value that will attract and retain a 
vibrant mixed use environment. It is a result of detailed attention to the form and the feel of buildings 
and landscape design that anchors a project in its local and regional environmental setting. These 
development plans assist in communicating the intent and requirements in implementing this vision of 
TMED. 
 
The creation of the TMED zoning district is a two step process.  The first part created the TMED 
Districts in the UDC framework.  This zoning change is the second part of the process to rezone the 
property in the TMED zoning district boundaries.   
 
COORDINATING GROUP: 
To carry out the purposes of the TMED, the sponsoring entities each have an appointed official to sit 
on a nine member Coordinating Group. In addition, the City Council appointed three residents who 
have or maintain a residence or commercial property interest within the boundaries of the TMED. 
 



The following activities led up to the creation of the TMED zoning district:   
 

• Kick-Off Meeting - 3/24/2010  
• Informational and Design Workshops - April 2010 

o Avenue M (31st - 1st)  4/7/2010  
o TISD Shared Facilities  4/7/2010 
o Bioscience District and S&W & Health Science Group  4/8/2010 
o Veterans Administration Group  4/8/2010 
o Temple College & Blackland Group  4/8/2010  
o East Side Group  4/8/2010 
o West Side Group  4/8/2010 
o TMED Coordinating Group  4/8/2010 

• Review of Detailed Ordinance (TMED Coordinating Group) - 5/5/2010 
• Review of Detailed Ordinance (General Public) - 5/5/2010  
• City Council Presentation - 7/1/2010  
• P&Z Presentation - 7/6/2010 
• Review - TMED Coordinating Group - 7/7/2010 
• P&Z Presentation – 11/15/2010 
• City Council Presentation – 11/18/2010 
• P&Z Public Hearing TMED Text Creation – 12/7/2010 
• City Council Public Hearing TMED Text Creation -   12/16/2010 
• City Council Second Reading – 1/6/2011 

 
DISTRICT FORMAT: 
The TMED zoning district includes three transect zones and four special districts.  Each of the 
transect zones represent greater intensity of use and density permitted.  The four special districts 
include the land owned by Scott and White Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center, Central 
Texas Veterans Health Care System, Temple College and Temple ISD.  
 

T4 General Urban Zone: consists of a mixed-use but primarily residential urban fabric. It may 
have a wide range of building types: single, side yard and row houses. Setbacks and 
landscaping are variable. Streets with curbs and sidewalks define medium-sized blocks. 
 
T5-e Neighborhood Edge Zone: consists of a mid-density mixed-use but primarily 
commercial, retail and office urban fabric. It typically has a single row of teaser parking located 
in front of the principal building, with strong vehicular cross-connection among adjacent 
properties. It primarily has attached buildings with wide sidewalks, rhythmic street tree planting 
and buildings set close to the sidewalks. 
 
T5-c Urban Center Zone: consists of higher-density, mixed-use buildings that accommodate 
retail, offices, row houses and apartments. It has a tight network of streets with wide sidewalks, 
rhythmic street tree planting and buildings set close to the sidewalks. 
 
Special Districts: consist of institutions with buildings that by their current function, disposition 
or configuration cannot, or should not, conform to one or more of the normal Transect Zones. 
The referencing to a particular institution in a Special District is as follows: 

 
• S&W Memorial Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center (SD-h) 
• The Central Texas Veterans Health Care System (SD-v) 
• Temple College (SD-c) 



• Temple Independent School District (SD-t) 
 
The area proposed to be rezoned currently consists of several types of zoning districts including 
industrial, commercial, retail and residential districts.  The rezoning of these properties will 
consolidate the various existing zoning categories into the seven TMED zoning categories in 
accordance with the following table:  
 

Existing Zoning Current 
Zoning 

Proposed Zoning 
T4 T5-e T5-c SD-t SD-h SD-v SD-c 

Two -Family 101 53.5 34.5 11 2    
Multi-Family 1 15      12 3 
Multi-Family 2 10 5.5 .5 4     
Mixed Use 2      2  
Neighborhood Service 3 2  1     
Office 2 19 1.5 3 11  3.5   
General Retail 159 88 58 11  2   
Commercial 22 1 1 20     
Light Industrial 22 5 8     9 
Heavy Industrial 1 .5 .5      
Totals  354 157 105.5 58 2 5.5 14 12 

 
Existing buildings and use will not be affected by the proposed zoning changes until such time they 
seek to expand or change uses.  The applicability table below outlines when TMED requirements will 
come into effect: 
 

Development Type 

R
ev

ie
w

 P
ro

ce
ss

 

G
en

er
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

U
se

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

St
an

da
rd

s 
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
Lo

ad
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

B
ic

yc
le

 F
ac

ili
ty

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Sc
re

en
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Pu
bl

ic
 F

ro
nt

ag
e 

St
an

da
rd

s 

G
en

er
al

 P
la

nt
in

g 
C

rit
er

ia
 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 

C
om

m
on

 A
re

a 

Si
gn

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Li
gh

tin
g 

St
an

da
rd

s 

U
til

ity
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 
New construction (all 
types)                

Increase in gross floor 
area of 50% or more or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to or greater 
than 50% of the 
assessed value of 
improvements per the 
current tax roll 

               

Increase in gross floor 
area of 25%-49% or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to 25%-49% 
of the assessed value 
of improvements per 
the current tax roll 

               

Increase in gross floor              



Development Type 

R
ev

ie
w

 P
ro

ce
ss

 

G
en

er
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

U
se

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

St
an

da
rd

s 
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
Lo

ad
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

B
ic

yc
le

 F
ac

ili
ty

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Sc
re

en
in

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

Pu
bl

ic
 F

ro
nt

ag
e 

St
an

da
rd

s 

G
en

er
al

 P
la

nt
in

g 
C

rit
er

ia
 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 

C
om

m
on

 A
re

a 

Si
gn

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

Li
gh

tin
g 

St
an

da
rd

s 

U
til

ity
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 

area of 10%-24% or 
modifications with a 
cost equal to 10%-24% 
of the assessed value 
of improvements per 
the current tax roll 
Restoration or 
rehabilitation of existing 
structure with no 
increase in gross floor 
area (non-residential 
and multi-family) 

           

 

 

  

Interior only restoration 
or rehabilitation of 
existing structure with 
no increase in gross 
floor area (non-
residential and multi-
family) 

           

 

 

  

Restoration or 
rehabilitation of existing 
structure with no 
increase in gross floor 
area (single family 
residential only) 

           

 

 

  

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: 
The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan: 
 

• Goal 3.1 - Enhanced character and development guidance around Temple’s key economic 
assets. 

o The rezoning of this area establishes character based zoning for the TMED.  
 

• Goal 3.3 - Renewed vitality and development interest in Temple’s oldest neighborhoods. 
o The proposed rezoning targets an area identified for redevelopment potential.  

 
• Goal 3.4 - Better image and identity for Temple by setting a higher standard for public and 

private development practices. 
o The TMED districts have increased design standards and requirements. 

 
• Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should be consistent with the City’s infrastructure 

and public service capacities and desired community form and character. 
o The TMED zoning districts encourage new development in the area and allow for infill 

and higher density in exchange for increased design standards.  



• Goal 5.4 - A mobility system that is integrated with and complements neighborhood and 
community character. 

o A key element of the TMED zoning districts is the requirement for wider sidewalks and 
streetscape and pedestrian amenities.  

 
• Goal 6.1 - Neighborhood environments and residential living options that make Temple an 

inviting place to call home.  
o The TMED zoning districts include increased design standards for high-density 

residential and incorporate anti-monotony provisions for residential development. 
 

• Goal 6.2 - An expanding housing stock that offers local buyers and renters both affordability 
and value. 

o The TMED zoning districts include a wide variety of housing types permitted by right 
and decreased lot area requirements.   

 
• Goal 6.3 - A diverse mix of residential options to address both life-cycle needs and interests of 

various niche groups seeking new or existing housing in Temple. 
o The TMED zoning districts include a wide variety of housing types permitted by right 

and decreased lot area requirements.   
 

• Goal 7.1 - A vibrant and growing Healthcare and Bioscience economic cluster in Temple. 
o The proposed rezoning is a step towards revitalization for the area which promotes a 

dense, mixed-use environment.  
 

• Goal 7.4 - Excellence in Temple schools and higher education to assist in attracting employers 
and employees. 

o The creation of the TMED district aids in the development of a revitalization plan for the 
Temple College area.   

 
• Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character map identifies this area as the Temple Medical 

Education District. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public 
hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance. Staff mailed 355 
notices to property owners within the TMED Districts and 523 courtesy notices to property owners 
within 200’ of the proposed zoning change.  Several calls have been received expressing concerns 
about increased taxes and potential impacts on individual properties. 
 
As of Tuesday December 28, 2010, 8 letters have been received, 6 in favor, one neutral and one in 
opposition. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-08, an amendment to the 
Unified Development Code to adopt standards for the TMED zoning districts. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
NA 
 



ATTACHMENTS: 
TMED Images 
Existing Zoning Map 
Proposed TMED Zoning Map 
Notice Map 
Response Letters 
 



TMED IMAGES: 
 

 
North View from First Street and SE HK Dodgen Loop 

 

 
Veterans Administration First Street 

 



 
1st Street 

 
  

 
1st Street from Avenue M 
 
 



 
5th Street and Avenue R 
 

 
Avenue M and 31st Street 
 
 
 
 



 
Avenue R and 25th Street 
 

 
31st Street 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
EXISTING ZONING MAP: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
PROPOSED ZONING MAP: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

NOTICE MAP: 
 



1 

EXCERPTS FROM THE 
  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JANUARY 3, 2011 
 
ACTION ITEMS 

Item 5: Z-FY-11-08  Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action on a 
proposed zone change from multiple zoning district classifications to Temple 
Medical and Education District (TMED) zones being T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-
h, SD-v and SD-c for approximately 849± acres. (Applicant: City of Temple) 

Ms. Autumn Speer, Director of Community Services, stated this was the second part of 
the TMED project, the rezoning of the property.  

The purpose of the TMED is to create a unique multi-modal community with pedestrian 
oriented development, compact neighborhoods, mixed use centers, variety of housing 
options, and a community that works and feeds off of the various businesses within that 
district. 

The Public Input process included the following: 

Kick-Off Meeting - 3/24/2010  
Informational and Design Workshops - April 2010 
Avenue M (31st - 1st)  4/7/2010  
TISD Shared Facilities  4/7/2010 
Bioscience District and S&W & Health Science Group  4/8/2010 
Veterans Administration Group  4/8/2010 
Temple College & Blackland Group  4/8/2010  
East Side Group  4/8/2010 
West Side Group  4/8/2010 
TMED Coordinating Group  4/8/2010 
Review of Detailed Ordinance (TMED Coordinating Group) - 5/5/2010 
Review of Detailed Ordinance (General Public) - 5/5/2010  
City Council Presentation - 7/1/2010  
P&Z Presentation - 7/6/2010 
Review - TMED Coordinating Group - 7/7/2010  
P&Z Work Session -11/15/2010 
City Council Work Session – 11/18/2010 
P&Z Public Hearing TMED Text Creation – 12/7/2010 
Stakeholder Meeting – 12/10/2010 
City Council Public Hearing TMED Text Creation - 12/16/2010 
City Council Second Reading TMED Text Creation – 1/6/2011 

Ms. Speer shows several slides of the TMED area and explains the boundaries--north 
of the loop, 1st Street, VA hospital, Temple College, Avenue M, 31st Street, and 25th 



2 

Street. There is an area called a residential donut hole in the middle that will not be 
affected.  

Zoning categories: 

T4 - General Urban, primarily residential and commercial retail uses with 
limitations,  

T5-e - Neighborhood Edge Zone, contains more residential but with more retail 
uses 

T5-c - Urban Center Zone; 

And the four Special Districts:   

SD-h – S&W and Texas A&M Health Scient Center,  
SD-v – Central Texas Veterans Health Care,  
SD-c – Temple College, and  
SD-t – Temple I.S.D. 

TMED zoning district deals with use and form, i.e., how the land is configured, how the 
building is placed on the property, and what the building looks like. This will only affect 
new construction and not existing. 

Some of the various Use Standards include: 

Encourage/require mixed use 
Single family detached – T4 and T5-e  
Rowhouses permitted in all 
Multi-family  
Mixed use in T5-e  
Limited in T5-c  
Specific retail and service uses 
Limit drive thrus = pedestrian orientation 
Hotels with specific requirements 
Medical uses and research facilities 
Theatres 
Fuel sales with limitation on 31st 

Some landscaping requirements include specifications for private and commercial 
properties. Screening will be required for dumpsters, roof equipment, etc. Specified 
fence materials will be required and public frontage types and elements will depend on 
the specific area. Building design deals with materials used on new construction and 
how it will appear. Additional TMED requirements include parking, warrants and 
variances, plantings, open space, and signage. 

Ms. Speer gives examples of current zoning district breakdowns and describes 
Applicability standards. 



3 

355 notices were mailed out to property owners (blue & gray area). 23 notices have 
been received in favor and 11 notices received in opposition, to date. 523 courtesy 
notices (orange) were mailed out and 35 were received in favor and 17 opposed, one 
neutral. 

Staff recommends approval of this TMED rezoning and if approved, would go forward to 
City Council for public hearing on January 20th. 

Commissioner Sears stated a common concern for residents was possible tax changes. 
Ms. Speer stated Bell County Appraisal District assesses the tax value, not the City of 
Temple, and the TMED has no bearing on taxes. 

Commissioner Pope stated unless one is planning on a major addition to a residence in 
the area, none of this would apply. Ms. Speer confirmed that comment was correct. The 
district would grandfather all of the uses currently in effect. 

Commissioner Staats asked if it was possible to do 5% improvement each year to come 
up with the 25% and Ms. Speer stated probably incrementally, but as it goes through 
the permitting  process it would be flagged for review. 

Chair Talley asked about the Neighborhood Edge Zone (T5) and the single row of 
teaser parking.  Was parking behind the buildings?  Ms. Speer stated with all of the rest 
of the districts the parking had to be on the side and rear and meet a frontage 
requirement. The teaser parking on 1st Street allowed for some parking on the front. 

Chair Talley opened the public hearing. 

Mr. Joe LaBay, 10422 Cove Ridge, Dallas, Texas, 75218 stated the property which he 
would like to develop is in the T5-c area and would like to create a long-term care facility 
and/or assisted living or independent living facility, however, nursing homes and long-
term care are not addressed under the current medical uses allowed. Would this use be 
included in the medical uses for the area?  His property is located on Scott & White 
Blvd. and Loop 363 (extension of 25th). Mr. LaBay also had concerns about parking.  

Ms. Speer stated the Ordinance does not include nursing homes or assisted living and 
is currently dealt with as multi-family but could be added to the uses, perhaps residential 
category. This could be done through a text amendment. 

Mr. Don Gross, 1213 S. 19th Street, Temple, asked if both sides of Avenue M would be 
included and would there be better control over it. He stated Avenue M was currently a 
heavily traveled road with lots of waiting and wanted to know if this would create more 
traffic in the area. Mr. Gross stated he did not want more convenience stores in the area 
or have his taxes raised. Mr. Gross asked if this issue would apply to him if he were to 
add 30-35% square footage to his building this summer. Mr. Gross lives in the buffer 
area (orange) and Ms. Speer stated he would just have to go through the normal 
permitting process. 



4 

Commissioner Staats stated 31st Street was an FM and lights were controlled by TxDot, 
not the City. As the City grows, more people commute. Commissioner Staats suggested 
Mr. Gross voice his concerns to the traffic department for the best maintenance and 
control of the area. 

Commissioner Sears asked if there were any plan to improve the traffic flow from 31st 
Street to 1st Street. Ms. Kim Foutz, Assistant City Manager and Staff Liaison for TMED, 
responded to the question and stated some improvements were contemplated, such as 
Avenue R and Avenue B extensions, but she was not aware of any improvements for 
Avenue M. Ms. Foutz stated the philosophy behind the TMED district was to be multi-
modal, not just car oriented. Many of the improvements would be to allow more hiking, 
biking and pedestrian related activities. Ms. Foutz stated the City has been working with 
TxDOT to make improvements on 1st Street which was a long-term project. 

Commissioner Staats asked about the cross-connectivity in the City. Ms. Foutz stated 
hike and bike trails would be installed all along 1st Street from the Loop up to Avenue 
M, and those trails would be extended to the downtown area. Also, just north of Marvin 
Felder, would be a hike and bike trail connected all the way through to Scott & White 
Blvd. Discussions regarding installation of sidewalks along Scott & White Blvd are 
currently underway. 13th Street may include another road through the area to extend 
13th Street to 17th Street. Commissioner Staats asked if Avenue T would be extended 
to tie into Scott & White Blvd and Ms. Foutz responded there have not been any 
extensive discussions regarding that project, but there would be a hike and bike trail 
connecting it. 

Mr. Donovan Williams, 1509 S. 33rd Street, Temple, stated everything sounded good 
and agreed with the rezoning, however, he had a question regarding property changing 
hands and would new owners automatically be required to upgrade a residence. Ms. 
Speer stated the grandfathering stays with the property, not the owner. 

Mr. Bob Noble, 1723 S. 15th Street, Temple, asked what type of street improvements 
would be made to Avenue R and Ms. Speer stated Avenue R has potential for some on-
street bicycle discussion and some potential for sidewalk agreements to run east and 
west along Avenue R. Commissioner Pilkington asked if those improvements would be 
in the existing rights-of-way and Ms. Speer did not know at this time.  

Commissioner Pope asked if a public hearing would be held at City Council on 
Thursday, January 6th and Ms. Speer stated no, January 6th was the district creation’s 
second reading. The public hearing for the rezoning would be held on January 20th. 

Mr. Alex Ladesmo, 1309 S. 29th Street (T5-c), Temple, stated since taxes were a 
concern and the City was not responsible for taxes, the County should have had a 
representative at the meeting. He was also concerned about the heavy traffic at Avenue 
M and 31st Street. Mr. Ladesmo stated since the City has been working on this item 
since 2008, the public should have had more time to review this issue and the notice 
should have been sent out much earlier than December of 2010.  



5 

Mr. Ladesmo asked to be shown what types of buildings would be built in the area and 
Ms. Speer stated she could only show examples. Ms. Speer stated at this time the only 
development along 1st Street was a Family Dollar store and the EZ Tire is doing a 
rehabilitation to try and conform with TMED standards.  Both of these are private 
developments and not City initiated. 

Mr. Ladesmo stated he did not want anyone to come in and tear down his home and 
make way for something else. 

Mr. John Sommers, 1817 S. 5th Street (T4), Temple, stated he heard rumors about 
more buildings being torn down closer to his home and wondered if it was true. Ms. 
Speer said there were no plans to do so. 

Commissioner Staats stated no one was going to force anyone to sell their property or 
evict them.  

Mr. Sommers wanted confirmation since many buildings were being torn down in the 
area. 

Mr. Rick Hughes, 4 N. 3rd Street, representing Strasburger Family, stated they were 
looking at the cost, control and creep and wondered why the zoning Ordinance was 
being changed in a certain area of town.  Was it a plan to continue to creep throughout 
the entire city. He did not feel the Zoning Ordinance needed to be changed. Mr. Hughes 
stated he has done research on form based codes a/k/a smart codes and they seem to 
give the City more control over private property.  

Mr. Hughes brought up the subject of grant monies for covering costs of various things 
such as wider sidewalks, additional lighting, additional landscaping, etc., and wanted to 
know where this money came from if the grants dried up. He stated the cost would be 
burdened on the property owners. 

Mr. Hughes stated Strasburger was probably one of the largest private property owners 
in the TMED. If they want to develop some property the way TMED wanted it, why can’t 
they just apply for a PD (Planned Development) zoning and get the site plan approved. 
Mr. Hughes felt the control was by dictating where the building could go, what type of 
architecture and materials could be used, where the parking would be located and they 
were the ones spending the money and should have more decision. Mr. Hughes asked 
if there would be grant money for Mr. LaBay’s expansion of his nursing home business.  

Mr. Hughes stated with Strasburger’s 10 properties, they were voting against the 
rezoning request and these 10 votes were not counted with the earlier given tally. 

Mr. Chris Burleson, 1318 S. 5th, Temple, asked if the City were going to shrink his 
property. Mr. Burleson heard rumors of the alleys being widened and 5th Street being 
widened to 4 lanes. Ms. Speer stated at this time there were no plans she was aware of 
to widen 5th Street. This process involved a lot of negotiations and could be quite 
expensive. Ms. Speer stated 1st Street was the main priority. 



6 

Chair Talley asked if someone could speak on grants. Ms. Foutz stated the City part of 
TMED is in the Strategic Investment Zone (SIZ) and grants were available through 
those zones. Currently 1st and 5th Streets are within those zones and eligible for 
grants. There is not a grant program specifically set up for the TMED area but grants 
are provided for some of the requirements TMED has, such as landscaping, irrigation, 
and widening of sidewalks. Some oversized participation of sidewalks have been done 
by the City in addition to the normal grant funds if it is in the TMED area. City Council 
considers appropriations annually for those funds and depends on the level of activity 
for applications of those funds. All of the funds are from the City of Temple. Ms. Foutz 
briefly discussed tax abatements. 

Commissioner Staats asked if someone applied for a grant to purchase an item such as 
trash containers, lights, etc., does the City have the purchasing power to get these 
items in advance in order to get better rates for developers. Ms. Foutz stated all the 
grant programs established by City Council are on a reimbursement basis only. No 
initial acquisition of products are done. The developer would go in, negotiate their best 
price and the City would do a reimbursement match grant. The grant program is a multi-
faceted approach and it will take all parties involved to make the TMED successful. 

Brief discussion regarding volume purchasing and discounts. 

Mr. Rick Hughes returned to the podium and stated Ms. Foutz claimed the grants come 
from the City and then later talked about Federal and community grants. Mr. Hughes 
asked where the community grant fund money came from and wasn’t it considered 
Federal. Ms. Foutz stated yes. Mr. Hughes some of those grants may dry up and asked 
again why a change in zoning was necessary when everything could be accomplished 
with a PD; didn’t a PD allow for different types of development? 

Ms. Speer responded the whole PD question becomes an administrative issue. As the 
City grows, if a PD were on every parcel in the area, it would be impossible to enforce 
any consistency or regulation. PD’s are administrative nightmares when you reach a 
larger size. Regarding changing the code, there is a specific set of parameters in it that 
gives flexibility, minimum setbacks have been reduced and there are maximum 
setbacks. The smart code has been changed quite a bit and is no longer part of the 
smart code format because it gave the City Staff too much leeway and was very open 
ended. The Ordinance itself has been changed and is very different in how it is applied. 
The Code has already been added to the Unified Development Code. Notices do not 
have to be sent out for text amendments for City Code changes.  

There being no further speakers, Chair Talley closed the public hearing. 

Commissioner Pope stated this rezoning gives the City an opportunity to have more 
control over the area to keep it nice and did not feel it was unreasonable to ask 
developers to improve sidewalks, landscaping, etc., to make the area look better. 
Everything changes and he is in support of the rezoning. 



7 

Commissioner Pilkington stated normally he has the same concerns as Mr. Hughes, 
however, the TMED was well put together and could be a very nice area. The grant 
money will come because in the long term, this would bring more people and 
businesses to Temple and produce more sales tax so he is also in support of the 
project.  

Commissioner Pilkington asked Ms. Speer to make sure Mr. LaBay would be able to do 
the nursing home type facility. Ms. Speer stated she would probably do a text 
amendment which would have to come before the P&Z Board first. 

Commissioner Pope made a motion to approve the proposed TMED rezoning 
classifications and Commissioner Pilkington made a second. 

Motion passed: (6:0)  
Vice-Chair Martin and Commissioner Hurd absent. 



 
 

 ORDINANCE NO. ____________________ 
 

[PLANNING NO. Z-FY-11-08] 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, APPROVING A ZONING CHANGE FROM MULTIPLE ZONING 
DISTRICT CLASSIFICATIONS TO TEMPLE MEDICAL AND EDUCATION 
DISTRICT (TMED) ZONES, BEING T4, T5-e, T5-c, SD-t, SD-h, SD-v AND 
SD-c FOR APPROXIMATELY 849 ACRES; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN 
OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 
  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Part 1: The City Council approves a zoning change multiple zoning district 

classifications to Temple Medical and Education District (TMED) Zones, being T4, T5-e, T5-c, 
SD-t, SD-h, SD-v and SD-c for approximately 849 acres, more fully described in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary changes 
to the City Zoning Map accordingly. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance 
of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 20th day of 
January, 2011. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd day of February, 2011. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

 
       _________________________________ 

WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger     Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary City Attorney 



 
 

    
 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

 
01/20/11 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Brian Mabry, Planning Director  
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-09: Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a Conditional Use Permit allowing minor vehicle servicing on Lot 5, Block 1, 
Bird Creek Crossing Subdivision, at 3450 South General Bruce Drive.   
 
 
P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  At its January 6, 2011 meeting, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission voted 6/0 in accordance with staff recommendation to recommend approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow minor vehicle servicing on the subject property.  
 
In addition, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved two developer requested appeals of the I-
35 Corridor Overlay standards.  One appeal approval allows one less parking space than would 
normally be required so that the site could have an adequately sized parking space terminal island at 
its southeast corner, as required in the I-35 Corridor standards.  The other appeal approval allows a 
13-foot to 15-foot wide landscaped front buffer-yard along I-35 rather than the normally required 25-
foot wide buffer-yard in exchange for providing additional trees along the front and east side of the 
property. The Planning and Zoning Commission is the final approval authority for appeals of the I-35 
standards.  
 
Vice-Chair Martin and Commissioner Hurd were absent. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinance as presented in the item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for February 3, 2011.    
 
Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-09, a Conditional Use Permit for a minor vehicle servicing 
establishment in the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district subject to the following conditions: 

1. The CUP may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation clause 
set forth in Section 3.7.6 of the Unified Development Code. 

2. The applicant’s site plan, elevations and application are exhibits to the CUP. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Please refer to the Staff Report and draft minutes of case Z-FY-11-09, from the 
Planning and Zoning meeting, January 6, 2011.  The subject property is part of the Bird Creek 
Crossing shopping center and is in the City Entry sub-district of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning 
district.  The applicant requests the Conditional Use Permit to allow the construction of a minor 
vehicle servicing facility.  The attached CUP site plan complies with the requirements of the I-35 
Corridor Overlay zoning district, except for the elements that the Planning and Zoning Commission 
approved on the applicant’s appeal, as described above in the P&Z Commission Recommendation 
section.   
 
No issues were raised at the P&Z meeting requiring further staff attention.  
 
 
CUP REVIEW CRITERIA:  
Section 3.5.4 of the Unified Development Code lists review criteria for the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council to consider when approving a CUP.  They are: 
A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and enjoyment of the 

property, and does not significantly diminish or impair property values within the immediate 
vicinity. 

B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding vacant property. 

C. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces provide for the safe 
and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic without adversely affecting the 
general public or adjacent development. 

D. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to prevent or control 
offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been taken to prevent or control offensive 
odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

F. Directional lighting is provided so as not to disturb or adversely affect neighboring properties. 
 
Staff has received no negative public comments relating to these criteria.  
 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Three notices of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing were sent out.  As of Tuesday, 
December 28 at 5 PM, no notices were returned in favor of and no notices were returned in 
opposition to the request.  The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
public hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  NA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 
Aerial 
Land Use and Character Map 
Zoning Map 
Utility Map 
CUP Site Plan  
CUP Landscape Plan 
CUP Elevations 
Notice Map 
P&Z Staff Report (Z-FY-11-09) 
P&Z Minutes (01/06/11) 
Ordinance 
 
 
  



 
 
 



 
 
 



 
 
 



 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 



 



 

3 Notices Mailed 
0 For Approval (A) 
0 For Denial      (D) 



        PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM       
 

 
01/03/11 
Item #4 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 5 

 
 
APPLICANT / DEVELOPMENT: Kurt Overmyer of Mays and Company 
 
CASE MANAGER:  Brian Mabry, AICP, Planning Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Z-FY-11-09 Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action on a 
Conditional Use Permit to allow minor vehicle servicing on Lot 5, Block 1, Bird Creek Crossing 
Subdivision, at 3450 South General Bruce Drive.   
 
BACKGROUND:  The subject property is part of the Bird Creek Crossing shopping center and is in 
the City Entry sub-district of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district.  The applicant requests the 
Conditional Use Permit to allow the construction of a minor vehicle servicing facility.  Specifically, the 
applicant proposes a Firestone tire store.    
 
The attached CUP site plan complies with the requirements of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning 
district, except for the elements noted below in the Appeals section.  Where the applicant requests an 
appeal of the I-35 standards, the site plan shows proposed enhancements to offset site requirements 
that are being appealed.  The Planning and Zoning Commission approves appeals of the I-35 
requirements, even if a CUP is not involved in a particular development proposal. City Council is the 
final approval authority for a CUP.  
 
Parking 
The site plan shows compliance with the I-35 parking requirements in terms of interior and terminal 
landscaped islands.  However, the parking lot is one parking space short of the required number of 
spaces. This is so that an adequately sized landscaped terminal island may be provided at the 
southeast corner of the property. Parking to the rear and side of the property is “encouraged in the I-
35 standards.  The site plan shows a single-loaded aisle of parking in front of the building and a 
single-loaded aisle in the back. 

 

1 space short 
to allow for 
correctly sized 
terminal island 



 
Building 
The applicant proposes a building that is 7,609 square feet in floor area. The building meets the front, 
side and rear setback requirements for its sub-district. As shown on the building elevations, which will 
be made part of the ordinance that grants the CUP, the exterior of the building is proposed to be 
made of brick, stone and exterior insulation and finish systems (EIFS) with metal as an accent 
material.  The I-35 standards require a minimum of three articulation elements for a building of the 
proposed size.  The elevations show awnings, a cornice and horizontal façade projections.  
 

 
 
Screening and Walls 
The I-35 standards require that service bay doors be screened from the I-35 frontage road.  A site 
can provide this screening by placing the doors on sides of the building that are not visible from the 
Interstate, by providing screening walls or by some other means.  The site is approximately 7 feet 
below the grade of the service road.  The applicant proposes using a buffer and plantings to screen 
the front service bay doors from the frontage road.  
 
Landscaping 
The I-35 standards and City Entry sub-district require that 25 percent of the site be landscaped.  The 
landscaping plan shows that 37 percent of the site is landscaped.  The standards require one 
ornamental tree per 25 linear feet of street frontage and one canopy tree per 30 linear feet of 
frontage, for a total of seven required shade trees and nine required canopy trees. The site plan 
shows 10 canopy and 10 ornamental trees.  
 
The City Entry sub-district requires a landscaped buffer 25 feet in width along the front property line.  
The site plan shows only a 13- to 15-foot wide front landscaped buffer. However, the site plan offsets 
this shortcoming with enhanced plantings along the front property line and along the east side of the 
building.  

 

Additional 
plantings along 
east side of 
building 



Signs 
The I-35 standards require monument signs.  However, this property, as part of the pre-existing 
Planned Development for the shopping center that was approved in 2006, is allowed to have a 
standard freestanding sign.  The proposed sign will be approximately 150 square feet in area and will 
be complimentary to existing signs on the property.  
 
Lighting 
The site plan notes that lighting will comply with the I-35 standards, which basically require fully cut-
off fixtures that do not bleed onto adjacent properties and do not glare into the night sky. 
 
Utilities 
The site plan notes that all on-premise utilities will be underground, as required in the I-35 standards.  
 
 
APPEALS:  The applicant is appealing the following provisions of the I-35 standards.  Staff supports 
both of the requests.  
 
Requirement Site Plan Shows Compensation 
1 parking space per 200 
square feet of floor area for 
minor vehicle servicing 
establishment 

37 spaces instead of required 
38 

So that a fully sized 
landscaped terminal island 
may be provided at the SE 
corner of the property 

Front landscaped buffer of 
25 feet in width required 

Front landscaped buffer of 13 
to 15 feet in width  

Additional plantings are 
provided along the front 
property line and on the east 
side of the building  

 
SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: 
The following table shows the existing zoning and current land uses for the subject property and its 
general vicinity: 
 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 
Use Photo 

Subject 
Property 

PD-C, I-35 
Overlay, City 
Entry Sub-
District 

Undeveloped 

 

North PD-C Shopping 
Center 

 



Direction Zoning 
Current Land 
Use Photo 

South LI 

I-35  
(subject 
property is 7’ 
below grade) 

 

East LI Palm Reader 

 

West PD-C Shopping 
Center 

 
 
CUP REVIEW CRITERIA:  
Section 3.5.4 of the Unified Development Code lists review criteria for the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council to consider.  They are: 
A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and enjoyment of the 

property, and does not significantly diminish or impair property values within the immediate 
vicinity. 

B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding vacant property. 

C. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces provide for the safe 
and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic without adversely affecting the 
general public or adjacent development. 

D. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to prevent or control 
offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been taken to prevent or control offensive 
odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

F. Directional lighting is provided so as not to disturb or adversely affect neighboring properties. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Three notices of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing were sent out.  As of Tuesday, 
December 28 at 5 PM, no notices were returned in favor of and no notices were returned in 
opposition to the request.  The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
public hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance 



 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-09, a Conditional Use Permit 
for a minor vehicle servicing establishment in the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. The CUP may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation clause 
set forth in Section 3.7.6 of the Unified Development Code. 

2. The applicant’s site plan, elevations and application are exhibits to the CUP. 
 
Staff supports the requested appeal to reduce the number of required parking spaces on the site by 
one so that the applicant may provide an adequately sized landscaped terminal island and staff 
supports the requested appeal to reduce the allowed width of the front landscaped buffer in exchange 
for providing additional planting along the east side of the building.  
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Aerial 
Land Use and Character Map 
Zoning Map 
Utility Map 
CUP Site Plan  
CUP Landscape Plan 
CUP Elevations 
Notice Map 
Response Letters 



1 

EXCERPTS FROM THE 
  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JANUARY 3, 2011 
 
ACTION ITEMS 

Item 4: Z-FY-11-09: Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action on a 
Conditional Use Permit to allow minor vehicle servicing on Lot 5, Block 1, Bird 
Creek Crossing Subdivision, at 3450 South General Bruce Drive. (Applicant: 
Kurt Overmyer/Mays and Company) 

Ms. Leslie Price, Senior Planner, stated this was a request for a Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP) and if approved would go to City Council on January 20th for first reading and 
second reading on February 3rd. 

The subject property lies within the I35 Corridor Overlay District. In order for the 
applicant to have a minor vehicle repair facility (Firestone tire store) a CUP is required. 
The property is located within the Bird Creek Shopping Center. The ground where the 
building will be built is approximately seven feet below the service road. Surrounding 
land uses consist of Bird Creek Shopping Center to the west and north, I35 frontage to 
the south, and a palm reader to the east. 

The Future Land Use and Character Map show this area as Auto Urban Commercial 
and the Thoroughfare Plan shows I35 as a freeway. Water and sewer are available to 
the property for development. 

Ms. Price shows the site plan which gives the required landscaped terminal islands and 
parking buffer area. The Overlay District requires 25% landscaping for this section and 
the applicant will be providing 35% to mitigate for the appeals requested. Applicant 
would also provide additional trees and landscaped area in order to have a 13 to 15 foot 
buffer instead of the required 25 foot buffer. In order to get the larger buffer area, Staff 
requested the subtraction of one parking space to enlarge the terminal island. 

Ms. Price describes some of the building articulations involved. The I35 Overlay 
standards require screening of service bay doors, therefore, since the site plan is 
approximately seven feet below grade of the service road, the landscaping will be on 
top of a berm to create additional height to screen the bay doors from the highway. 
Lighting complies, utilities will be underground, and signage, although not compliant, is 
covered by the PD-C district for the area which allows pole signs. 

The two appeals requested are: 

Having 37 parking spaces instead of the required 38, by providing a fully sized 
landscaped terminal island located at the SE corner of the property; and  



2 

Having a front landscaped buffer reduced to 13 to 15 foot in width by providing 
additional plantings along the front property line and on the east end (rear) of the 
building. 

According to Section 3.5.4 of the Unified Development Code (UDC), Ms. Price stated 
the CUP review criteria were as follows: 

A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of property, and does not significantly diminish or impair 
property values with the vicinity. 

B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property. 

C. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces 
provide for the safe and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian 
traffic without adversely affecting the general public or adjacent 
development. 

D. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to 
prevent or control offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise, and vibration. 

E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been taken to prevent or 
control offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise, and vibration. 

F. Directional lighting has been provided so as not to disturb or adversely 
affect neighboring properties. 

Three notices were mailed and zero were received in favor or in opposition. 

Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-09, a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a minor 
vehicle servicing establishment in the I35 Corridor Overlay zoning district, subject to the 
following conditions: 

The CUP may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation 
clause set forth in Section 3.5.6 of the Unified Development Code. 

The applicant’s site plan, elevations and application become exhibits of the CUP. 

Staff supports the requested appeal to reduce the number of required parking spaces 
on the site by one so that the applicant may provide an adequately sized landscaped 
terminal island, and  

Staff also supports the requested appeal to reduce the allowed width of the front 
landscaped buffer in exchange for providing additional planting along the front and east 
side of the building. 



3 

Commissioner Staats asked if the roof and the equipment would be visible from the 
road since the finished floor elevation was approximately seven feet below grade. Ms. 
Price stated the applicant had not provided a mock up layout showing site landscaping 
but Staff felt the applicant would mitigate the issue as previously stated.  

Commissioner Sears asked about bay doors being opened and facing the frontage 
road. Ms. Price stated the additional landscaping would help to cover up the doors. 

Chair Talley opened the public hearing.  

Mr. Kurt Overmyer, Mays & Co, 5949 Sherry Lane, Dallas, Texas 75225, responded to 
the question regarding the roof and stated it would be a flat roof behind a parapet wall 
all around the building. The parapet wall would be three to four feet above the roof and 
the roof equipment would have some screen walls built on. 

There being no further speakers, Chair Talley closed the public hearing. 

Commissioner Staats made a motion to approve Z-FY-11-09 including the requested 
appeals and Commissioner Pope made a second. 

Motion passed: (6:0)  
Vice-Chair Martin and Commissioner Hurd absent. 

 



 
 1 

 
 ORDINANCE NO. _____________________ 
 

[PLANNING NO. Z-FY-11-09] 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING 
MINOR VEHICLE SERVICING ON LOT 5, BLOCK 1, BIRD CREEK 
CROSSING SUBDIVISION, AT 3450 SOUTH GENERAL BRUCE DRIVE; 
DECLARING FINDINGS OF FACT; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN 
OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

  
 

WHEREAS, the Unified Development Code of the City of Temple, Texas, provides 
for the issuance of conditional use permits under certain conditions and authorizes the City 
Council to impose such developmental standards and safeguards as the conditions and 
locations indicate to be important to the welfare or protection of adjacent property and for the 
protection of adjacent property from excessive noise, vibration, dust, dirt, smoke, fumes, gas, 
odor, explosion, glare, offensive view or other undesirable or hazardous conditions, and for 
the establishment of conditions of operation, time limits, location, arrangement and 
construction for any use for which a permit is authorized;  
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Temple, Texas, after 
due consideration of the conditions, operation and location of land located at 3450 South 
General Bruce Drive, recommends that the City Council approve the application for this 
Conditional Use Permit for minor vehicle servicing; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Temple, Texas, after public notice as 
required by law, has at a public hearing, carefully considered all the evidence submitted by 
the applicant concerning the proposed plans for operation of said establishment and has heard 
the comments and evidence presented by all persons supporting or opposing this application 
at said public hearing, and after examining the conditions, operation and the location of said 
establishment, finds that the proposed use of the premises substantially complies with the 
comprehensive plan and the area plan adopted by the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1:  The City Council approves a Conditional Use Permit for minor vehicle 
servicing on Lot 5, Block 1, Bird Creek Crossing Subdivision, at 3450 South General Bruce 
Drive, more fully shown on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part of for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: The owner/applicant, his employees, lessees, agents or representatives, 

hereinafter called "permittee" shall comply with the following developmental standards and 
conditions of operation: 

 



 
 2 

General: 
 
A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and enjoyment of 

the property, and does not significantly diminish or impair property values within the 
immediate vicinity. 

B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property. 

C. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces provide for 
the safe and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic without 
adversely affecting the general public or adjacent development. 

D. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to prevent or 
control offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been taken to prevent or control 
offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration. 

F. Directional lighting is provided so as not to disturb or adversely affect neighboring 
properties. 

 
 Specific to this CUP: 
 
G. The CUP may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation 

clause set forth in Section 3.7.6 of the Unified Development Code. 
H. The applicant’s site plan, elevations and application are attached as Exhibit B to the 

CUP. 
 

Part 3: The Director of Planning is hereby directed to make the necessary changes to 
the City Zoning Map accordingly. 
 

Part 4: The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the 
preamble of this ordinance are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative 
provisions hereof. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the 
final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not 
affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this 
ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the 
incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 6: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 7: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 



 
 3 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 20th day of 
January, 2011. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd day of February, 2011. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

_______________________________ 
WILLIAM A. JONES, III Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
___________________________   ______________________________ 
Clydette Entzminger     Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 

   
 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

 
01/20/11 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Brian Mabry, Planning Director  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-11-10: Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing an amendment to Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from Planned Development Single 
Family One District (PD-SF1) to Planned Development General Retail District (PD-GR) for a portion 
of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition. 
 
P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  At its January 6, 2011 meeting, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission voted 6/0 in accordance with staff recommendation to recommend approval of the 
amendment to Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from PD-SF1 to PD-GR. 
 
Vice-Chair Martin and Commissioner Hurd were absent. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinance as presented in item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for February 3, 2011.   
 
Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-10, an amendment of existing Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from 
PD-SF1 to PD-GR for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition for the following reasons: 

1. The proposed expansion of the already existing PD-GR designation is minimal. 
2. The location of the subject property at S. 31st Street and the proposed extension of H.K. Allen 

Parkway lends itself to a future amendment to the Future Land Use and Character Map from 
the suburban residential future land use and character category to the suburban commercial 
category. 

3. The request complies with Land Use Policy 13 of the Comprehensive Plan. 
4. The request complies with the Thoroughfare Plan Map. 
5. Public facilities are scheduled to become available as the Stonegate III subdivision develops.  

 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Please refer to the Staff Report and draft minutes of case Z-FY-11-10, from the 
Planning and Zoning meeting, January 6, 2011.  The applicant wishes to expand the boundaries of an 
existing PD-GR property by approximately 27.50 feet to the south.  The applicant has submitted a 
revised binding site development plan that takes into account the proposed expansion and will take 
the place of the site development plan approved as part of Ordinance 2006-4090 in August 2006. 
 
 

 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 
   
The unbuilt residential lots to the south of the subject property will be replatted so that the existing Lot 
8, as shown below, will not become an unbuildable sliver.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
No issues were raised at the P&Z meeting requiring further staff attention.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: 
The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan, 
Trails Master Plan and other adopted plans: 
 

Document Policy, Goal, Objective or Map Compliance? 
CP Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character N 

CP 

Land Use Policy 13 - Smaller-scale neighborhood retail 
and service uses should be located at intersections of 
collector and arterial streets and at the edge of logical 
neighborhood areas 

Y 

CP Map 5.2 - Thoroughfare Plan  Y 

CP 
Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should be 
consistent with the City’s infrastructure and public 
service capacities 

Y 

CP = Comprehensive Plan      AMP = Airport Master Plan     CTMP = Citywide Trails 
Master Plan 

H.K. Allen Pkwy. 
(proposed) Proposed rezoning 

Curve of S. 31st St. 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 
Future Land Use and Character (CP Map 3.1) 
The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the property as Suburban Residential.  Staff 
supports the rezoning request because (1) the proposed expansion of the already existing PD-GR 
designation is minimal and (2) the location of the subject property at S. 31st Street and the proposed 
extension of H.K. Allen Parkway lends itself to a future amendment to the Future Land Use and 
Character Map from the suburban residential future land use and character category to the suburban 
commercial category.  
 
Land Use Policy 13 
This policy in the Comprehensive Plan recommends that smaller scale retail uses be located at the 
edge of residential areas. The binding site development plan for this property shows that a smaller-
scale building (approximately 7,200 square feet in floor area) will be built on the property on the edge 
of the proposed Stonegate III subdivision.  The request complies with Land Use Policy 13 of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) 
The Thoroughfare Plan Map designates S. 31st Street as a Major Arterial.  The request complies with 
the Thoroughfare Plan Map. 
 
Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
An 8” sewer line and an 8” water line are proposed to serve the subject property according to the 
Stonegate III Final Plat, approved in March 2007.  As the Stonegate III subdivision develops, the 
developer will extend these facilities to the subject property.  
 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
One notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing were sent out.  As of Tuesday, 
December 28 at 5 PM, no notices were returned in favor of and no notices were returned in 
opposition to the request.  The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
public hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  NA 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 
Aerial 
Land Use and Character Map 
Zoning Map 
Thoroughfare Plan Map 
Utility Map 
Binding Site Development Plan  
Notice Map 
P&Z Staff Report (Z-FY-11-10) 
P&Z Minutes (01/06/11) 
Ordinance 
 



 
 
 



 
 
 
 



 



 



 
 
 
 





  

1 Notification Mailed 
0 Approve     (A)  
0 Disapprove (D) 



        PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM       
 

 
01/06/11 
Item #3 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 4 

 
 
APPLICANT / DEVELOPMENT: Victor Turley for Carothers Homes, LLC 
 
CASE MANAGER:  Brian Mabry, AICP, Planning Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Z-FY-11-10  Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action to 
amend the existing Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from Planned Development Single Family One District 
(SF1) to Planned Development General Retail District (PD-GR) for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, 
Stonegate III Addition.   
 
BACKGROUND:  The applicant wishes to expand the boundaries of an existing PD-GR property by 
approximately 27.50 feet to the south.  The area of the proposed rezoning is 5,573.30 square feet.  
The applicant has submitted a revised binding site development plan that takes into account the 
proposed expansion and will take the place of the site development plan approved as part of 
Ordinance 2006-4090 in August 2006.  The site development plan shows an approximately 7,200 
square-foot building, the use of which would be limited to the uses allowed in the GR zoning district.  
The unbuilt residential lots to the south of the subject property will be replatted so that the existing Lot 
8, as shown below, will not become an unbuildable sliver.  
 

 
Curve of S. 31st St. 

H.K. Allen Pkwy. 
(proposed) Proposed rezoning 



 
SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: 
The following table shows the existing zoning and current land uses for the subject property and its 
general vicinity: 
 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 
Use Photo 

Subject 
Property 

PD-SF-1 
(PD-GR 
proposed) 

Undeveloped 

 

North PD-GR Undeveloped 

 

South PD-SF-1 Undeveloped 

 

East PD-SF-1 Undeveloped 

 

West A Vehicle Repair 

 



 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: 
The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan, 
Trails Master Plan and other adopted plans: 
 

Document Policy, Goal, Objective or Map Compliance? 
CP Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character N 

CP 

Land Use Policy 13 - Smaller-scale neighborhood retail and 
service uses should be located at intersections of collector 
and arterial streets and at the edge of logical neighborhood 
areas 

Y 

CP Map 5.2 - Thoroughfare Plan  Y 

CP 
Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should be 
consistent with the City’s infrastructure and public service 
capacities 

Y 

CP = Comprehensive Plan      AMP = Airport Master Plan     CTMP = Citywide Trails Master Plan 
 
Future Land Use and Character (CP Map 3.1) 
The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the property as Suburban Residential.  Staff 
supports the rezoning request because (1) the proposed expansion of the already existing PD-GR 
designation is minimal and (2) the location of the subject property at S. 31st Street and the proposed 
extension of H.K. Allen Parkway lends itself to a future amendment to the Future Land Use and 
Character Map from the suburban residential future land use and character category to the suburban 
commercial category.  
 
Land Use Policy 13 
This policy in the Comprehensive Plan recommends that smaller scale retail uses be located at the 
edge of residential areas. The binding site development plan for this property shows that a smaller-
scale building (approximately 7,200 square feet in floor area) will be built on the property on the edge 
of the proposed Stonegate III subdivision.  The request complies with Land Use Policy 13 of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) 
The Thoroughfare Plan Map designates S. 31st Street as a Major Arterial.  The request complies with 
the Thoroughfare Plan Map. 
 
Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
An 8” sewer line and an 8” water line are proposed to serve the subject property according to the 
Stonegate III Final Plat, approved in March 2007.  As the Stonegate III subdivision develops, the 
developer will extend these facilities to the subject property.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
One notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing were sent out.  As of Tuesday, 
December 28 at 5 PM, no notices were returned in favor of and no notices were returned in 
opposition to the request.  The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
public hearing on December 23, 2010 in accordance with state law and local ordinance 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of Z-FY-11-10, an amendment of existing 
Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from PD-SF-1 to PD-GR for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III 
Addition for the following reasons: 

1. The proposed expansion of the already existing PD-GR designation is minimal. 



2. The location of the subject property at S. 31st Street and the proposed extension of H.K. Allen 
Parkway lends itself to a future amendment to the Future Land Use and Character Map from 
the suburban residential future land use and character category to the suburban commercial 
category. 

3. The request complies with Land Use Policy 13 of the Comprehensive Plan. 
4. The request complies with the Thoroughfare Plan Map. 
5. Public facilities are scheduled to become available as the Stonegate III subdivision develops.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Aerial 
Land Use and Character Map 
Zoning Map 
Thoroughfare Plan Map 
Utility Map 
Binding Site Development Plan  
Notice Map 
Response Letters (if any) 
 
 



1 

EXCERPTS FROM THE 
  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JANUARY 3, 2011 
 
ACTION ITEMS 

Item 3: Z-FY-11-10: Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action to 
amend the existing Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from Planned Development 
Single Family One District (SF1) to Planned Development General Retail 
District (PD-GR) for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition. 
(Applicant: Victor Turley for Carothers Homes, LLC) 

Ms. Tammy Lyerly, Planner, stated this was an expansion of an existing Planned 
Development (PD) district and was scheduled to go to City Council for first reading on 
January 20th with second reading and final action on February 3rd. 

Purpose of the PD approved in 2006 was to expand the existing PD to General Retail 
(GR) to the south. This portion of land is part of a subdivision proposed at the 
intersection of H.K. Allen Parkway and S. 31st Street. This property is also going 
through a replat of the subdivision due to reconfiguration of the residential lots to the 
south. The applicant submitted a revised site development plan taking the proposed 
expansion into account and, if approved, would take the place of the site plan approved 
as part of Ordinance 2006-4090 approved in August 2006. 

Surrounding property consists of a vehicle repair shop to the west and undeveloped 
land to the north, south, and east. 

The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the area as Suburban Residential 
and Staff supports the request since the proposed expansion is an existing PD-GR 
designation and it is a very small area, 27 feet. This area is located at an intersection 
involving a major arterial (South 31st Street) making it ideal for a GR related district. 

Land Use Policy 13 states smaller scaled retail uses should be located at the edge of 
residential areas and the site development plan shows a smaller scale building, 
approximately 7,200 in floor area. The property will have water and sewer available to 
serve the area. 

Ms. Lyerly shows an amended site plan and explains the parking and landscaping 
locations. 

One notice was mailed out and no response has been received. 

Staff recommends approval of this request, an amendment to Ordinance 2006-4090 
from PD-SF1 to PD-GR for the portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition, for the 
following reasons: 



2 

1. The proposed expansion of the already existing PD-GR designation is 
minimal; 

2. The location of the subject property at South 31st Street and the proposed 
extension of H.K. Allen Parkway lends itself to a future amendment to the 
Future Land Use and Character Map from the suburban residential 
category to the suburban commercial category; 

3. The request complies with Land Use Policy 13 of the Comprehensive 
Plan; 

4. The request complies with the Thoroughfare Plan Map; and 

5. Public facilities are available or scheduled to become available as the 
Stonegate III subdivision develops. 

Chair Talley opened the public hearing. There being no speakers, Chair Talley closed 
the public hearing. 

Commissioner Sears made a motion to approve P-FY-11-10 and Commissioner 
Williams made a second. 

Motion passed: (6:0)  
Vice-Chair Martin and Commissioner Hurd absent. 



 1

 ORDINANCE NO.___________________ 
  

[PLANNING NO. Z-FY-11-10] 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO ORDINANCE NO. 2006-
4090 FROM PLANNED DEVELOPMENT SINGLE FAMILY ONE 
DISTRICT (PD-SF1) TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT GENERAL RETAIL 
DISTRICT (PD-GR) FOR A PORTION OF LOT 8, BLOCK 2, STONEGATE 
III ADDITION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 
  

 
Whereas, the owner of the property described as Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III 

Addition has requested an amendment to Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from Planned 
Development Single Family One District (PD-SF1) to Planned Development General Retail 
District (PD-GR) for the purpose of expanding the boundaries of an existing PD-GR property 
by approximately 27.50 feet to the south;  

 
Whereas, on January 3, 2011, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted to approve 

the owner’s request; and 
 
Whereas, the City Council, after notice and a public hearing, finds that it is in the 

public interest to authorize this action. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council approves an amendment to Ordinance No. 2006-4090 from 

Planned Development Single Family One District (PF-SF1) to Planned Development General 
Retail District (PD-GR) for a portion of Lot 8, Block 2, Stonegate III Addition, more fully 
shown on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: The City Council approves a revised binding site development plan that 

includes the expansion, attached hereto as Exhibit B, and made a part hereof for all purposes. 
 

Part 3: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary 
changes to the City Zoning Map accordingly. 
 

Part 4: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the 
final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not 
affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this 
ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the 
incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 



 2

Part 5: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 
Part 6: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 20th day of 
January, 2011. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd  day of February, 2011. 

 
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 

 
      
WILLIAM A. JONES, III, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Clydette Entzminger      Jonathan Graham 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 

 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #7   

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Jonathan Graham, City Attorney 
David Blackburn, City Manager 
  
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Consider adopting an ordinance 
amending the City’s Economic Development Policy ordinance to authorize the City Manager to 
execute certain types of Chapter 380 agreements in any of the City’s Strategic Investment Zones. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinance as presented in item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for February 3, 2010. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Synopsis. The proposed ordinance provides authority for: (1) the City Manager to 
execute Chapter 380 agreements in amounts less than $10,000 in any of the City’s Strategic 
Investment Zones—including agreements in the City’s existing three SIZ incentive zones (South 1st, 
Avenue G/H & North 3rd) which up to now required City Council action; and (2) makes certain other 
minor technical corrections to the City’s Economic Development Policy Ordinance. 
 
Background information relating to “Chapter 380 Agreements.” 
 
The Texas Constitution provides that all expenditures of public funds by cities must serve a “public 
purpose.” Prior to 1987, cities were prohibited from spending public funds in a manner that benefited 
private businesses directly. In 1987, voters approved a constitutional amendment that provided that 
grants of public monies for economic development purposes was in fact a “public purpose.” Two 
years later the Texas Legislature adopted Chapter 380 of the Local Government Code which 
expressly provided that cities may adopt programs “making loans and grants of public money and 
providing personnel and services of the municipality, to promote State or local economic 
development. In other words, a city can adopt an economic development policy that makes provision 
for making grants of public funds, loans of public funds, or even providing personnel and services of 
city personnel to promote economic development. The granting of public funds is broad enough to 
include selling city-owned property for less than fair market value or even to gift public property to 
promote economic development. 
 
The City of Temple amended its economic development policy in the early 1990s to implement 
Chapter 380 at the local level. Article III, Section B, of our policy provides in part that “the City will 
consider making loans or grants of public funds or property, or the selling or leasing City property at 
or below the fair market value of said property, to promote State or local economic development and  

 



 
01/20/11 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 
to stimulate business and commercial activity within the City.” To guide applicants, Staff and future 
City Councils Article III, Section B provides a matrix chart that outlines the minimum required 
investment in new real property value and job creation that is required to receive a Chapter 380 grant. 
Section B sets out a slightly lower threshold for the Downtown area, but the required investment is 
still quite substantial: 
 
 Outside of the Downtown area: to get a Chapter 380 agreement with a grant or value of up to 
$150,000, the applicant must be investing in not less than $7.5 million in real property improvements 
and creating not less than 125 new jobs 
 
 Within the Downtown area, the limits are far lower but still lack flexibility:  to get a Chapter 380 
grant of up to $6,000, the applicant must agree to not less than $70,000 in real property 
improvements and the creation of not less than 3 new jobs. 
 
 Over the past three years, the City Council has adopted SIZ incentive ordinances for three of 
its SIZ corridors: 
 

The South 1st Street SIZ corridor (which runs from Adams to South Loop 363 and includes a 
portion of the Downtown area and includes portions of South 5th Street, Main Street and South 
2nd Street); 
 
The Avenue G/H SIZ corridor (which runs from South 1st Street to South 25th Street and 
includes portions of Avenue F, G, H & I) 
 
The North 3rd Street SIZ corridor (which runs from is made up of two areas centered on North 
3rd Street—Area A runs from Central to Houston and includes portions of North 7th, North 5th 
and Main Street and Area B runs from Monroe to Industrial) 
 

These ordinances authorized Chapter 380 agreements in each of those areas following a slightly 
different approach by capping grants at a certain amount depending upon categories of 
improvements that we are trying to encourage in each of these areas (e.g., façade replacement, 
monument signs, sidewalks or landscaping) and requiring a 50% matching contribution by the 
applicant. 
 
In discussions with the City Manager, a lack of flexibility in how we use Chapter 380 agreements has 
prevented us from addressing potential win-win investments the past three years in some of other SIZ 
corridors that lack a specific SIZ incentive ordinance. For example, a prospect wishing to making an 
investment on Loop 363 or I-35 (which lacks a SIZ incentive ordinance) might have been encouraged 
to make site improvements which exceed the City’s minimum standards to improve the appearance of 
a gateway into the City if the City offered a Chapter 380 matching grant agreement to cover a portion 
of that increased cost.  



 
01/20/11 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 
Given the success we’ve enjoyed in our three SIZ incentive zones in the past year, the Staff is 
proposing the following changes to our economic development ordinance (which will also impact our 
three existing SIZ incentive zones (South 1st, Avenue G/H and North 3rd) ordinances: 
 

1. A grant of authority to the City Manager to execute Chapter 380 SIZ incentive agreements up 
to $25,000 on property within any of the SIZ incentive ordinances (currently in existence or 
hereafter created by the City Council) after approval as to form by the City Attorney based on 
the criteria and guidelines established by those respective SIZ incentive ordinances. Chapter 
380 SIZ incentive agreements over $25,000 in contributions by the City would still require City 
Council approval. Tax abatement agreements authorized by those SIZ incentive ordinances 
would still require City Council approval as required by State law. 

2. A grant of authority to the City Manager to approve Chapter 380 agreements up to $10,000 in 
any of the City’s ten SIZ corridors after approval as to form by the City Attorney. In SIZ 
corridors that lack a SIZ incentive ordinance, the agreements would be individually negotiated. 
In SIZ corridors that have SIZ incentive ordinances, a Chapter 380 agreement could vary from 
the basic terms of the SIZ incentive ordinance for that corridor if the City Manager determined 
that it was in the City’s best interest to do so. 

3. A grant of authority to the City Manager to approve Chapter 380 agreements up to $7,500 for 
areas outside any of the SIZ corridors after approval as to form by the City Attorney. 

 
To summarize the proposed changes, within SIZ corridors with SIZ incentive ordinances, the City 
Manager would be able to execute Chapter 380 agreements that provide grants of up to $25,000 on 
projects that meet the technical requirements spelled out in the respective SIZ incentive ordinance 
without bringing that item to the City Council for approval. If the proposed Chapter 380 agreement is 
for property in a SIZ corridor that lacks a SIZ incentive ordinance, or for property within a SIZ corridor 
that has a SIZ incentive ordinance but the proposed Chapter 380 agreement varies from the literal 
terms of that ordinance, the City Manager could approve an agreement up to $10,000 in public funds 
without bringing the item to the City Council for consideration. Finally, in areas outside any of the SIZ 
corridors, the City Manager would have authority to approve Chapter 380 agreements up to $7,500. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The proposed funding for any Chapter 380 agreement authorized by the City 
Manager would be out of the annual appropriation the City Council makes each year in the budget for 
SIZ Chapter 380 agreements. That level of funding has been $85,000 per year for the past four years. 
Any authorization to the City Manager to approve Chapter 380 agreements is subject to that annual 
appropriation of funds by the City Council. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Ordinance – to be provided 
 



 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

01/20/11 
Item #8 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 2  

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Traci L. Barnard, Director of Finance   
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: FIRST & FINAL READING-PUBLIC HEARING- Consideration and action with 
respect to an Ordinance authorizing the issuance of City of Temple, Texas General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2011; approving an Official Statement, a Paying Agent/Registrar 
Agreement, a Bond Purchase Agreement and an Escrow Agreement; Establishing the procedures for 
selling and delivering the bonds; and authorizing other matters relating to the bonds.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt ordinance as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: This item is to delegate authority to the Director of Finance and City Manager to 
determine which of the Refundable Obligations shall be refunded and finalize pricing within 
parameters defined in the attached ordinance in a principal amount not to exceed $45,000,000*. This 
delegation of authority will allow the City to obtain the most advantageous borrowing costs in order to 
achieve a debt service savings. 
  
The $45,000,000* of General Obligation Refunding Bonds will be used to refund all or a portion of the 
following bond issues: 
 

• Waterworks and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2002 
• Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations, Series 2002 
• Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations, Series 2003 
• General Obligation Refunding and Improvements Bonds, Series 2003 
• General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2005 
• Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations, Series 2006 
• Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations, Series 2008 
• Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations, Series 2008A 
• General Obligation Bonds, Series 2008 
• General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009 
• General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2009 

 
*All bonds that are to be considered for refunding are listed. Market conditions will determine 
which bonds will actually be refunded on the day of pricing. 
 
 



 
 

01/20/11 
Item #8 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 2  

 
Ratings for the bonds have been applied for with Standard & Poors.  The ratings will be published 
prior to the pricing and sale of the bonds.  The date and method by which the refunded obligations will 
be issued, sold, and delivered will be determined to achieve the most advantageous borrowing costs 
for the City.  
 
The City’s Financial Advisor, Specialized Public Finance Inc., and bond council, McCall, Parkhurst & 
Horton, L.L.P, will be present at the time of sale to review the parameters and details with Council.  
 
Specialized Public Finance Inc, will return at a date to be determined to brief City Council on the sales 
results.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Refunded Obligations will be refunded, all or a portion,  in order to achieve a net 
present value debt service savings of not less than 3% of the principal amount of the Refunded 
Obligations net of any City contribution. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Ordinance 
 
 

  



Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011; APPROVING AN

OFFICIAL STATEMENT, A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT, A BOND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND AN ESCROW AGREEMENT; ESTABLISHING THE

PROCEDURES FOR SELLING AND DELIVERING THE BONDS; AND
AUTHORIZING OTHER MATTERS RELATING TO THE BONDS

Adopted January 20, 2011



iTemple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page     

Section 1 Recitals, Amount and Purpose of the Bonds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Section 2 Definitions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Section 3 Amount, Name,  Purpose, and Authorization. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Section 4 Date, Denomination, Maturities, Numbers, Interest and Redemption. 3

Section 5 Redemption.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
(a) Right of Redemption. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
(b)  Notice of Redemption to Bondholder. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
(c)  Effect of Redemption. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
(d) Conditional Notice of Redemption. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Section 6 Characteristics of the Bond. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
(a) Registration, Transfer, Conversion and Exchange; Authentication 6
(b) Payment of Principal and Interest. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
(c) In General. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
(d) Substitute Paying Agent/Registrar. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
(e) Book-Entry-Only-System. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
(f)  Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry- 
      Only System. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
(g) Payments to Cede & Co. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
(h) DTC Blanket Letter of Representations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
(i) Cancellation of Initial Bond.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Section 7 Form of Bond. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Section 8 Tax Levy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

Section 9 Defeasance of Bonds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

Section 10 Damaged, Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Bonds.. . . . . . . . . . 20
(a) Replacement Bonds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
(b) Application for Replacement Bonds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
(c) No Default Occurred. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
(d) Charge for Issuing Replacement Bonds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
(e) Authority for Issuing Replacement Bonds.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21



iiTemple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Section 11 Custody, Approval, and Registration of Bond; Bond Counsel's
Opinion. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

Section 12 Covenants Regarding Tax Exemption of Interest on the Bond. . . . . . 22
(a) Covenants. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
(b) Rebate fund. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23
(c) Proceeds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23
(d) Disposition of Project.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24

Section 13 Approval of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement and Escrow
Agreement.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24

Section 14 Refunding of Refunded Obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24

Section 15 Approval of Official Statement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Section 16 Insurance Provisions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Section 17 Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25
(a) Annual Reports . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25
(b) Material Event Notices.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26
(c) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
(d) Definitions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

Section 18 Amendment of Ordinance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

Section 19 Remedies in Event of Default.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Section 20 No Recourse Against City Officials. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Section 21 Further Actions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Section 22 Perfection. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Section 23 Interpretations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Section 24 Inconsistent Provisions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Section 25 Interested Parties. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Section 26 Severability. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Section 27 Funds and Accounts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32



iiiTemple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Section 28 Credit Agreement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Section 29 Repealer. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Section 30 Effective Date. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Section 31 Payment of Attorney General Fee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Exhibit "A" Definitions
Exhibit "B" Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement
Exhibit "C" Continuing Disclosure
Exhibit "D" Notices of Redemption/Defeasance
Exhibit "E" Escrow Agreement



1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

ORDINANCE NO. 2011-_____

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011; APPROVING AN

OFFICIAL STATEMENT, A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT, A BOND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND AN ESCROW AGREEMENT; ESTABLISHING THE

PROCEDURES FOR SELLING AND DELIVERING THE BONDS; AND
AUTHORIZING OTHER MATTERS RELATING TO THE BONDS

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF BELL §
CITY OF TEMPLE §

WHEREAS, the City of Temple, Texas (the "City") has previously issued several series of
obligations payable from ad valorem taxes: 

City of Temple, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2002
(the "Series 2002 Certificates");

City of Temple, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2003
(the "Series 2003 Certificates"); 

City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2003
(the "Series 2003 Bonds");

City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2005 (the "Series 2005
Bonds");

City of Temple, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2006
(the "Series 2006 Certificates");

City of Temple, Texas Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008 (the "Series
2008 Certificates");

City of Temple, Texas Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series
2008A (the "Series 2008A Certificates");

City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Bonds, Series 2008 (the "Series 2008 Bonds");



2Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Bonds, Series 2009 (the "Series 2009 Bonds"); and

City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2009 (the "Series 2009
Refunding Bonds").

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City deems it advisable and in the best interest of the
City to refund the Refunded Obligations, as defined in Exhibit "A" attached hereto, in order to
achieve a net present value debt service savings of not less than 3% of the principal amount of the
Refunded Obligations net of any City contribution with such savings, among other information and
terms to be included in a pricing certificate to be executed by the Pricing Officer, all in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 1207, including 1207.007, of the Texas Government Code thereof;
and

WHEREAS, Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, as amended ("Chapter 1207")
authorizes the City to issue refunding bonds and to deposit the proceeds from the sale thereof
together with any other available funds or resources, directly with a place of payment (paying agent)
for the Refunded Obligations or with a trust company or commercial bank that does not act as
depository for the City, and such deposit, if made before such payment dates, shall constitute the
making of firm banking and financial arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the
Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 1207  further authorizes the City to enter into an escrow agreement
with a paying agent for the Refunded Obligations or with a trust company or commercial bank that
does not act as depository for the City with respect to the safekeeping, investment, reinvestment,
administration and disposition of any such deposit, upon such terms and conditions as the City and
such escrow agent may agree, provided that such deposits may be invested and reinvested in
Defeasance Securities, as defined herein; and

WHEREAS, the Escrow Agreement hereinafter authorized, constitutes an agreement of the
kind authorized and permitted by said Chapter 1207; and

WHEREAS, all the Refunded Obligations mature or are subject to redemption prior to
maturity within 20 years of the date of the bonds hereinafter authorized: and

WHEREAS, the Bonds authorized by this Ordinance are being issued and delivered pursuant
to the City Charter and Chapter 1207 of the Texas Government Code, as amended, and other
applicable laws: and

WHEREAS, it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this
Ordinance was passed was open to the public, and public notice of the time, place and purpose of the
meeting was given, all as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 



3Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF TEMPLE,
TEXAS: 

Section 1.  RECITALS.  The recitals set forth in the preamble hereof are incorporated
herein and shall have the same force and effect as if set forth in this Section.

Section 2. DEFINITIONS.  For all purposes of this Ordinance, except as otherwise
expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in  Exhibit "A" to this
Ordinance have the meanings assigned to them in Exhibit "A". 

Section 3. AMOUNT, NAME,  PURPOSE, AND AUTHORIZATION.   The Bonds,
each to be designated the "CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS GENERAL OBLIGATION
REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011", is hereby authorized to be issued and delivered in
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly Chapter 1207, Texas
Government Code, as amended, and the Charter of the City. The Bonds shall be issued in the
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $45,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds for (i)
refunding the Refunded Obligations and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds.

Section 4. DATE, DENOMINATION, MATURITIES, NUMBERS, INTEREST
AND REDEMPTION. (a)  Initially there shall be issued, sold, and delivered hereunder fully
registered bonds, without interest coupons, which may be in the form of Current Interest Bonds or
Premium Compound Interest Bonds, numbered consecutively from R-1 upward, in the case of
Current Interest Bonds, and from PC-1 upward, in the case of Premium Compound Interest Bonds
(except the Initial Bond delivered to the Attorney General of the State of Texas which shall be
numbered T-1 and TPC-1 respectively) payable to the respective initial Registered Owners thereof,
or to the registered assignee or assignees of said Bonds or any portion or portions thereof, in
Authorized Denominations, maturing not later than August 1, 2023, serially or otherwise on the
dates, in the years and in the principal amounts, respectively, and dated, as all set forth in the Pricing
Certificate to be executed and delivered by the Pricing Officer pursuant to subsection (b) of this
section.  The Pricing Certificate is hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Ordinance.  The
Bonds shall be designated by the year in which they are awarded.  The authority of the Pricing Officer
to execute a Pricing Certificate shall expire at 5:00 p.m. on July 20, 2011.  Bonds priced on or before
July 20, 2011 may close after such date.

(b)  As authorized by Chapter 1207.007, Texas Government Code, as amended, the
Pricing Officer is hereby authorized to act on behalf of the City in selling and delivering the Bonds,
determining which of the Refundable Obligations shall be refunded and constitute Refunded
Obligations under this Ordinance and carrying out the other procedures specified in this Ordinance,
including determining the date of the Bonds, any additional or different designation or title by which
the Bonds shall be known, the price at which the Bonds will be sold, the years in which the Bonds
will mature, the principal amount to mature in each of such years, the aggregate principal amount of
Current Interest Bonds and Premium Compound Interest Bonds, the rate of interest to be borne by
each such maturity, the interest payment periods, the dates, price, and terms upon and at which the



4Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City, as well as any
mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale, and
delivery of the Bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Obligations, all of which shall be specified
in the Pricing Certificate; provided that (i) the price to be paid for the Bonds shall not be less than
90% of the aggregate original principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon from its date
to its delivery, (ii) none of the Bonds shall bear interest at a rate, or yield in the case of Premium
Compound Interest Bonds, greater than the maximum authorized by law, and (iii) the refunding must
produce a net present value debt service savings of at least 3% of the principal amount of the
Refunded Obligations, net of any City contribution.  In establishing the aggregate principal amount
of the Bonds, the Pricing Officer shall establish an amount not to exceed the amount authorized in
Section 3, which shall be sufficient to provide for the purposes for which the Bonds are authorized
and to pay the costs of issuing the Bonds.

(c) To achieve advantageous borrowing costs for the City, the Bonds shall be sold on a
negotiated, placement or competitive basis as determined by the Pricing Officer in the Pricing
Certificate.  In determining whether to sell the Bonds by negotiated, placement or competitive sale,
the Pricing Officer shall take into account any material disclosure issues which might exist at the time,
the market conditions expected at the time of the sale and any other matters which, in the judgment
of the Pricing Officer, might affect the net borrowing costs on the Bonds.

If the Pricing Officer determines that the Bonds should be sold at a competitive sale, the
Pricing Officer shall cause to be prepared a notice of sale and official statement in such manner as the
Pricing Officer deems appropriate, to make the notice of sale and official statement available to those
institutions and firms wishing to submit a bid for the Bonds, to receive such bids, and to award the
sale of the Bonds to the bidder submitting the best bid in accordance with the provisions of the notice
of sale.

If the Pricing Officer determines that the Bonds should be sold by a negotiated sale or
placement, the Pricing Officer shall designate the placement purchaser or the senior managing
underwriter for the Bonds and such additional investment banking firms as the Pricing Officer deems
appropriate to assure that the Bonds are sold on the most advantageous terms to the City.  The
Pricing Officer, acting for and on behalf of the City, is authorized to enter into and carry out a Bond
Purchase Contract or other agreement for the Bonds to be sold by negotiated sale or placement, with
the underwriters or placement purchasers at such price, with and subject to such terms as determined
by the Pricing Officer pursuant to Section 3(b) above.  Each Bond Purchase Contract or other
agreement shall be substantially in the form and substance previously approved by the City in
connection with the authorization of ad valorem tax debt with such changes as are acceptable to the
Pricing Officer.

(d)        The Current Interest Bonds shall bear interest calculated on the basis of a 360-day
year composed of twelve 30-day months from the dates specified in the FORM OF BONDS set forth
in this Ordinance to their respective dates of maturity or redemption at the rates per annum set forth
in the Pricing Certificate.



5Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

The Premium Compound Interest Bonds shall bear interest from the Issuance Date, calculated
on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months (subject to rounding to the
Compounded Amounts thereof), compounded on the Compounding Dates as set forth in the Pricing
Certificate, and payable, together with the principal amount thereof, in the manner provided in the
Form of Bonds at the rates set forth in the Pricing Certificate.  Attached to the Pricing Certificate,
if Premium Compound Interest Bonds are to be issued, shall be the Accretion Table.  The Accreted
Value with respect to any date other than a Compounding Date is the amount set forth on the
Accretion Table with respect to the last preceding Compounding Date, plus the portion of the
difference between such amount and the amount set forth on the Accretion Table with respect to the
next succeeding Compounding Date that the number of days (based on 30-day months) from such
last preceding Compounding Date to the date for which such determination is being calculated bears
to the total number of days (based on 30-day months) from such last preceding Compounding Date
to the next succeeding Compounding Date.

Section 5.  REDEMPTION. (a) Right of Redemption.  The City reserves the right, at its
option, to redeem the Bonds as set forth in the FORM OF BOND and the Pricing Certificate. The
City, at least thirty (30) days before the date of any optional redemption, shall notify the Paying
Agent/Registrar of such redemption date and of the amount and maturity of the Bonds to be
redeemed.  

(b)  Notice of Redemption to Bondholder. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice of
any redemption of the Bonds by sending notice by first class United States mail, postage prepaid, not
less than twenty (20) days before the date fixed for redemption, to the Bondholder at the address
shown in the Register.  The notice shall state among other things, the redemption date, the
redemption price, the place at which the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and that the Bonds
so called for redemption shall cease to bear interest after the redemption date. Any notice given as
provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the
Bondholder receives such notice.  With respect to any optional redemption of the Bonds, unless
certain prerequisites to such redemption required by or this Ordinance have been met and moneys
sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall
have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of redemption,
such notice shall state that said redemption may, at the option of the City, be conditional upon the
satisfaction of such prerequisites and receipt of such moneys by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or
prior to the date fixed for such redemption, or upon any prerequisite set forth in such notice of
redemption.  If a conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the redemption
and sufficient moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the City shall not
redeem such Bonds and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice, in the manner in which the
notice of redemption was given, to the effect that the Bonds have not been redeemed.

(c)  Effect of Redemption. Notice of redemption having been given as provided in this
Section, the Bonds called for redemption shall become due and payable on the date fixed for
redemption and, unless the City defaults in the payment of the principal thereof or accrued interest
thereon, such Bonds thereof shall cease to bear interest from and after the date fixed for redemption,
whether or not such Bond is presented and surrendered for payment on such date. If the Bonds



6Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

thereof called for redemption are not so paid upon presentation and surrender thereof for redemption,
such Bonds thereof shall continue to bear interest at the rate stated on the Bond until paid or until due
provision is made for the payment of same. 

(d)  Conditional Notice of Redemption.  With respect to any optional redemption of the
Bonds, unless certain prerequisites to such redemption required by this Ordinance have been met and
moneys sufficient to pay the principal of the premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to be
redeemed shall have been received by the Paying Agent prior to the giving of such notice of
redemption, such notice shall sate that said redemption may, at the option of the City, be conditional
upon the satisfaction of such prerequisites and receipt of such moneys by the Paying Agent/Registrar
on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption, or upon any prerequisite set forth in such notice
of redemption.  If a conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the redemption
and sufficient moneys are not received, such notice shall be of no force and effect, the City shall not
redeem such Bonds and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice, in the manner in which the
notice of redemption was given, to the effect that the Bonds have not been redeemed.

Section 6.  CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BONDS.  (a)  Registration, Transfer,
Conversion and Exchange; Authentication.  The City shall keep or cause to be kept at The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Dallas, Texas (the "Paying Agent/Registrar") books or
records for the registration of the transfer, conversion and exchange of the Bonds (the "Register"),
and the City hereby appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar as its registrar and transfer agent to keep
such Bonds or records and make such registrations of transfers, conversions and exchanges under
such reasonable regulations as the City and Paying Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall make such registrations, transfers, conversions and exchanges as herein
provided within three days of presentation in due and proper form.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall
obtain and record in the Register the address of the Registered Owner of each Bond to which
payments with respect to the Bond shall be mailed, as herein provided; but it shall be the duty of each
Registered Owner to notify the Paying Agent/Registrar in writing of the address to which payments
shall be mailed, and such interest payments shall not be mailed unless such notice has been given.  The
City shall have the right to inspect the Register during regular business hours of the Paying
Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register confidential and,
unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity.  The Paying
Agent/Registrar shall make a copy of the Register available in the State of Texas.  The City shall pay
the Paying Agent/Registrar's standard or customary fees and charges for making such registration,
transfer, conversion, exchange and delivery of a substitute Bond.  Registration of assignments,
transfers, conversions and exchanges of Bonds shall be made in the manner provided and with the
effect stated in the FORM OF BOND set forth in this Ordinance.  Each substitute Bond shall bear
a letter and/or number to distinguish it from each other Bond.

Except as provided in subsection (c) hereof, an authorized representative of the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such Bond, date and manually sign the Bond, and
no such Bond shall be deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Bond is so executed.  The
Paying Agent/Registrar promptly shall cancel all paid Bonds and Bonds surrendered for conversion
and exchange.  No additional ordinances, orders, or resolutions need be passed or adopted by the City



7Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Council or any other body or person so as to accomplish the foregoing conversion and exchange of
any Bond or portion thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the printing, execution,
and delivery of the substitute Bond in the manner prescribed herein, and the Bonds shall be
typewritten, photocopied, printed, lithographed, engraved or produced in any other similar manner,
all as determined by the officers executing such bond as evidenced by their execution thereof.
Pursuant to Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code, as amended, and particularly Subchapter D
thereof, the duty of conversion and exchange of Bonds as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the
Paying Agent/Registrar, and, upon the execution of the Bonds, the converted and exchanged Bond
shall be valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner and with the same effect as the Bond
which initially was issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, approved by the Attorney
General, and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

(b)  Payment of Principal and Interest.  The City hereby further appoints the Paying
Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Bond, all as
provided in this Ordinance and in the Pricing Certificate.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep
proper records of all payments made by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the
Bond, and of all conversions and exchanges of Bonds, and all replacements of Bonds, as provided
in this Ordinance.  However, in the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date,
and for thirty (30) days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record
Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such
interest have been received from the City.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled
payment date of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be
sent at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first-class
postage prepaid, to the address of each Registered Owner appearing on the Register at the close of
business on the last Business Day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

(c)  In General.  The Bonds (i) shall be issued in fully registered form, without interest
coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Bonds to be payable only to the Registered
Owner, (ii) may be transferred and assigned, (iii) may be converted and exchanged for another Bond,
(iv) shall have the characteristics, (v) shall be signed, sealed, executed and authenticated, (vi) shall
be payable as to principal and interest and (vii) shall be administered and the Paying Agent/Registrar
and the City shall have certain duties and responsibilities with respect to the Bonds, all as provided,
and in the manner and to the effect as required or indicated, in the Pricing Certificate and the FORM
OF BONDS set forth in this Ordinance.  The Bond initially issued and delivered pursuant to this
Ordinance is not required to be, and shall not be, authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar, but
on each substitute Bond issued in exchange for any Bond issued under this Ordinance the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall execute the PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR'S AUTHENTICATION
CERTIFICATE, in the form set forth in the FORM OF BONDS. On the closing date, the initial Bond
representing the entire principal amount of the Bonds, payable to the underwriter, executed by manual
or facsimile signature of the Mayor and City Secretary, approved by the Attorney General of Texas,
and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, and
with the date of delivery inserted thereon by the Paying Agent/Registrar, will be delivered to the
underwriter.



8Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

(d)  Substitute Paying Agent/Registrar.  The City covenants with the Registered Owners of
the Bonds that at all times while the Bonds are outstanding the City will provide a competent and
legally qualified bank, trust company, financial institution, or other agency to act as and perform the
services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds under this Ordinance, and that the Paying
Agent/Registrar will be one entity.  The City reserves the right to, and may, at its option, change the
Paying Agent/Registrar upon not less than 30 days written notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar, to
be effective at such time which will not disrupt or delay payment on the next principal or interest
payment date after such notice.  In the event that the entity at any time acting as Paying
Agent/Registrar (or its successor by merger, acquisition, or other method) should resign or otherwise
cease to act as such, the City covenants that promptly it will appoint a competent and legally qualified
bank, trust company, financial institution, or other agency to act as Paying Agent/Registrar under this
Ordinance.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the previous Paying Agent/Registrar
promptly shall transfer and deliver the Register (or a copy thereof), along with all other pertinent
Bonds and records relating to the Bonds, to the new Paying Agent/Registrar designated and
appointed by the City.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the City promptly will cause
a written notice thereof to be sent by the new Paying Agent/Registrar to each Registered Owner of
the Bonds, by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice also shall give the address
of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.  By accepting the position and performing as such, each Paying
Agent/Registrar shall be deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance, and a certified
copy of this Ordinance shall be delivered to each Paying Agent/Registrar.

(e)      Book-Entry-Only System.  The Bonds issued in exchange for the Bonds initially issued
as provided in Section 6(i) shall be issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Bond for
each of the maturities thereof registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of the Depository
Trust Company of New York ("DTC") and except as provided in subsection (f) hereof, all of the
outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the City
and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf
DTC was created to hold securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions
among DTC participants (the "DTC Participant") or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC
Participant holds an interest in the Bonds.  Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the
City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the
accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede&Co. Or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership
interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a
Registered Owner, as shown on the Registration Books, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, or
(iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any person, other than a Registered Owner, as shown in
the Registration Books of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the Bonds.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, but to the extent permitted
by law, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person
whose name each Bond is registered in the registration Books as the absolute owner of such Bond
for the purpose of payment of principal of and interest, with respect to such Bond, for the purposes
of registering transfers with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes of registering transfers



9Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

with respect to such Bonds, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall
pay all principal of and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order of the respective Registered
Owners, as shown in the Registration Books as provided in this Ordinance, or their respective
attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy
and discharge the City’s obligations with respect to payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds
to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  No person other than a Registered Owner, as shown in the
Registration Books, shall receive a Bond evidencing the obligation of the City to make payments of
principal, and interest pursuant to this Ordinance.  Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying
Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee
in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to interest checks
being mailed to the registered owner at the close of business on the Record Date the word "Cede &
Co." in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.

(f) Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry-Only System.  In the event
that the City determines to discontinue the book-entry system through DTC or a successor or DTC
determines to discontinue providing its services with respect to the Bonds, the City shall either (i)
appoint a successor securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants of the
availability through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate Bonds to DTC Participants
having Bonds credited to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted
to being registered in the Registration Books in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but
shall be registered in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever
name or names the Registered Owner transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance
with the provisions of this Ordinance.

(g) Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the
contrary, so long as any Bond is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all
payments with respect to principal of, and interest on such Bond and all notices with respect to such
Bond shall be made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the Letter of Representations
of the City to DTC.

(h) DTC Blanket Letter of Representations.  The City confirms execution of a Blanket Letter
of Representations with DTC establishing the Book-Entry-Only System which will be utilized with
respect to the Bonds.

(i) Cancellation of Initial Bond.  On the Closing Date, one initial Bond representing the entire
principal amount of the Bonds, payable in stated installments to the order of the underwriter of the
Bonds or its designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and City Secretary,
approved by the Attorney General of Texas, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, will be delivered to such underwriter or its designee.  Upon
payment for the initial Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the initial Bond and deliver to
DTC or the Paying Agent/Registrar on behalf of such underwriter one registered definitive Bond for
each year of maturity of the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds for such
maturity.



*As provided in the Pricing Certificate.  To the extent that the Pricing Certificate relating to the Bonds is inconsistent*

with any provisions in this Form of Bond or contains information to complete missing information in this Form of
Bond, the language in the Pricing Certificate shall be used in the executed Bonds.

10Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Section 7.  FORM OF BONDS.  The form of the Bonds, including the form of Paying
Agent/Registrar's Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment, and the form of Registration
Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to be attached to the Bonds
initially issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance shall be, respectively, substantially as follows,
with such appropriate variations, omissions, or insertions as are permitted or required by this
Ordinance.

FORM OF  BONDS
(All blanks and any appropriate or necessary insertions or deletions, to be completed as

determined by the Pricing Officer in the Pricing Certificate)

R- UNITED STATES OF AMERICA PRINCIPAL 
STATE OF TEXAS AMOUNT  

CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS $___________
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND, SERIES 2011

[FORM OF FIRST PARAGRAPHS OF CURRENT INTEREST BONDS]

INTEREST RATE MATURITY DATE DATE OF BOND CUSIP NO.

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS

ON THE MATURITY DATE specified above, the CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS (the
"Issuer"), being a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby
promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the
"Registered Owner"), the Principal Amount specified above, and to pay interest thereon (calculated
on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) from __________, _____  at the Interest*

Rate per annum specified above, payable on _________, _____ , and semiannually on each*

__________  and __________  thereafter to the Maturity Date specified above, or the date of* *

redemption prior to maturity; except that if this Bond is required to be authenticated and the date of
its authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such Principal Amount shall
bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of authentication, unless such
date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or before the next following interest payment
date, in which case such principal amount shall bear interest from such next following interest



11Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

payment date; provided, however, that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Bond
or Bonds, if any, for which this Bond is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then this Bond
shall bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in full.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, during any period in which ownership of the Bonds is determined only by a book entry at
a securities depository for the Bonds, any payment to the securities depository, or its nominee or
registered assigns, shall be made in accordance with existing arrangements between the Issuer and
the securities depository.

THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON this Bond are payable in lawful money of the
United States of America, without exchange or collection charges. The principal of this Bond shall
be paid to the Registered Owner hereof upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at maturity or
upon the date fixed for its redemption prior to maturity, at the designated office for payment of The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, Dallas, Texas which is the "Paying Agent/Registrar" for
this Bond.  The payment of interest on this Bond shall be made by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the
Registered Owner hereof on each interest payment date by check, dated as of such interest payment
date, drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar on, and payable solely from, funds of the Issuer required
by the Ordinance authorizing the issuance of this Bond (the "Bond Ordinance") to be on deposit with
the Paying Agent/Registrar for such purpose as hereinafter provided; and such check shall be sent by
the Paying Agent/Registrar by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, on each such interest
payment date, to the Registered Owner hereof, at its address as it appeared on the last business day
of the month next preceding each such date (the "Record Date") on the Registration Books kept by
the Paying Agent/Registrar, as hereinafter described.  In the event of a non-payment of interest on
a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment
(a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar if and when funds for the
payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record Date and
of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which shall be
15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special
Record Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each Registered
Owner appearing on the Registration Books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business
on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.  Any accrued interest due
upon the redemption of this Bond prior to maturity as provided herein shall be paid to the Registered
Owner upon presentation and surrender of this Bond for redemption and payment at the principal
office for payment of the Paying Agent/Registrar (unless the redemption date is a regularly scheduled
interest payment date, in which case accrued interest on such redeemed Bonds shall be payable in the
regular manner described above).  The Issuer covenants with the Registered Owner of this Bond that
on or before each principal payment date, interest payment date, and accrued interest payment date
for this Bond it will make available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, from the "Interest and Sinking
Fund" referred to in and maintained by the Bond Ordinance, the amounts required to provide for the
payment, in immediately available funds, of all principal of and interest on the Bonds, when due.
Terms used in this Bond and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given in the Bond
Ordinance.

DURING ANY PERIOD in which ownership of the Bonds is determined only by a book
entry at a securities depository for the Bonds, if fewer than all of the Bonds of the same maturity and



12Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

bearing the same interest rate are to be redeemed, the particular Bonds of such maturity and bearing
such interest rate shall be selected in accordance with the arrangements between the Issuer and the
securities depository.

[FORM OF FIRST PARAGRAPHS
OF PREMIUM COMPOUND INTEREST BOND]

NO. PC- MATURITY
 AMOUNT
$                

INTEREST RATE ISSUANCE DATE ISSUANCE DATE CUSIP NO.

REGISTERED OWNER:

MATURITY AMOUNT:

ON THE MATURITY DATE SPECIFIED ABOVE, CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS (the
"City"), being a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises
to pay to the Registered Owner set forth above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the
"Registered Owner") the Maturity Amount set forth above, representing the principal amount hereof
and accrued and compounded interest hereon.  Interest shall accrue on the principal amount hereof
from the Issuance Date at the interest rate per annum specified above, calculated on the basis of a 360
day year comprised of twelve 30 day months, compounded semiannually on __________ and 

__________ of each year commencing __________.  For convenience of reference a table of the
"Accreted Value" per $5,000 Maturity Amount is printed on the reverse side of this Bond.  The term
"Accreted Value" as set forth in the table on the reverse side hereof shall mean the original principal
amount plus initial premium per $5,000 Maturity Amount compounded semiannually on __________
and __________ at the yield shown on such table.

THE MATURITY AMOUNT of this Bond is payable in lawful money of the United States
of America, without exchange or collection charges.  The Maturity Amount of this Bond shall be paid
to the Registered Owner hereof upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at maturity, at the
designated office for payment of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., which is the
"Paying Agent/Registrar" for this Bond, and shall be drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar on, and
solely from, funds of the City required by the order authorizing the issuance of the Bonds (the "Bond
Order") to be on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar for such purpose as hereinafter provided,
payable to the Registered Owner hereof, as it appears on the Registration Books kept by the Paying
Agent/Registrar, as hereinafter described.  The City covenants with the Registered Owner of this
Bond that on or before the Maturity Date for this Bond it will make available to the Paying
Agent/Registrar, from the "Interest and Sinking Fund" created by the Bond Order, the amounts



*As provided in the Pricing Certificate.  To the extent that the Pricing Certificate relating to the Bonds is inconsistent*

with any provisions in this Form of Bond or contains information to complete missing information in this Form of
Bond, the language in the Pricing Certificate shall be used in the executed Bonds.

**To be included only if Current Interest Bonds and Premium Compound Interest Bonds are both**

issued and completed as determined in the Pricing Certificate.

13Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

required to provide for the payment, in immediately available funds of the Maturity Amount, when
due.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, during any period in which ownership of the Bonds is
determined only by a book entry at a securities depository for the Bonds, any payment to the
securities depository, or its nominee or registered assigns, shall be made in accordance with existing
arrangements between the City and the securities depository.

[FORM OF REMAINDER OF EACH BOND]

IF THE DATE for the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond shall be a
Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which banking institutions in the city where the principal
office for payment of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order
to close, or the United States Postal Service is not open for business (each a "Non-Business Day"),
then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a Non-Business Day,
and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment
was due.

THIS BOND is one of a series of Bonds dated as of ___________, _____  and authorized*

to be issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City in the principal
amount of $_________  [constituting $_________ Current Interest Bonds and $_________*

Premium Compound Interest Bonds].**

ON _________  OR ON ANY DATE THEREAFTER, the Bonds maturing on and after*

_________  may be redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, at the option of the City, with funds*

derived from any available and lawful source, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount to
be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption as a whole, or from time to time
in part, and, if in part, the particular Bonds, or portions thereof, to be redeemed shall be selected and
designated by the City, and if less than all of a maturity is to be redeemed the Paying Agent/Registrar
shall determine by lot the Bonds, or portions thereof within such maturity to be redeemed (provided
that a portion of a Bond may be redeemed only in integral multiples of $5,000 of principal amount).

[THE BONDS MATURING ON _________ are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption by lot prior to maturity in the following amounts on the following dates and at a price of
par plus accrued interest to the redemption date ("Term Bonds").

Term Bonds Maturing on __________, 20___



Use of Term Bonds, if any, to be determined by the Pricing Officer.
***

14Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

   Redemption Date   Principal Amount
__________, 20___      $                
__________, 20___      $                 † †

_______________

 Final Maturity
†

THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed pursuant to the
operation of the mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions shall be reduced, at the option of the
City by the principal amount of any Term Bonds of the stated maturity which, at least 50 days prior
to a mandatory redemption date, (1) shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the
principal amount of such Term Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and
delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, (2) shall have been purchased and canceled
by the Paying Agent/Registrar at the request of the City with monies in the Interest and Sinking Fund
at a price not exceeding the principal amount of the Term Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of
purchase thereof, or (3) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions and
not theretofore credited against a mandatory sinking fund redemption requirement.]***

AT LEAST 30 days prior to the date fixed for any redemption of Bonds or portions thereof
prior to maturity, a written notice of such redemption shall be sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar by
United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, to the Registered Owner of each Bond to be redeemed
at its address as it appeared on the Registration Books maintained by the Paying Agent/Registrar on
the day such notice of redemption is mailed.  By the date fixed for any such redemption, due
provision shall be made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the required redemption
price for the Bonds or portions thereof which are to be so redeemed.  If such written notice of
redemption is mailed and if due provision for such payment is made, all as provided above, the Bonds
or portions thereof which are to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall be treated as redeemed
prior to their scheduled maturities, and they shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption,
and they shall not be regarded as being outstanding except for the right of the Registered Owner to
receive the redemption price from the Paying Agent/Registrar out of the funds provided for such
payment.  If a portion of any Bond shall be redeemed a substitute Bond or Bonds having the same
maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in any denomination or denominations in any integral
multiple of $5,000, at the written request of the Registered Owner, and in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will be issued to the Registered Owner upon the
surrender thereof for cancellation, at the expense of the Issuer, all as provided in the Bond Ordinance.

ALL BONDS OF THIS SERIES are issuable solely as fully registered Bonds, without
interest coupons, in the denomination of any integral multiple of $5,000 (an "Authorized
Denomination").  As provided in the Bond Ordinance, this Bond, or any unredeemed portion hereof,
may, at the request of the Registered Owner or the assignee or assignees hereof, be assigned,
transferred and exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of fully registered Bonds, without
interest coupons, payable to the appropriate Registered Owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may
be, having the same denomination or denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000 as requested



15Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

in writing by the appropriate Registered Owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, upon
surrender of this Bond to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, all in accordance with the form
and procedures set forth in the Bond Ordinance.  Among other requirements for such assignment and
transfer, this Bond must be presented and surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, together with
proper instruments of assignment, in form and with guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying
Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of this Bond or any portion or portions hereof in any integral
multiple of $5,000 to the assignee or assignees in whose name or names this Bond or any such
portion or portions hereof is or are to be registered.  The form of Assignment printed or endorsed
on this Bond may be executed by the Registered Owner to evidence the assignment hereof, but such
method is not exclusive, and other instruments of assignment satisfactory to the Paying
Agent/Registrar may be used to evidence the assignment of this Bond or any portion or portions
hereof from time to time by the Registered Owner.  The Paying Agent/Registrar's reasonable standard
or customary fees and charges for transferring and exchanging any Bond or portion thereof shall be
paid by the City, but any taxes or governmental charges required to be paid with respect thereto shall
be paid by the one requesting such assignment, transfer or exchange as a condition precedent to the
exercise of such privilege.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be required to make any such
transfer or exchange (i) during the period commencing with the close of business on any Record Date
and ending with the opening of business on the next following principal or interest payment date, or,
(ii) with respect to any Bond or any portion thereof called for redemption prior to maturity, within
45 days prior to its redemption date; provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be
applicable to an exchange by the Registered Owner of an unredeemed balance of a Bond called for
redemption in part.  

WHENEVER the beneficial ownership of this Bond is determined by a book entry at a
securities depository for the Bonds, the foregoing requirements of holding, delivering or transferring
this Bond shall be modified to require the appropriate person or entity to meet the requirements of
the securities depository as to registering or transferring the book entry to produce the same effect.

IN THE EVENT any Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is changed by the City, resigns
or otherwise ceases to act as such, the City has covenanted in the Bond Ordinance that it promptly
will appoint a competent and legally qualified substitute therefor, and cause written notice thereof to
be mailed to the Registered Owners of the Bonds.

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Bond has been duly and validly
authorized, issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be
performed, exist, and be done precedent to or in the authorization, issuance and delivery of this Bond
have been performed, existed and been done in accordance with law; that this Bond is payable from
ad valorem taxes, within the limits prescribed by law.



16Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

BY BECOMING the Registered Owner of this Bond, the Registered Owner thereby
acknowledges all of the terms and provisions of the Bond Ordinance, agrees to be bound by such
terms and provisions, acknowledges that the Bond Ordinance is duly recorded and available for
inspection in the official minutes and records of the governing body of the Issuer and agrees that the
terms and provisions of this Bond and the Bond Ordinance constitute a contract between each
Registered Owner hereof and the City.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Bond to be signed with the manual or
facsimile signature of the Mayor of the City, and countersigned with the manual or facsimile signature
of the City Secretary of the City and the official seal of the City has been duly impressed, or placed
in facsimile, on this Bond.

                  (facsimile signature)                               (facsimile signature)             
City Secretary, City of Temple, Texas Mayor, City of Temple, Texas

(CITY SEAL)

FORM OF REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE 
OF THE COMPTROLLER OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS:

COMPTROLLER'S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE:
REGISTER NO. ______________

I hereby certify that this Bond has been examined, certified as to validity, and approved by
the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Bond has been registered by the Comptroller
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

Witness my signature and seal this

______________________________
(COMPTROLLER'S SEAL) Comptroller of Public Accounts

of the State of Texas

FORM OF PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE
(To be executed if this Bond is not accompanied by an executed Registration
Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas)



17Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

It is hereby certified that this Bond has been issued under the provisions of the Bond
Ordinance described in the text of this Bond; and that this Bond has been issued in exchange for a
bond or bonds, or a portion of a bond or bonds of a series which originally was approved by the
Attorney General of the State of Texas and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the
State of Texas.

Dated: THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON
TRUST COMPANY, N.A.
Dallas, Texas
Paying Agent/Registrar

By ____________________________
     Authorized Representative

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT:

ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Registered Owner of this Bond, or duly
authorized representative or attorney thereof, hereby sells, assigns and transfers this Bond and all
rights hereunder unto _____________________________________________________________
 ________________________
/                                           / _______________________________________________
(Assignee's Social Security or   (Please print or typewrite Assignee's name and address, 
 Taxpayer Identification Number)    including zip code)
______________________________________________________________________________
and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints _____________________________________
attorney to transfer the registration of this Bond on the Paying Agent/Registrar's Registration Books
with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated: _________________

Signature Guaranteed:
____________________________________
NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by
a member firm of the New York Stock
Exchange or a commercial bank or trust
company.

____________________________________
NOTICE: The signature above must
correspond with the name of the Registered
Owner as it appears upon the front of this
Bond in every particular, without alteration or
enlargement or any change whatsoever.

INSERTIONS FOR THE INITIAL BONDS

(i)



*As provided in the Pricing Certificate.  To the extent that the Pricing Certificate relating to the Bonds is inconsistent*

with any provisions in this Form of Bond or contains information to complete missing information in this Form of
Bond, the language in the Pricing Certificate shall be used in the executed Bonds.

18Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

The initial Current Interest Bond shall be in the form set forth in this FORM OF BOND, except that:

A.  immediately under the name of the Bond, the headings "INTEREST RATE" and
"MATURITY DATE" shall both be completed with the words "As shown below" and
"CUSIP NO." shall be deleted.

B.  the first paragraph shall be deleted and the following will be inserted:  

"ON THE MATURITY DATE SPECIFIED ABOVE,  the City of Temple, Texas (the
"Issuer"), being a political subdivision, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified
above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the "Registered Owner"), on _________  in each of*

the years, in the principal installments and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the
following schedule:

Principal
Amount

Maturity
Date

Interest 
Rate

(Information for the Current Interest Bonds from the Pricing Certificate to be inserted)

The Issuer promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis
of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) from _________  at the respective Interest Rate per*

annum specified above.  Interest is payable on _________  and semiannually on each __________* *

and __________  thereafter to the date of payment of the principal installment specified above;*

except, that if this Bond is required to be authenticated and the date of its authentication is later than
the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such principal amount shall bear interest from the interest
payment date next preceding the date of authentication, unless such date of authentication is after any
Record Date but on or before the next following interest payment date, in which case such principal
amount shall bear interest from such next following interest payment date; provided, however, that
if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Bond or Bonds, if any, for which this Bond
is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then this Bond shall bear interest from the date to
which such interest has been paid in full."

C.  The initial Bond shall be numbered "T-1."

(ii) The  Initial Compound Interest Bond shall be in the form set forth in this Section, except that:

A.  immediately under the name of the Bond, the headings "INTEREST RATE" and
"MATURITY DATE" shall both be completed with the words "As shown below" and
"CUSIP NO. _____" shall be deleted.



*As provided in the Pricing Certificate.  To the extent that the Pricing Certificate relating to the Bonds is inconsistent*

with any provisions in this Form of Bond or contains information to complete missing information in this Form of
Bond, the language in the Pricing Certificate shall be used in the executed Bonds.

19Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

B.  the first paragraph shall be deleted and the following will be inserted:  

"THE CITY OF TEMPLE, Texas (the "City"), being a political subdivision of the State of
Texas, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner set forth above, or registered assigns
(hereinafter called the "Registered Owner") the Payment at Maturity on ________  in each of the*

years and in installments of the respective Maturity Amounts set forth in the following schedule:

Maturity
Amounts

Maturity
Date

Interest
Rate

(Information for the Premium Compound Interest Bonds from the Pricing Certificate to be inserted)

The amount shown above as the respective Maturity Amounts represent the principal amount hereof
and accrued and compounded interest hereon.  Interest shall accrue on the principal amount hereof
from the Issuance Date at the interest rate per annum specified above, compounded semiannually on
________  and ________  of each year commencing                  .  For convenience of reference, a* * *

table appears on the back of this Bond showing the "Compounded Amount" of the original principal
amount plus initial premium, if any, per $5,000 Maturity Amount compounded semiannually at the
yield shown on such table."

C.  the Initial Premium Compound Interest Bond shall be numbered "TPC-1."

Section 8.  TAX LEVY.  A special Interest and Sinking Fund (the "Interest and Sinking
Fund") is hereby created solely for the benefit of the Bonds, and the Interest and Sinking Fund shall
be established and maintained by the City at an official depository bank of the City.  The Interest and
Sinking Fund shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the City, and shall
be used only for paying the interest on and principal of the Bonds.  All ad valorem taxes levied and
collected for and on account of the Bonds shall be deposited, as collected, to the credit of the Interest
and Sinking Fund.  During each year while any of the Bonds or interest  thereon are outstanding and
unpaid, the City Council shall compute and ascertain a rate and amount of ad valorem tax which will
be sufficient to raise and produce the money required to pay the interest on the Bonds as such interest
comes due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate to pay the principal of the Bonds as
such principal matures (but never less than 2% of the original principal amount of the Bonds as a
sinking fund each year); and the tax shall be based on the latest approved tax rolls of the City, with
full allowance being made for tax delinquencies and the cost of tax collection.  The rate and amount
of ad valorem tax is hereby levied, and is hereby ordered to be levied, against all taxable property in
the City for each year while any of the Bonds or interest thereon are outstanding and unpaid; and the
tax shall be assessed and collected each such year and deposited to the credit of the Interest and
Sinking Fund.  The ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest on and



20Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

principal of the Bonds, as such interest comes due and such principal matures, are hereby pledged for
such payment, within the limit prescribed by law.  Accrued interest on the Bonds shall be deposited
in the Interest and Sinking Fund.

Section 9.  DEFEASANCE OF BONDS.  (a) Any Bond and the interest thereon shall be
deemed to be paid, retired and no longer outstanding (a "Defeased Bond") within the meaning of this
Ordinance, except to the extent provided in subsections (c) and (e) of this Section, when payment of
the principal of such Bond, plus interest thereon to the due date or dates (whether such due date or
dates be by reason of maturity, upon redemption, or otherwise) either (i) shall have been made or
caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof (including the giving of any required notice
of redemption or the establishment of irrevocable provisions for the giving of such notice) or (ii) shall
have been provided for on or before such due date by irrevocably depositing with or making available
to the Paying Agent/Registrar or an eligible trust company or commercial bank for such payment (1)
lawful money of the United States of America sufficient to make such payment, (2) Defeasance
Securities, certified by an independent public accounting firm of national reputation to mature as to
principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will ensure the availability, without
reinvestment, of sufficient money to provide for such payment and when proper arrangements have
been made by the City with the Paying Agent/Registrar or an eligible trust company or commercial
bank for the payment of its services until all Defeased Bonds shall have become due and payable or
(3) any combination of (1) and (2).  At such time as a Bond shall be deemed to be a Defeased Bond
hereunder, as aforesaid, such Bond and the interest thereon shall no longer be secured by, payable
from, or entitled to the benefits of, the ad valorem taxes herein levied as provided in this Ordinance,
and such principal and interest shall be payable solely from such money or Defeasance Securities.

(b)  The deposit under clause (ii) of subsection (a) shall be deemed a payment of a Bond as
aforesaid when proper notice of redemption of such Bond shall have been given or upon the
establishment of irrevokable provisions for the giving of such notice, in accordance with this
Ordinance.  Any money so deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar or an eligible trust company
or commercial bank as provided in this Section may at the discretion of the City Council also be
invested in Defeasance Securities, maturing in the amounts and at the times as hereinbefore set forth,
and all income from all Defeasance Securities in possession of the Paying Agent/Registrar or an
eligible trust company or commercial bank pursuant to this Section which is not required for the
payment of such Bond and premium, if any, and interest thereon with respect to which such money
has been so deposited, shall be remitted to the City Council.

(c) Notwithstanding any provision of any other Section of this Ordinance which may be
contrary to the provisions of this Section, all money or Defeasance Securities set aside and held in
trust pursuant to the provisions of this Section for the payment of principal of the Bond and premium,
if any, and interest thereon, shall be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Bond
and premium, if any, and interest thereon, with respect to which such money or Defeasance Securities
have been so set aside in trust.  Until all Defeased Bonds shall have become due and payable, the
Paying Agent/Registrar shall perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar for such Defeased Bonds
the same as if they had not been defeased, and the City shall make proper arrangements to provide
and pay for such services as required by this Ordinance.



21Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

(d) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Ordinance, if money or Defeasance Securities
have been deposited or set aside with the Paying Agent/Registrar or an eligible trust company or
commercial bank pursuant to this Section for the payment of the Bond and such Bond shall not have
in fact been actually paid in full, no amendment of the provisions of this Section shall be made without
the consent of the registered owner of each Bond affected thereby.

(e) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) immediately above, to the extent that,
upon the defeasance of any Defeased Bond to be paid at its maturity, the City retains the right under
Texas law to later call that Defeased Bond for redemption in accordance with the provisions of this
Ordinance, the City may call such Defeased Bond for redemption upon complying with the provisions
of Texas law and upon the satisfaction of the provisions of subsection (a) immediately above with
respect to such Defeased Bond as though it was being defeased at the time of the exercise of the
option to redeem the Defeased Bond and the effect of the redemption is taken into account in
determining the sufficiency of the provisions made for the payment of the Defeased Bond.

Section 10.  DAMAGED, MUTILATED, LOST, STOLEN, OR DESTROYED BONDS.
(a)  Replacement Bonds.  In the event any outstanding Bond is damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen, or
destroyed, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cause to be printed, executed, and delivered, a new Bond
of the same principal amount, maturity, and interest rate, as the damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen, or
destroyed Bond, in replacement for such Bond in the manner hereinafter provided.

(b)  Application for Replacement Bonds.  Application for replacement of damaged, mutilated,
lost, stolen, or destroyed Bonds shall be made by the Registered Owner thereof to the Paying
Agent/Registrar.  In every case of loss, theft, or destruction of a Bond, the Registered Owner
applying for a replacement bond shall furnish to the City and to the Paying Agent/Registrar such
security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them harmless from any loss or
damage with respect thereto.  Also, in every case of loss, theft, or destruction of a Bond, the
Registered Owner shall furnish to the City and to the Paying Agent/Registrar evidence to their
satisfaction of the loss, theft, or destruction of such Bond, as the case may be.  In every case of
damage or mutilation of a Bond, the Registered Owner shall surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar
for cancellation the Bond so damaged or mutilated.

(c)  No Default Occurred.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, in the
event any such Bond shall have matured, and no default has occurred which is then continuing in the
payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on the Bond, the City may
authorize the payment of the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a damaged or
mutilated Bond) instead of issuing a replacement Bond, provided security or indemnity is furnished
as above provided in this Section.

(d)  Charge for Issuing Replacement Bonds.  Prior to the issuance of any replacement Bond,
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall charge the Registered Owner of such Bond with all legal, printing,
and other expenses in connection therewith.  Every replacement Bond issued pursuant to the
provisions of this Section by virtue of the fact that any Bond is lost, stolen, or destroyed shall
constitute a contractual obligation of the City whether or not the lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond shall



22Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

be found at any time, or be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this
Ordinance equally and proportionately with any and all other Bonds duly issued under this Ordinance.

(e)  Authority for Issuing Replacement Bonds.  In accordance with Subchapter D of Texas
Government Code, Chapter 1201, this Section of this Ordinance shall constitute authority for the
issuance of any such replacement Bond without necessity of further action by the governing body of
the City or any other body or person, and the duty of the replacement of such Bonds is hereby
authorized and imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall
authenticate and deliver such Bonds in the form and manner and with the effect, as provided in
Section 6(a) of this Ordinance for Bonds issued in conversion and exchange for other Bonds.

Section 11.  CUSTODY, APPROVAL, AND REGISTRATION OF BOND; BOND
COUNSEL'S OPINION.  The Mayor of the City and the City Manager are hereby authorized to
have control of the initial Bonds issued and delivered hereunder and all necessary records and
proceedings pertaining to the Bond pending its delivery and their investigation, examination, and
approval by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and their registration by the Comptroller of
Public Accounts of the State of Texas.  Upon registration of the Bond the Comptroller of Public
Accounts (or a deputy designated in writing to act for the Comptroller) shall manually sign the
Comptroller's Registration Certificate attached to such Bond, and the seal of the Comptroller shall
be impressed, or placed in facsimile, on such Certificate.  The approving legal opinion of the City's
Bond Counsel may, at the option of the City, be printed on the Bond issued and delivered under this
Ordinance, but it shall have no legal effect, and shall be solely for the convenience and information
of the Registered Owner of the Bonds. 

Section 12.  COVENANTS REGARDING TAX EXEMPTION OF INTEREST ON
THE BOND.  (a) Covenants.  The City covenants to take any action necessary to assure, or refrain
from any action which would adversely affect, the treatment of the Bonds as obligations described
in section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), the interest on which
is not includable in the "gross income" of the holder for purposes of federal income taxation.  In
furtherance thereof, the City covenants as follows:

(1) to use all of the proceeds of the Bonds for the payment of principal, interest and
redemption premium on the Refunded Obligations.

(2)  to take any action to assure that no more than 10 percent of the proceeds of the
Bonds or the Refunded Obligations or the projects financed or refinanced therewith (less
amounts deposited to a reserve fund, if any) are used for any "private business use," as
defined in section 141(b)(6) of the Code or, if more than 10 percent of the proceeds of the
Bonds or the Refunded Obligations or the projects financed or refinanced therewith are so
used, such amounts, whether or not received by the City, with respect to such private business
use, do not, under the terms of this Ordinance or any underlying arrangement, directly or
indirectly, secure or provide for the payment of more than 10 percent of the debt service on
the Bonds, in contravention of section 141(b)(2) of the Code;



23Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

(3) to take any action to assure that in the event that the "private business use"
described in subsection (1) hereof exceeds 5 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds or the
Refunded Obligations or the projects financed or refinanced therewith (less amounts
deposited into a reserve fund, if any) then the amount in excess of 5 percent is used for a
"private business use" which is "related" and not "disproportionate," within the meaning of
section 141(b)(3) of the Code, to the governmental use;

(4)  to take any action to assure that no amount which is greater than the lesser of
$5,000,000, or 5 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds (less amounts deposited into a reserve
fund, if any) is directly or indirectly used to finance loans to persons, other than state or local
governmental units, in contravention of section 141(c) of the Code;

(5)  to refrain from taking any action which would otherwise result in the Bonds being
treated as "private activity bonds" within the meaning of section 141(b) of the Code;

(6)  to refrain from taking any action that would result in the Bonds being "federally
guaranteed" within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code;

(7)  to refrain from using any portion of the proceeds of the Bonds, directly or
indirectly, to acquire or to replace funds which were used, directly or indirectly, to acquire
investment property (as defined in section 148(b)(2) of the Code) which produces a materially
higher yield over the term of the Bonds, other than investment property acquired with --

(A)  proceeds of the Bonds invested for a reasonable temporary period of 3
years or less or, in the case of a current refunding bonds, for a period of 90 days and
in the case of an advance refunding bonds, for a period of 30 days,

(B)  amounts invested in a bona fide debt service fund, within the meaning of
section l.148-1(b) of the Treasury Regulations, and

(C)  amounts deposited in any reasonably required reserve or replacement
fund to the extent such amounts do not exceed 10 percent of the proceeds of the
Bonds;

(8)  to otherwise restrict the use of the proceeds of the Bonds or amounts treated as
proceeds of the Bonds, as may be necessary, so that the Bonds do not otherwise contravene
the requirements of section 148 of the Code (relating to arbitrage) and, to the extent
applicable, section 149(d) of the Code (relating to advance refundings); and

(9)  to pay to the United States of America at least once during each five-year period
(beginning on the date of delivery of the Bonds) an amount that is at least equal to 90 percent
of the "Excess Earnings," within the meaning of section 148(f) of the Code and to pay to the
United States of America, not later than 60 days after the Bonds have been paid in full, 100



24Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

percent of the amount then required to be paid as a result of Excess Earnings under section
148(f) of the Code.

(b) Rebate Fund.  In order to facilitate compliance with the above covenant (8), a "Rebate
Fund" is hereby established by the City for the sole benefit of the United States of America, and such
fund shall not be subject to the claim of any other person, including without limitation the
bondholders.  The Rebate Fund is established for the additional purpose of compliance with section
148 of the Code.

(c) Proceeds.  The City understands that the term "proceeds" includes "disposition proceeds"
as defined in the Treasury Regulations and, in the case of refunding bonds, transferred proceeds (if
any) and proceeds of the Refunded Obligations expended prior to the date of issuance of the Bonds.
It is the understanding of the City that the covenants contained herein are intended to assure
compliance with the Code and any regulations or rulings promulgated by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury pursuant thereto.  In the event that regulations or rulings are hereafter promulgated which
modify or expand provisions of the Code, as applicable to the Bonds, the City will not be required
to comply with any covenant contained herein to the extent that such failure to comply, in the opinion
of nationally recognized bond counsel, will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income
taxation of interest on the Bonds under section 103 of the Code.  In the event that regulations or
rulings are hereafter promulgated which impose additional requirements which are applicable to the
Bonds, the City agrees to comply with the additional requirements to the extent necessary, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, to preserve the exemption from federal income
taxation of interest on the Bonds under section 103 of the Code.  In furtherance of such intention,
the City hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager or the Mayor to execute any documents,
certificates or reports required by the Code and to make such elections, on behalf of the City, which
may be permitted by the Code as are consistent with the purpose for the issuance of the Bonds.  This
Ordinance is intended to satisfy the official intent requirements set forth in Section 1.150-2 of the
Treasury Regulations.

(d)  Disposition of Project.  The City covenants that the property constituting the projects
financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds will not be sold or otherwise disposed in a
transaction resulting in the receipt by the City of cash or other compensation, unless the City obtains
an opinion of nationally-recognized bonds counsel that such sale or other disposition will not
adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.  For purposes of the foregoing, the portion of
the property comprising personal property and disposed in the ordinary course shall not be treated
as a transaction resulting in the receipt of cash or other compensation.  For purposes hereof, the City
shall not be obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply
will not adversely affect the excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross income of the
interest.

Section 13.  APPROVAL OF PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT AND
ESCROW AGREEMENT. (a) The Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement ("Paying Agent
Agreement") by and between the City and the Paying Agent in substantially the form and substance
attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is hereby approved and the Mayor or Pricing Officer are each hereby



25Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

authorized and directed to complete, amend, modify and execute the Paying Agent Agreement as
necessary. 

(b)  The Escrow Agreement ("Escrow Agreement") if necessary by and between the City and
the Escrow Agent in substantially the form and substance attached hereto as Exhibit "E" in
connection with refunding the Refunded Obligations and the cash defeasance are hereby approved,
and the Mayor or Pricing Officer are each hereby authorized to complete, amend, modify and execute
the Escrow Agreement, as necessary.  The Mayor, City Manager, Director of Finance, the Secretary
or Assistant Secretary are each hereby authorized to take such action as may be necessary to cause
the contribution of lawfully available City funds for the refunding and the cash defeasance to purchase
and delivery of the federal securities to be acquired and deposited to the credit of the Escrow Funds
created by the Escrow Agreement.

Section 14.  REFUNDING OF REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS.  That concurrently with
the delivery of the Bonds, the City shall cause to be deposited an amount from the proceeds of the
sale of the Bond with the Escrow Agent sufficient, together with other legally available funds of the
City, to provide for the refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Obligations.  The Pricing Officer
is hereby authorized and directed to issue to the Escrow Agent the Notices of Redemption with
respect to the Refunded Obligations in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit "D" hereto
completed with such information to conform with the Pricing Certificate.   

Section 15.  APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  The Pricing Officer is hereby
authorized to approve the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement relating to the
Bonds and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, and to deem such documents final in
accordance with Rule 15c2-12.  The City further approves the distribution of such Official Statement
in the reoffering of the Bonds with such changes therein or additions thereto as the Pricing Officer
executing the same may deem advisable, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by his
execution thereof. 

Section 16.  INSURANCE PROVISIONS. In connection with the sale of the Bonds, the
City may obtain municipal bond insurance policies from one or more recognized municipal bond
insurance organizations (the "Bond Insurer" or "Bond Insurers") to guarantee the full and complete
payment required to be made by or on behalf of the City on the Bonds.  The Pricing Officer is hereby
authorized to sign a commitment letter with the Bond Insurer or Bond Insurers and to pay the
premium for the bond insurance policies at the time of the delivery of the Bonds to the underwriter
out of the proceeds of sale of the Bonds or from other available funds and to execute such other
documents and certificates as necessary in connection with the bond insurance policies as the Pricing
Officer may deem appropriate.  Printing on the Bonds covered by the bond insurance policies a
statement describing such insurance, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bond Insurer and the
Pricing Officer, is hereby approved and authorized.  The Pricing Certificate may contain provisions
related to the bond insurance policies, including payment provisions thereunder, and the rights of the
Bond Insurer or Insurers, and any such provisions shall be read and interpreted as an integral part of
this Ordinance.



26Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

 Section 17. CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.  (a) Annual Reports.
The City shall provide annually to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB,
within six months after the end of any fiscal year, financial information and operating data with
respect to the City of the general type included in the final Official Statement authorized by this
Ordinance, as designated by the Pricing Officer in the Pricing Certificate.  Any financial statements
to be so provided shall be (1) prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in
Exhibit "C" hereto, or such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from
time to time pursuant to state law or regulation, and (2) audited, if the City commissions an audit of
such statements and the audit is completed within the period during which they must be provided.
If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within such period, then the City shall provide
unaudited financial statements within such period, and audited financial statements for the applicable
fiscal year to the MSRB, when and if the audit report on such statements become available.

If the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of
the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be required to
provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.

The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be
set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document
that is available to the public on the MSRB's internet web site or filed with the SEC. All documents
provided to the MSRB pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by identifying information as
prescribed by the MSRB.

(b) Material Event Notices.  The City shall notify the MSRB, in an electronic format as
prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence
of the event, of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:

A. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

B. Non-payment related defaults, if material within the meaning of the federal
securities laws;

C. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

D. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

E. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

F. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS
Form 5701–TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to
the tax-exempt status of the Bonds, or other events affecting the tax-exempt
status of the Bonds



27Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

G. Modifications to rights of holders of the Notes, if material within the meaning
of the federal securities laws;

H. Bond calls, if material within the meaning of the federal securities laws;

I. Defeasances;

J. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if
material within the meaning of the federal securities laws;

K. Rating changes;

L. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City;

M. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the
City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than
in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating
to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material within the
meaning of the federal securities laws; and

N. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee, if material within the meaning of the federal securities laws.

The City shall notify the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a
timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide financial information or operating data in
accordance with subsection (a) of this Section by the time required by such subsection. All documents
provided to the MSRB pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by identifying information as
prescribed by the MSRB.

(c) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.  The City shall be obligated to observe
and perform the covenants specified in this Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the City
remains an "obligated person" with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule, except that
the City in any event will give notice of any deposit made in accordance with Section 27 of this
Ordinance that causes the Bonds no longer to be outstanding.  

The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of
the Bonds, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or
equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The City undertakes to provide only
the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it has expressly
agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to provide any other
information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the City's financial results,
condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided in accordance with
this Section or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The City does not make any



28Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or
sell Bonds at any future date.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE HOLDER OR
BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT,
FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY THE CITY,
WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT
SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH
PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH
SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Section shall
comprise a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provision of this
Ordinance.

Should the Rule be amended to obligate the City to make filings with or provide notices to
entities other than the MSRB, the City hereby agrees to undertake such obligation with respect to the
Bonds in accordance with the Rule as amended.

Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties
of the City under federal and state securities laws.

The provisions of this Section may be amended by the City from time to time to adapt to
changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change
in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (1) the provisions of this
Section, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the
primary offering of the Bonds in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule since such offering as well as such changed circumstances and (2) either
(a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount required by any
other provision of this Ordinance that authorizes such an amendment) of the outstanding Bonds
consents to such amendment or (b) a person that is unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally
recognized bond counsel) determines that such amendment will not materially impair the interest of
the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds.  If the City so amends the provisions of this Section,
it shall include with any amended financial information or operating data next provided in accordance
with paragraph (a) of this Section an explanation, in narrative form, of the reason for the amendment
and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information or operating data so provided.
The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement  if the SEC
amends or repeals the applicable provision of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment
that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this
sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Bonds in the primary
offering of the Bonds.



29Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Section 18.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE.  The City hereby reserves the right to
amend this Ordinance subject to the following terms and conditions, to-wit:

(a) The City may from time to time, without the consent of the Registered Owner, except
as otherwise required by paragraph (b) below, amend or supplement this Ordinance in order to (i)
cure any ambiguity, defect or omission in this Ordinance that does not materially adversely affect the
interests of the holders, (ii) grant additional rights or security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add
events of default as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and that shall not
materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (v) qualify this Ordinance under the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time
in effect, or (iv) make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under this
Ordinance as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and that shall not in the
opinion of the City's Bond Counsel materially adversely affect the interests of the holders.

(b) Except as provided in paragraph (a) above, the Registered Owner shall have the right
from time to time to approve any amendment hereto that may be deemed necessary or desirable by
the City; provided, however, that without the consent of the Registered Owner, nothing herein
contained shall permit or be construed to permit amendment of the terms and conditions of this
Ordinance or in the Bond so as to:

 (1) Make any change in the maturity of the Bond;

 (2) Reduce the rate of interest borne by the Bond;

 (3) Reduce the amount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if any, payable
on  the Bond;

 (4) Modify the terms of payment of principal or of interest or redemption
premium on  the Bond or impose any condition with respect to such payment; or

 (5) Change the requirement with respect to Registered Owner consent to such
amendment.

(c) If at any time the City shall desire to amend this Ordinance under this Section, the City
shall send by U.S. mail to the Registered Owner a copy of the proposed amendment.

(d) Whenever at any time within one year from the date of publication of such notice the
City shall receive an instrument or instruments executed by the Registered Owner, which instrument
or instruments shall refer to the proposed amendment and that shall specifically consent to and
approve such amendment, the City may adopt the amendment in substantially the same form.

(e) Upon the adoption of any amendatory ordinance pursuant to the provisions of this
Section, this Ordinance shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance with such
amendatory Ordinance, and the respective rights, duties, and obligations of the City and the



30Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Registered Owner shall thereafter be determined, exercised, and enforced, subject in all respects to
such amendment.

(f) Any consent given by the Registered Owner of a Bond pursuant to the provisions of
this Section shall be irrevocable for a period of six months from the date of such consent, and shall
be conclusive and binding upon all future holders of the same Bond during such period. Such consent
may be revoked at any time after six months from the date of consent by the Registered Owner who
gave such consent, or by a successor in title, by filing notice with the City.

For the purposes of establishing ownership of the Bonds, the City shall rely solely upon the
registration of the ownership of such Bonds on the Register kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Section 19.  REMEDIES IN EVENT OF DEFAULT.  In addition to all the rights and
remedies provided by the laws of the State of Texas, it is specifically covenanted and agreed
particularly that in the event the City (i) defaults in the payment of the principal, premium, if any, or
interest on the Bonds, (ii)  declares bankruptcy, or (iii) defaults in the observance or performance of
any other of the covenant, agreement or obligation of the City, the failure to perform which materially
adversely affects the rights of the owner, including but no limited to, their prospect or ability to be
repaid in accordance with this Section and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after
notice of such default is given by any owner to the City, the following remedies shall be available:

(a)  Any owner or an authorized representative thereof, including but not limited to, a trustee
or trustees therefor, may proceed against the City for the purpose of protecting and enforcing the
rights to the owner under this Ordinance, by mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding
in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including
the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act
or thing that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the owner hereunder or any combination
of such remedies.

(b)  No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of any other available
remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to
every other remedy given hereunder or under the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity; provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right to
accelerate the debt evidenced by the Bonds shall not be available as a remedy under this Ordinance.
The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be deemed a waiver of any other
available remedy.

Section 20.  NO RECOURSE AGAINST CITY OFFICIALS.  No recourse shall be had
for the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds or for any claim based thereon or on this
Ordinance against any official of the City or any person executing any Bond.

Section 21.  FURTHER ACTIONS.  The Mayor, the City Manager and all other officers
and employees of the City are hereby authorized, empowered and directed from time to time and at
any time to do and perform all such acts and things and to execute, acknowledge and deliver in the



31Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

name and under the corporate seal and on behalf of the City all such instruments, whether or not
herein mentioned, as may be necessary or desirable in order to carry out the terms and provisions of
this Ordinance and the Bonds.  In addition, prior to the initial delivery of the Bonds, the Mayor, the
City Manager, the Director of Finance and Bond Counsel are hereby authorized and directed to
approve any changes or corrections to this Ordinance or to any of the instruments authorized and
approved by this Ordinance necessary in order to (i) correct any ambiguity or mistake or properly or
more completely document the transactions contemplated and approved by this Ordinance, (ii) obtain
a rating from any of the national bond rating agencies or satisfy requirements of any bond insurer, or
(iii) obtain the approval of the Bond by the Texas Attorney General's office.

In case any officer of the City whose signature shall appear on any Bonds shall cease to be
such officer before the delivery of such Bonds, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient
for all  purposes the same as if such officer had remained in office until such delivery.

Section 22.  PERFECTION.  Chapter 1208, Government Code, applies to the issuance of
the Bond and the pledge of ad valorem taxes granted by the City under Section 8 of this Ordinance,
and such pledge is therefore valid, effective and perfected.  If Texas law is amended at any time while
the Bond is outstanding and unpaid such that the pledge of ad valorem taxes granted by the City
under Section 8 of this Ordinance is to be subject to the filing requirements of Chapter 9, Business
& Commerce Code, then in order to preserve to the Registered Owner of the Bonds the perfection
of the security interest in said pledge, the City agrees to take such measures as it determines are
reasonable and necessary under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9,
Business & Commerce Code and enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to occur.

Section 23.  INTERPRETATIONS.  All terms defined herein and all pronouns used in this
Ordinance shall be deemed to apply equally to singular and plural and to all genders.  The titles and
headings of the articles and sections of this Ordinance have been inserted for convenience of reference
only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the
terms or provisions hereof.  This Ordinance and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally
construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the validity of the Bonds and the
validity of the lien on and pledge to secure the payment of the Bonds.

Section 24.  INCONSISTENT PROVISIONS.  All ordinances, orders or resolutions, or
parts thereof, which are in conflict or inconsistent with any provisions of this Ordinance are hereby
repealed to the extent of such conflict and the provisions of this Ordinance shall be and remain
controlling as to the matters contained herein.

Section 25.  INTERESTED PARTIES.  Nothing in this Ordinance expressed or implied is
intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person or entity, other than the City
and the Registered Owner of the Bonds, any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this
Ordinance or any covenant, condition or stipulation hereof, and all covenants, stipulations, promises
and agreements in this Ordinance contained by and on behalf of the City shall be for the sole and
exclusive benefit of the City and the Registered Owner of the Bonds.



32Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

Section 26.  SEVERABILITY.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable; and in case
any one or more of the provisions of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or
circumstance should be held to be invalid, unconstitutional, or ineffective as to any person or
circumstance, the remainder of this Ordinance nevertheless shall be valid, and the application of any
such invalid provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid shall
not be affected thereby.

Section 27.  FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS.  Notwithstanding anything in this Ordinance to
the contrary any funds or accounts created by this Ordinance, other than the Escrow Funds, may be
subaccounts of the City's Funds held by the City's depository, and, as such, not held in separate bank
accounts, such treatment shall not constitute commingling of the monies in such funds or of funds and
the City shall keep full and complete records indicating the monies and investment credited to each
such fund.

Section 28.  CREDIT AGREEMENT.  To the extent permitted by law, the City reserves
the right under Chapter 1371 of the Texas Government Code to enter into Credit Agreements in
connection with the Bonds, upon the written opinion of the City's Finance Director that such Credit
Agreements are in the best interest of the City given the market conditions at the time.  The Credit
Agreements will constitute a Credit Agreement as defined in Chapter 1371 of the Texas Government
Code.  Any such Credit Agreements must be reviewed and approved by the Attorney General of the
State of Texas.

Section 29.  REPEALER.  All orders, resolutions and ordinances, or parts thereof,
inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.

Section 30.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon the final
passage of this Ordinance in accordance with Section 1201.028,. Texas Government Code, as
amended.

Section 31.  PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY GENERAL FEE.  The City hereby authorizes
the disbursement of a fee equal or lesser of (i) one-tenth of one percent of the principal amount of the
Bonds or (ii) $9,500, provided that such fee shall not be less than $750, to the Attorney General of
Texas Public Finance Division for payment of the examination fee charged by the State of Texas for
the Attorney General’s review and approval of public securities and credit agreements, as required
by Section 1202.004 of the Texas Government Code.  The appropriate member of the City’s staff is
hereby instructed to take the necessary measures to make this payment.  The City is also authorized
to reimburse the appropriate City funds for such payment from proceeds of the Bonds.

[Execution Page Follows]



OrdinanceSigPgTemple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1201.028,  Texas Government Code, finally passed,
approved and effective on this 20th day of January, 2011.

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS

                                                                     
Mayor
City of Temple, Texas

ATTEST:

                                                                        
City Secretary
City of Temple, Texas

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

                                                                          
City Attorney
City of Temple, Texas



A-1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

EXHIBIT A

DEFINITIONS

As used in this Ordinance, the following terms and expressions shall have the meanings set
forth below, unless the text hereof specifically indicates otherwise:

"Accountant" means an independent certified public accountant or accountants or a firm of
an independent certified public accountants, in either case, with demonstrated expertise and
competence in public accountancy. 

"Accreted Value" means, with respect to a Premium Compound Interest Bond, as of any
particular date of calculation, the original principal amount thereof, plus all interest accrued and
compounded to the particular date of calculation, as determined in accordance with the Pricing
Certificate and the Accretion Table attached as an exhibit to the Pricing Certificate relating to the
respective Bonds that shows the Accreted Value per $5,000 maturity amount on the calculation date
of maturity to its maturity.

"Accretion Table" means the exhibit attached to the Pricing Certificate that sets forth the
rounded original principal amounts at the Issuance Date for the Premium Compound Interest Bonds
and the Accreted Values and maturity amounts thereof as of each Compounding Date until final
maturity.

"Authorized Denominations" means the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof with respect to the Current Interest Bonds and in the denomination of $5,000 in maturity
amount or any integral multiple thereof with respect to the Premium Compound Interest Bonds. 

"Bond Insurer"or "Insurer" means the provider of a municipal bond insurance policy for the
Bonds as determined by the Pricing Officer in the Pricing Certificate or any other entity that insures
or guarantees the payment of principal and interest on any Bonds. 

"Bonds" means the "City of Temple, Texas General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series
2011."

"Book-Entry-Only System" means the book-entry system of bond registration provided in
Section 6, or any successor system of book-entry registration.

"Business Day" means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the Paying
Agent/Registrar is authorized by law or executive order to remain closed.

"Cede & Co." means the designated nominee and its successors and assigns of The Depository
Trust Company, New York.

"City" and "Issuer" mean the City of Temple, Texas, and where appropriate, the City Council.



A-2Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

"City Council" means the governing body of the City.

"Closing Date" means the date of initial delivery of and payment for the Bonds.

"Compounded Amount" means, with respect to a Premium Compound Interest Bond, as of
any particular date of calculation, the original principal amount thereof plus all interest accrued and
compounded to the particular date of calculation.

"Compounding Dates" means the dates on which interest is compounded on the Premium
Compound Interest Bonds as set forth in the Accretion Table attached to the Pricing Certificate.

"Current Interest Bonds" means the Bonds paying current interest and maturing in each of
the years and in the aggregate principal amounts set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

"Defeasance Securities" means (i) Federal Securities, (ii) noncallable obligations of an agency
or instrumentality of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally
guaranteed or insured by the agency or instrumentality and that, on the date the City Council adopts
or approves proceedings authorizing the issuance of refunding bonds or otherwise provide for the
funding of an escrow to effect the defeasance of the Bonds are rated as to investment quality by a
nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than "AAA" or its equivalent, (iii) noncallable
obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state
that have been refunded and that, on the date the City Council adopts or approves proceedings
authorizing the issuance of refunding bonds or otherwise provide for the funding of an escrow to
effect the defeasance of the Bonds, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized
investment rating firm no less than "AAA" or its equivalent and (iv) any other then authorized
securities or obligations under applicable State law that may be used to defease obligations such as
the Bonds.  

"Depository" means one or more official depository banks of the City.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York and its successors and
assigns. 

"DTC Participant" means securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities
to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants.

"Escrow Agent" means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. or any
successor escrow agent under the Escrow Agreement.

"Escrow Agreement" means the agreements by and between the City and the Escrow Agent
relating to refunding the Refunded Obligations and the cash defeasance, respectively.



A-3Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

"Federal Securities" as used herein means direct, noncallable obligations of the United States
of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America
(including Interest Strips of the Resolution Funding Corporation).

"Fiscal Year" means the twelve-month accounting period used by the City in connection with
the operation of the System, currently ending on September 30 of each year, which may be any twelve
consecutive month period established by the City, but in no event may the Fiscal Year be changed
more than one time in any three calendar year period. 

"Holder," "Holders," "Owners" or "Registered Owners" means any person or entity in whose
name a Bond is registered in the Security Register, for any Parity Obligation. 

"Initial Bonds" means the Bonds authorized, issued, and initially delivered as provided in
Section 4 of this Ordinance.

"Insurance Policy" means an insurance policy issued by any Insurer guaranteeing the
scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds when due.

"Interest and Sinking Fund" means the special fund maintained by the provisions of Section
8 of this Ordinance. 

"Interest Payment Date" means a date on which interest on the Bonds is due and payable.

"Issuance Date" means the date of delivery of the Bonds.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

"Ordinance" means this ordinance finally adopted by the City Council on August 12, 2010.

"Outstanding", when used with respect to Bonds, means, as of the date of determination, all
Bonds theretofore delivered under this Ordinance, except:

(1) Bonds theretofore cancelled and delivered to the City or delivered to the Paying
Agent/Registrar for cancellation;

(2)  Bonds deemed paid pursuant to the provisions of Section 9 of this Ordinance; 

(3) Bonds upon transfer of or in exchange for and in lieu of which other Bonds have
been authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance

(4) Bonds under which the obligations of the City have been released, discharged or
extinguished in accordance with the terms thereof.



A-4Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

"Permitted Investments" means any security or obligation or combination thereof permitted
under the Public Funds Investments Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as amended or
other applicable law.

"Premium Compound Interest Bonds" means the Bonds on which no interest is paid prior to
maturity, maturing in various amounts and in the aggregate principal amount as set forth in the
Pricing Certificate.

"Pricing Certificate" means the Pricing Certificate of the City's Pricing Officer to be executed
and delivered pursuant to Section 4 hereof in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

"Pricing Officer" means, collectively, the City Manager of the City and the Director of
Finance of the City, acting as the designated pricing officers of the City to execute the Pricing
Certificate.  In their absence, the Mayor may act as the designated pricing officer of the City to
execute the Pricing Certificate.

"Rating Agency" means any nationally recognized securities rating agency which has assigned,
at the request of the City, a rating to the Bonds. 

"Record Date" means Record Date as defined in Section 7 the Form of Bonds.

"Redemption Date" means a date fixed for redemption of any Bond pursuant to the terms of
this Ordinance.

"Refunded Obligations" means those Refundable Obligations designated by the Pricing Officer
in the Pricing Certificate to be refunded. 

"Refundable Obligations" means all or a portion of the Series 2002 Certificates, the Series
2003 Certificates, the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2005 Bonds, the Series 2006 Certificates, the
Series 2008 Certificates, the Series 2008A Certificates, the Series 2008 Bonds, the Series 2009 Bonds
and the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds.

"Register" or "Registration Books" means the registry system maintained on behalf of the City
by the Registrar in which are listed the names and addresses of the Registered Owners and the
principal amount of Bonds registered in the name of each Registered Owner.

"Replacement Bonds" means the Bonds authorized by the City to be issued in substitution for
lost, apparently destroyed, or wrongfully taken Bonds as provided in Section 10 of this Ordinance.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.



B-1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

EXHIBIT B

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT



C-1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

EXHIBIT C

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

DESCRIPTION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following information is referred to in Section 17 of this Ordinance.

Accounting Principles

The accounting principles referred to in such Section are the accounting principles described
in the current notes to the financial statements used in the Official Statement.



D-1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

EXHIBIT D

 NOTICE OF REDEMPTION/DEFEASANCE

CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the following obligations (the "Obligations") issued by
the City of Temple, Texas (the "City") have been defeased and called for redemption prior to their
scheduled maturities, at a price of par and accrued interest to the date of redemption, to-wit:

City of Temple, Texas _______________, Series 20___, maturing on __________
in each of the years 20___ through 20___, inclusive, aggregating $_______ in
principal amount.

Maturity
August 15

Principal
 Amount 

Interest
    Rate   

Redemption
       Date      

CUSIP
Number*

*The CUSIP Numbers have been assigned to this issue by the CUSIP Service Bureau and are included solely for the convenience of the owners of the Obligations.  The City

shall not be responsible for the selection or the correctness of the CUSIP numbers set forth herein.

The redemption price for the above Obligations is par plus accrued interest to the date fixed
for redemption.  Such Obligations shall be redeemed on and shall not longer bear interest after the
redemption date. Due provision for the payment of the obligations described above has been made
with The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Dallas, Texas (the "Bank"), and said
obligations shall be presented for payment either in person or by mail, at the following address:



D-2Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

First Class/Registered/Certified Mail By Overnight or Courier By Hand

The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A.
Institutional Trust Services
P.O. Box 2320
Dallas, Texas  75221-2320

The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A.
Institutional Trust Services
2001 Bryan Street, 9  Floorth

Dallas, Texas 75201

The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A.
GIS Unit Trust Window
4 New York Plaza, 1st Floor
New York, NY 10004

In compliance with section 3406 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, payors making
certain payments due on debt securities may be obligated to deduct and withhold a portion of such payment
from the remittance to any payee who has failed to provide such payor with a valid taxpayer identification
number.  To avoid the imposition of this withholding tax, such payees should submit a certified taxpayer
identification number when surrendering the Obligations for redemption.

CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS



E-1Temple\GORefg\11:  Ordinance

EXHIBIT E

FORM OF ESCROW AGREEMENT



 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

01/20/11 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
William A. Jones, III, Mayor 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution appointing one member to the Planning and 
Zoning Commission to fill an unexpired term through September 1, 2011. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Mr. Jack Barton has resigned from the Planning and Zoning Commission, 
effective January 3, 2011.  We request the Council appoint one member to fill this unexpired term 
through September 1, 2011. 
 
Please see the attached summary form for this board which lists current board members, purpose, 
membership requirements, term and meeting time/place for the boards.  Board applications from 
citizens requesting service on the Planning and Zoning Commission are also attached. 
 
 

 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Board Summary Form 
Board Applications   



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 
TERM EXPIRATION: SEPTEMBER - 3 YEAR TERMS APPOINTED BY: MAYOR/COUNCIL 
 

MEMBER 
 

DATE 
APPOINTED 

 
EXPIRATION 

YEAR 

 
ADDRESS 

 
PHONE NUMBER 

H. Allan Talley (Chair) 
FTalley735@aol.com 
 

09/07 2013 5004 Wildflower Lane (h) 
Temple, TX  76502 

770-0289 H 
 

Jack Barton 
Jackb1008@aol.com 
Resigned 1-03-11 

09/08 2011 701 North 9th Street 
Temple, TX  76501 

773-7080 H 
817-919-6803 C 
773-7178 F 

Ashley Williams 
ashleydusek@msn.com 

09/08 2011 P.O. Box 3313 
Temple, TX  76505 

541-0216 W/C 
774-8915 F 
 

Mike Pilkington 
mpilkington@pilkington-homes.com 
 

09/06 2012 Hm: 8352 Poison Oak Rd 
        Temple, TX 76502 
Ofc: 3082 W. Hwy. 190 
        Belton, TX  

780-9596 W 
780-3605 H 
534-1472 C 
939-3500 F 

Bert Pope 
mvpbep@sbcglobal.net 

09/06 2012 1206 North 3rd Street  
Temple, TX  76501 

773-4198 H 
231-1470 C 
 

Marvin Hurd 
mm@drivershq.com 
 

09/08 2011 14 West Welton Ave 
Temple, TX  76501 

773-9833  H 
 

Will Sears 
willsears@hotmail.com 

09/10 2013 3401 Mesquite Drive 
Temple, TX  76502 
Mail: PO Box 4820 76505 

931-2485 W/C 
771-0919 H 

James Staats 
jmmstaats@aol.com 
james@allcountysurveying.com 
 

08/09 2012 2214 Fox Glen Lane 
Hm:Temple, TX  76502-H 
Ofc:1303 S. 21st -W 

778-2272 W 
773-3464 H 
534-1233 C 

Derek Martin (Vice-Chair) 
derekmartin@templeproventures.com 

 

09/07 2013 Ofc: 3500 SW HK Dodgen, #102  
P O Box 310 76503 
Hm: 1903 Deerfield 76502 

771-2084 W 
541-9173 C 
771-4120 F 

Created originally by Ordinance 149, February 1961; most recently by Ordinance 2030, March 1, 1990. 
Purpose: Serves in an advisory capacity to City Council by making recommendations on land use 
proposals including zone changes, subdivision plats, and annexations; work with City Staff, the 
community and the Council in the development and updating of the Comprehensive Plan and the Area 
Plans for the City, as well as the Capital Improvement Program for community facilities. 

Membership: 9 members – all residents of City 
Term: 3 years 
Meeting Time/Place:  1st and 3rd Mondays of each month, 5:30 p.m., Council Chambers, 
Municipal Building City Staff:  Planning Director    REVISED 11/02/10 
































































	Z-FY-11-09 - Attachments.pdf
	PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM
	Item #4
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 5
	APPLICANT / DEVELOPMENT: Kurt Overmyer of Mays and Company
	FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable

	Z-FY-11-10 - Attachments.pdf
	PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM
	Item #3
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 4
	APPLICANT / DEVELOPMENT: Victor Turley for Carothers Homes, LLC
	FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable

	GO Refunding Bonds - Ordinance4.pdf
	(b) Material Event Notices
	(c) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments

	REPEALER
	Section 30.  EFFECTIVE DATE




